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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“"STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Legendary Education Group Limited (the “Company”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and
belief, the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group principally derives its revenue from the following
business arms: (i) OEM business segment, which entails product
design and development, raw materials sourcing and procurement,
manufacturing and product quality control management (the “OEM
Business”); (ii) apparel retail business segment, which entails
designing, procuring, manufacturing, marketing and retailing of pure
cashmere apparel and other apparel products as well as accessories
through the retail network in Hong Kong under the Group’s own
brand and high-end fashion brand (the “Retail Business”); (iii) money
lending business segment, which provides financing to customers
for interest income (the “Money Lending Business”); (iv) financial
guotient and investment education business segment, which
provides financial quotient and investment education courses for the
customers in return of tuition fees from them (the “Financial Quotient
and Investment Education Business”); (v) property investment
business (the "Property Investment Business”); and (vi) private
supplementary education business segment, which provides private
supplementary education courses for the students in return of tuition
fees from them (the “Private Supplementary Education Business”).

OEM Business

The garment sector of the consumer market has experienced a
downturn in recent year. Meanwhile, the Company currently has
no intention, arrangement, agreement, understanding, negotiation
(concluded or otherwise) on disposal, termination and/or scaling-
down of the Company’s OEM business. The Group will cautiously
monitor the business environment, market sentiment and customers’
behaviors of the OEM business and will continue to devote effort to
the development of the OEM business. Going forward, the Group will
continue to focus on expanding the customer base by diversifying
the service scope of the OEM business.

Retail Business
While the economic slowdown in the PRC and the shifting of pattern
to online shopping further negatively impacted the Retail Business.

Under such an unfavorable ambience, the Group has adopted
a prudent approach in restructuring its sales network aiming at
minimising the operating costs amid meeting the shift of consumers’
preference towards shopping online.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

Money Lending Business

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Money Lending
Business generated interest income of approximately HK$5.4
million, representing a significant increase of approximately 85.0%
compared to the interest income of approximately HK$2.9 million
for the previous financial year. This increase in interest income is
in line with the growth in loan receivables during the period. The
Group anticipates that the improving business environment and
the recovering market sentiment in Hong Kong will have a positive
impact, further stimulating loan demand.

Nonetheless, the Group will remain vigilant in evaluating its risk
management strategies to ensure a prudent and sustainable balance
between risk and return over the long term.

Financial Quotient and Investment Education
Business

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group established a
Financial Quotient and Investment Education Business. This initiative
provides financial and investment education courses to customers,
with the aim of enhancing their knowledge in these areas.

In the year ended 31 March 2025, the successful completion of
certain courses generated revenue of approximately HK$215.7
million, representing an increase of approximately 17.2% compared
to the prior year's revenue of approximately HK$184.0 million.

The strong performance of the Financial Quotient and Investment
Education Business highlights the growing demand for such
educational offerings among the Group’s customer base. The
rebound of the Hong Kong stock market is also expected to drive
further demand for financial quotient and investment education.
The Group remains committed to investing in the expansion and
refinement of this business to strengthen customer relationships and
diversify its revenue streams.

Property Investment Business

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group established
the Property Investment Business. Looking ahead, the Group will
proactively seek opportunities for asset appreciation and stable
cash flow returns within the property markets of Hong Kong and
the broader Asia-Pacific region. In parallel, the Group will maintain
a vigilant approach to market monitoring, continually assessing
emerging trends and shifts in regional real estate dynamics.

Management believes that the decline in interest rates, coupled with
government-encouraging policies, will create additional potential
investment opportunities in Hong Kong's property market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Private Supplementary Education Business

In August 2021, the Group resolved to develop the business of
provision of private supplementary education services as a new
business of the Group. Private supplementary education courses
play a supplemental role to regular schools, helping students deepen
their understanding of what they have learnt in classes, improve
their school grades and better prepare themselves for public
examinations. Private supplementary education courses, especially
those for local secondary school students, have been in high
demand in Hong Kong.

As at 31 March 2025, each of the education centers located in
Causeway Bay, Kowloon Bay, Prince Edward, Tsuen Wan and
Mongkok had obtained the “Certificate of Registration of a School”
issued by the Education Bureau of Hong Kong. Additionally, the
education center located in Tuen Mun was granted the “Certificate
of Provisional Registration of a School” by the Education Bureau of
Hong Kong.

Within a span of less than four years, the Group has successfully
established multiple education centers across Hong Kong, a
remarkable achievement that reflects its strong commitment to
growth and excellence.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group's Private
Supplementary Education Business generated revenue of
approximately HK$122.1 million (for the year ended 31 March 2024:
approximately HK$97.3 million) and recorded a segment profit of
approximately HK$16.8 million (for the year ended 31 March 2024
approximately HK$12.6 million). This represents an increase of
approximately 25.4% in revenue and an increase of approximately
33.0% in segment profit compared to the prior financial year,
underscoring the strong performance and growth trajectory of this
business segment.

The Group remains committed to further investing in and expanding
its Private Supplementary Education Business to capitalize on
favorable market trends and drive sustainable value creation for its
stakeholders.

EEENWE DN

RUBWBHE RS
R-B=—F )\ AEEREMBIRHUALIEH
BB RIS EBIERAEEON KT - LB
HERBERAFRBRABOMHE  TRHSE
MRS RE TR M OIRAE - BRI H BRI
BEAPREEBFHEEREARMES - LIIH
BHERECLARAR S BEMRFERE)R
BB -

R-ZB-AFZA=+—0  TRAEE - (i
BAT  EEREANAEROHEREES
BEBRE [SREMBERE ] - (R BP0
B O RGE B A BT [ R
aZHE] -

AREFRERETEMNFERND RN E BRI ZME
HETD - BBARR R E R KBS E
H)ER TE A o

HE " Z - AF=F=+—HILEE 4A£H
ML BEEBRELERENI121EEST
(BE-Z-_NE=ZA=+—HIFE : H973
BEBL) MBI IEFNN168EEHE T (H
EZFT_NF=ZRA=1+—HILFE D12688
FETT) o WL FTABRR £ — B BUF E U s 18 N4y
25.4% J 5> ER S FI) 1 A4 33.0% » ZRHE T R EISIR
PRRISR Sh R IR RIE R o

AEEBREBNNE - P REVBREFLTEH
BHEERY  MEEBNNTHEBE X AHER
ERENFEEE -

BEERYEEHERATF 5
2025 F



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

PROSPECTS

For the OEM Business, the management is committed to
strengthening the customer base for the OEM Business. The Group
will continue to secure new orders and customers to drive growth in
this segment.

For the Retail Business, the management will closely monitor
consumer behavior and continue to implement targeted promotion
campaigns to support the Retail Business.

For the Money Lending Business, the Group will continue to expand
it, but will do so with a prudent and balanced risk management
approach to ensure the sustainable growth of this segment.

The Group is dedicated to driving growth in its Financial Quotient
and Investment Education Business by: (i) strategically investing
resources to expand its market share, and (ii) proactively broadening
its customer base to capture untapped demand. Simultaneously,
the Group is actively exploring opportunities to achieve both asset
appreciation and stable cash flow returns in the property markets
of Hong Kong and the Asia-Pacific region. While the Group remains
deeply focused on strengthening its core businesses, particularly the
Financial Quotient and Investment Education Business, it is equally
committed to identifying high-potential investment opportunities.
This forward-looking strategy aims to not only diversify income
streams but also unlock long-term value for its shareholders,
reinforcing the Group’s position as a market leader in its respective
industries.

The Group commenced its Private Supplementary Education
Business during the year ended 31 March 2022. The Board remains
highly optimistic about the prospects of the private tutorial class
market, driven by favorable market dynamics and significant growth
opportunities in the private education sector. The Board firmly
believes that this business segment will serve as a key driver for
enhancing the Company’s financial performance and delivering
greater value to shareholders. With a clear strategic vision and strong
execution capabilities, the Company is well-positioned to strengthen
its overall financial position through the continued success of this
business line.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In addition, the Company intends to capitalize on strategic
cooperation opportunities to extend the reach of its Private
Supplementary Education Business across the PRC. Since the launch
of the Outline Development Plan for the Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Greater Bay Area in 2019, there has been a noticeable rise in
demand for education services specifically tailored to the children of
Hong Kong citizens studying in the PRC. This trend is supported by
two key factors:

() theincreasing number of schools in the PRC offering the Hong
Kong education curriculum to meet this demand; and

(i) the growing global recognition of the Hong Kong Diploma
of Secondary Education (HKDSE) qualification by tertiary
institutions worldwide.

The HKDSE is emerging as an attractive and viable pathway for
students in the PRC to pursue higher education, further boosting its
popularity. Leveraging its expertise, well-established capabilities,
and strong reputation, the Group is poised to seize these growth
opportunities by expanding its footprint and solidifying its position
in this promising market segment. The Group is confident that
these initiatives will enable it to capture substantial upside potential
in the PRC market while driving sustainable value creation for its
shareholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's revenue increased from approximately HK$284.6
million for the year ended 31 March 2024 to approximately HK$343.2
million for the year ended 31 March 2025, representing an increase
of approximately 20.6%, which was mainly driven by the strong
performance of the Financial Quotient and Investment Education
Business and the Private Supplementary Education Business.

For the Financial Quotient and Investment Education Business, certain
courses were completed with inspiring achievements and revenue
of approximately HK$215.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2025,
representing an increase of approximately 17.2% as compared to
that of approximately HK$184.0 million for the last financial year and
accounting for approximately 62.8% of the total revenue.

For the Private Supplementary Education Business, it had
achieved encouraging results with tuition income of approximately
HK$122.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2025, representing
a significant increase of approximately 25.4% as compared to that
of approximately HK$97.3 million for the last financial year and
accounting for approximately 35.6% of the total revenue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

For the Money Lending Business, it had generated income of
approximately HK$5.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2025,
representing 1.6% of the total revenue.

The following table sets forth the breakdowns of the revenue of the
Group by segment for each of the years ended 31 March 2024 and
2025.

2025

EREXBHE REE—T-_hAF=A=+—
BIEFEEEWANSABERETT  HHEKED
1.6% °

TRENNAEFEE-_S-_NFR_FT-_AF=
A=+—BLFEEFRHPEI D H WS -

Year ended 31 March
BZ=A=1+—HLEE
2024

—¥_EHF

HK$'000
FET

OEM Business [RE& B RAE 575

Retail Business TEEB
Money Lending Business WEES
Financial Quotient and VA RIREHEER
Investment Education
Business 215,688
Property Investment Business #)2£1% & %7
Private Supplementary T E BB %55

Education Business

343,162

Cost of sales and services

The majority of the Group’s cost of sales and services comprised
labor and operating costs associated with financial quotient and
investment education courses, as well as private supplementary
education courses. For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group’s
cost of sales and services increased by approximately 26.1% from
approximately HK$124.0 million to approximately HK$156.3 million,
compared to the previous year.

While the rate of increase in costs slightly exceeded the growth in sales,
it remained broadly aligned. This increase was primarily attributable
to higher overhead costs associated with the online platform and
an increment in labor expenses, reflecting the Group’s continued
investment in quality education delivery and operational scalability.

EXxpenses

Selling and administrative expenses for the year ended 31 March
2025 was approximately HK$131.4 million (2024: approximately
HK$106.1 million), representing an increase of approximately HK$25.3
million. This increase was primarily driven by share option expenses,
higher staff costs alighed with the increased headcount to support
the further development of the Private Supplementary Education
Business, and an uptick in marketing and administrative expenses
associated with the Financial Quotient and Investment Education
Business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other gains and losses, net

The amount primarily comprised a net gain arising from the
acquisition of subsidiaries (approximately HK$9.8 million), a gain on
convertible bonds measured at FVTPL (approximately HK$5.5 million),
and an impairment of goodwill (approximately HK$16.4 million).
These are considered non-recurring items.

Impairment of goodwill

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of the Group’s goodwill
before impairment amounted to approximately HK$177.7 million.
The Group recognised the impairment loss of approximately HK$16.4
million, resulting in the net carrying amount of HK$161.3 million.

In accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36, a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that
reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group
of cash-generating units). The Company appointed an independent
professional valuer in assisting the valuation of the cash-generating
units (CGU) in relation to certain operating units carrying on the
Financial Quotient and Investment Education Business.

The recoverable amounts of the Financial Quotient and Investment
Education Business cash-generating units have been determined
based on value in use calculations using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior
management of the Group. The value of inputs used in the valuation
included (i) the discount rates ranging from approximately 13% to 20%
applied; and (i) the average growth rates ranging from 2% to 15%. The
key assumptions adopted for performing the impairment assessment
included the projected revenue and budgeted gross margins and the
discount rates reflecting specific risks relating to the respective CGUS.

Further details of the impairment tests for the CGUs containing
goodwill are disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated financial
Statements.

Finance Costs

Finance costs increased significantly by 202.8%, from approximately
HK$2.4 million to approximately HK$7.2 million. This increase
was primarily driven by interest on convertible bonds, which is
considered a non-recurring item.

Profit for the year

The profit for the year ended 31 March 2025 was approximately
HK$39.8 million. The profit for the year ended 31 March 2024 was
approximately HK$47.1 million.

EEENWE DN
H K 5 K 5 18 F R

Z e R 2 EIEUE N B QR P A W FRE
(98B EET) MR FEFABRAENT
BERES KBS (N5588BT) REERE
164BEETT)  WHEARIFEFIEHEE -

EmEREE

R-ZE-_HF=ZA=1+—8  NEERENNE
EEREMEHB17ITEES T AEEBRARE
BiEN164EESIL SHEBFER161.38
BAT -

REEEGTLEANFE36H - BEORHENRSE
B (IR ELBMER) BFAREIRA
REM AR B E S E R EETTRENH -
PRBERANKBREELREMS - BOER
2R eELEM(SRSELEMAR) NBRE
HIRATETTRER A - AT i@ & RBE R H AR mE
B RIE %D R ERBEBRETAHEZRE
B REREBZEC(XREEEEMAR) A%
BEZEAERULAIDEEEMEE - AARE
ZEBBEMER - UM FERV R RIEE
HEEBNETREBU 2 ReELBU(RE
BB EITIE -

HRRREHREEBREELBLAATKESHE
DREBEEAEESRERBIENRELFH
M BRERARSAERAREREENE
MEE - MEMBNEAESREINMERZME
KR R13%E20% : R () FIHERENF2% %
15% o EITRERH A RAN R ERREEERT
WA~ BEENER R EZIER S ESEAR
FrERBRRBLIR X -

FRSERENRSEE BN 2 RERHAE—
THBREAMBRERME 177 PIE -

1 %5 PR

B3 P AN KR S8 1 202.8% B 49 2.4 7 B 7 4
EN72EBET - AR EBARARRES
FBAE - SR AIFER AR -

F R A
BE-ZT-RFZA=+-ALFEZENOA
NSEBEL - BE-T-_MF=/=+—Hit
FEZHNORTIBEHET -

BEERYEEHERATF 9
2025 F



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Capital structure

As at 31 March 2025, the share capital and equity attributable to
owners of the Company amounted to approximately HK$228,000 and
HK$427.5 million respectively (2024. approximately HK$210,000 and
HK$331.3 million respectively).

Cash position

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of the Group’s unpledged
bank balances and cash was approximately HK$129.2 million
(2024: approximately HK$68.2 million), representing a increase of
approximately 89.3% as compared to that of at 31 March 2024.

Gearing ratio

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s total borrowings (including
the convertible bonds) were approximately HK$19.1 million (31
March 2024: approximately HK$4.7 million). The gearing ratio
was approximately 4.4% as at 31 March 2025 (31 March 2024:
approximately 1.4%).

Exchange Rate Exposure

The Group's business operations are denominated mainly in
Hong Kong dollars (“"HK$"). The Group’s assets and liabilities are
mainly denominated in HKS$. Currently, the Group has not entered
into agreements or purchased instruments to hedge the Group's
exchange rate risks.

Significant Investments Held, Material
Acquisitions or Disposals of Subsidiaries and
Affiliated Companies, and Plans for Material
Investments or Capital Assets

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this report, there were no significant
investments, material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and
affiliated companies during the year ended 31 March 2025.

Save as disclosed in this report, there was no future plan for material
investments or capital assets as at 31 March 2025.

Contingent Liabilities
The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2025
(2024 Nil).

Capital Commitments
The Group had no material capital commitments as at 31 March 2025
(2024 Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Employees and Emolument Policies

The Group had approximately 144 employees (including Directors)
as at 31 March 2025 (2024: 116). The Group recruits and promotes
individuals based on their performance and development potential
in the positions held. In order to attract and retain high quality staff
and to enable smooth operation within the Group, the Group offers
competitive remuneration packages (with reference to market
conditions and individual qualifications and experience) and various
in-house training courses. The remuneration packages are subject to
review on a regular basis. The emoluments of the Directors and senior
management are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee, having
regard to the Group's operating results, market competitiveness,
individual performance and achievement, and approved by the Board.

Compliance Committee

The Company established a compliance committee (the “Compliance
Committee”) with effect from 20 June 2022. The Compliance
Committee is responsible for overseeing the regulatory compliance
with all relevant rules and regulations applicable to the Company,
including but not limited to, the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the "GEM Listing Rules”),
the Securities and Futures Ordinance, and the Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (together, “Applicable Laws”).

The members of the Compliance Committee consist of two
independent non-executive Directors and one executive Director.
The Board has appointed Mr. Chung Chin Kwan, Mr. Chan Kim Fai
Eddie, both being independent non-executive Directors and Mr. Yuen
Yu Sum, being the chairman of the Board and an executive Director,
as members of the Compliance Committee. Mr. Chung Chin Kwan
has been appointed as the chairman of the Compliance Committee.

The terms of reference of the Compliance Committee will be made
available on the Company’s website at http://www.legendaryedu.com
and the Stock Exchange's website at http://www.hkexnews.hk.

Investment Committee

The Company established an investment committee (the “Investment
Committee”) with effect from 11 June 2025. The Investment
committee is responsible for strengthen the investment decision-
making and risk management process and enhance the efficiency
and quality for major investment decision-making.

The members of the Investment Committee consist of one executive
Director, one non-executive Director and one independent non-
executive Director. Mr. Yuen Yu Sum, an executive Director, has
been appointed as the chairman of the Investment Committee. Dr.
Tang Sing Hing Kenny, a non-executive Director, and Mr. Chung Chin
Kwan, an independent non-executive Director, have been appointed
as the members of the Investment Committee.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmR DN
Securities Investment Held by the Group rEEFRFERSRE

Details of the investment performance for the year ended 31 March HE-Z_-_RAF=A=+—HILFE BELE
2025 in respect of equity securities listed in Hong Kong held by the  BE#EAEMRES FTHRAZFHNIRERITHE
Group are as follows: wmr

Movement during the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-RFCA-T-BLEENED
% of % of
%tothe interest %tothe interest Loss on
total assets of the total assets ofthe  disposal/
ofthe  respective ofthe  respective redemption
Group investments  Fair value Fair value Group investments for the year
asat asat asat  Addition/ Changeon asat asat asat ended
1 April 1 April 1April  (disposal), fairvalue, ~ 31March ~ 31March  31March  31March
Notes 2024 2024 2024 net net 2025 2025 2025
RZB-mE Bz
MmA-B R-%-m% 1 R=B-1f =B-1f
A%  MA-A W=3-mE ZR=t-B ZA=t-A
BESEN HEBRE RA-BK BE AYE ZASt-R AFREEE (HBRE LEERE
Name of investments REEZR Bl BENEDSL ATE (WE)RE  2BFE  NATE LENESNL EENESL  EEER
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$ 000
T T T

Equity securities listedin &% EHKRAES

Hong Kong
HSBC Holdings plc (5 ELRRERAAE) ) 001 000 yli - 1 % 001 000 -
BascHouseNewLifeGroup  SEFAEEEARAA 0 045 087 196 9,367 (219) 11,084 216 18 -
Limited (8360) (8360)
Far East Hotels and BREEEZERAACGY - - - 1792 (517) 1275 025 040 -

Entertainment Limited (37)*

1990 11,159 (755) 12,394 -
Investment funds REES
Swiss Financial Services Swiss Financial Services
(Singapore) Pte Ltd. (Singapore) Pte Ltd.
—ClassLof Ivestment Target —REABRLAIREZE () 031 NATER 1346 - 2 1308 0%  NARER -
"DiDi Global Inc.” BRAF]
3:3% 11,159 7 13w -
# The amount represent a net loss of HK$1,162,000 for the year. # ZETRIEFANBIBFEE,162,0008 7T ©
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Notes:.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The investment represented 400 shares, which was approximately
0.00% of the total issued shares of HSBC Holdings plc (“HSBC") as at
31 March 2025. HSBC Holdings plc and its subsidiaries is principally
engaged in the business of banking and financial services. The Group
recorded an unrealised fair value gain of approximately HK$11,000 in
respect of its investment in HSBC for the year ended 31 March 2025.
According to HSBC annual report for the year ended 31 December
2024, it recorded total operating income and net profit of approximately
US Dollar 65,854 million and US Dollar 24,999 million respectively.

The investment represented 17,598,000 shares, which was
approximately 4.89% of the total issued shares of Basic House New
Life Limited ("Basic House") as at 31 March 2025. Basic House and its
subsidiaries is principally engaged in design and fit out business and
securities investment business. The Group recorded an unrealised fair
value loss of approximately HK$249,000 in respect of its investment
in Basic House for the year ended 31 March 2025. According to Basic
House annual report for the year ended 31 December 2024, it recorded
revenue and net loss of approximately HK$65.6 million and HK$10.8
million respectively.

The investment represented 3,000,000 shares, which was
approximately 0.40% of the total issued shares of Far East Hotels and
Entertainment Limited (“Far East”) as at 31 March 2025. Far East and its
subsidiaries is principally engaged in the business of hotel and property
management services. The Group recorded an unrealized fair value
loss of approximately HK$517,000 in respect of its investment in Far
East for the year ended 31 March 2025. According to Far East annual
report for the year ended 31 March 2024, it recorded total operating
income and net loss of approximately HK$27.3 million and HK$33
million respectively.

The Group will continue to monitor the performance and share price of
HSBC, Basic House and Far East.

The unlisted equity investment is issued by private entities with
operations in Cayman Islands. The investment is carried at cost less
impairment as management believes that the range of fair value
estimates is so wide that the fair value cannot be estimated reliably.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

THE MONEY LENDING BUSINESS

The Money Lending Business has been one of the principal businesses
of the Group since June 2016. The Company’s core operational
strategy for its principal businesses has consistently focused on
enhancing financial performance and shareholders’ value. The
Money Lending Business has reported segment profits of HK$3.4
million for the year ended 31 March 2025. The profits generated have
strengthened the cash flow of the Group, which further supports its
growth initiatives for other principal businesses.

The scope and nature of the money lending services of the Group
mainly focus on the provision of corporate or personal loans to small
to medium-sized corporations and individuals (who are generally
businessmen, executives or professionals in various industries). The
distribution of the Company’s loan portfolio by types of borrowers as
at 31 March 2025 is tabulated below:

BER%

HEEXFBE S RFRABKRTEEEIEX
BZ— RABEEEBNROEERKHRE
ARV BERBAELBREE - WEXBREE
TERCRF=A=t-RIFERSHIEN34
BEETL  TELANEMNMET ASENRS
W E RN TR EBIERETE

AEBNRERBEEREE T Z2EDREHT )
BEEREAREBERSTEENEA 17
BABSEEAL) RELCESFEAER - R
Z_RE=ZA=1+—H AREEERARES
DHEREA DT

Gross Loan

amount of receivables

loan net of ECL

receivables Expected allowance

as at credit loss as at

Number of 31 March (“ECL") 31 March

borrowers 2025 allowance 2025

P

—E_FRHEF

EEETF=E

i EE  HERER

—E-EHF BEEE#E (MBRTEH

=HB=+—H (FEHEE BEE#E

Types of borrowers BRAER EMABE BUERAE BHEDRE B18)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FH&T FH&T

Corporations oy 13 1,932 411) 1,521
Individuals fEA 20 98,831 (10,230) 88,601
Total st 33 100,763 (10,641) 90,122

As at 31 March 2025, there are 33 outstanding loan accounts maintained
in the Group's loan portfolio. The principal amount of the said loan
portfolio ranged from HK$100,000 to HK$24,000,000, with loan term
ranging from 4 months to 36 months and interest rate ranging from 5%
t0 12%. The gross amount of loan receivables as at 31 March 2025 due
from the five largest borrowers amounted to approximately HK$65.9
million, representing approximately 65.4% of the total gross amount of
loan receivables.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Internal Control Procedures and Credit Risk
Assessment

The Group has maintained the internal control policies for its Money
Lending Business in managing the credit risk and safeguarding the
assets and interests of the Group.

To evaluate the background, financial strength and repayment ability
of the borrower, the Group would conduct a series of due diligence
and credit assessments during the pre-approval process including
but not limited to (i) enquiring about the occupation of the borrower
and the specific purpose of the financing; (ii) conducting know-your-
client procedures, which involve obtaining and reviewing identity
verification documents, corporate documents (where applicable),
proof of address and proof of income or asset ownerships (such
as bank statements, securities statements, share certificates and
property certificates); (iii) performing legal searches, including
litigation, bankruptcy, misconduct and disciplinary proceedings/
actions such that no loan will be granted to borrowers with any
negative findings from these searches; and (iv) performing a land
search on the property pledged as collateral, including verification
of ownership and encumbrances, as well as assessing the property
valuation through property valuation tools available on the websites
of commercial banks in Hong Kong.

The basis for loan approval is typically grounded in the assessment
of controllable credit risk taking into account (i) the presence of
collateral or guarantee with a satisfactory loan-to-value ratio; (ii)
no history of bankruptcy, litigation, misconduct and disciplinary
proceedings/actions; and/or (iii) the proof of income or asset
ownership supporting his/her repayment ability. A majority of loans
granted by the Group are secured by collaterals (such as property
and listed securities) or guarantee. For the loan(s) without collateral
or guarantee provided, the Group will limit the principal loan amount
to control the Group’s exposure to credit risk. In addition, the cash
position of the Group would also be evaluated at the time of granting
loans to ensure sufficient working capital for supporting other
business operations and development of the Group.

Further information on the breakdown of loan portfolios by collateral
type, maturity and interest rate profile, the ageing analysis of the
outstanding loans, the risk management and impairment policies and
the impairment assessment are set out in Notes 35(0)(2) and 35(b)@3) to
the consolidated financial statements.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEERBE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yuen Yu Sum (R¥%), aged 37, was appointed as an
executive Director on 24 October 2019. He obtained a bachelor
degree in Social Sciences (Honours) in Administration and Public
Management from City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Yuen is
presently pursuing the Executive Master of Business Administration
program at The Chinese University of Hong Kong, with graduation
anticipated in 2025. Mr. Yuen has over five years’ experience in
event management and organising investment experience-sharing
courses and training courses.

Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin (BR 3 /&), aged 40, was appointed as an
executive Director on 3 August 2020. Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor
degree in Dental Surgery from University of Hong Kong and diploma
in Higher Education, School of Dentistry from University of Liverpool.
Mr. Chan has over 11 years of experience in corporate strategy,
business development and management where he was a founder
of a chain of dental clinics in Hong Kong with over 7 dentists and
6 clinics in 2014 (the "Dental Chain”). Mr. Chan was responsible
for formulating corporate strategies, business development plans
and major corporate decisions for the Dental Chain. In addition,
Mr. Chan has over 7 years of experience in financial quotient and
investment education business. He is an instructor of various
property investment courses and training courses with an average of
300 attendees per month. In addition, he is an instructor and course
director for memory improvement courses and speed-reading
courses with an average of 60 attendees per course. Mr. Chan also
involves in the development of tutorial and training businesses in
relation to the financial quotient and investment education programs
for over 7 years.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Law Wing Chung (2 7k B4), aged 47, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 2 June 2021. Mr. Law obtained a master degree
of journalism and a bachelor degree of laws from the University of Hong
Kong. Mr. Law was an award winning journalist who has served in the
newsroom for over 12 years. Mr. Law has substantial experience in the
media industry. He has set up two public affairs consulting companies
which are principally engaged in the provision of various consultancy
services including public affairs, public relations, social media, news
media and stakeholder engagement advices. Mr. Law was appointed
by the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR") Government
as the Political Assistant to the Financial Secretary in 2012 and had also
assisted a candidate to run the Hong Kong Chief Executive election in
2017.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Tang Sing Hing Kenny (&8 & ), aged 56, was appointed as
a non-executive Director on 13 January 2023. Dr. Tang obtained
a bachelor’s degree in Business, majoring in finance from Edith
Cowan University in February 1993 and a PhD. degree in Economics
from Renmin University of China in July 2007. He became a senior
associate of the Australian Institute of Banking and Finance in
December 1995 and was appointed as Hong Kong Chief Analyst by
the Finance and Securities Institute of Renmin University of China
in December 2010. Dr. Tang has over 29 years of experience in the
financial and securities sector. He is currently a managing partner of
a company engaging in asset management and financial services. Dr.
Tang also has extensive experience in the education sector. He was
(i) a lecturer of Master of Social Science in Global Political Economy
Programme at The Chinese University of Hong Kong from 2009 to
2016; (ii) a lecturer of Equity Analysis course at Open University of
Hong Kong (currently known as Hong Kong Metropolitan University);
(i) tutor of The School of Professional Education and Executive
Development of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University from 2002 to
2004; and (iv) tutor of Equity Analysis course at The HKU School of
Professional and Continuing Education from 1997 to 2000.

Dr. Tang is a member of Election Committee Member (Financial
Services) of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, the
chairman of The Hong Kong Institute of Financial Analysts and
Professional Commentators Limited and the committee member
of the board of directors of Hong Kong Securities Professionals
Association. He is also the deputy chairman of The Hong Kong
Chinese Listed Companies Association, the vice chairman of The
Hong Kong Girl Guides New Territories Region Association and co-
initiator of The Hong Kong Coalition. Dr. Tang is also an independent
non-executive director of Hin Sang Group (International) Holding Co.
Ltd. (HKEX Stock Code: 6893).

Ms. Mak Louisa Ming Sze (Z8i%F), aged 33, was appointed as a
non-executive Director on 4 September 2023. She obtained a Bachelor
of Arts in Law and a Master of Arts from the University of Cambridge
in 2014 and 2018, respectively. She was admitted to the New York Bar
in 2018. From 2019 to 2022, Ms. Mak worked for McKinsey & Company
where she led multiple management consulting projects on strategy,
organization and design thinking. Prior to that, she had been engaged
in the entertainment industry between 2015 and 2019 and had acted
as host of various major television shows broadcast and regular talk
shows. Ms. Mak is a co-founder of Project Melo Limited, which is a
company focusing on youth empowerment.
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EENEREEERBE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie (FR&I#&), aged 53, FCCA, CPA (Practising),
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 6 June
2019 and is a chairman of the audit committee (“Audit Committee”)
of the Board. He holds a master degree in Professional Accounting
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a Diploma in
Accounting from Kwai Chung Technical Institute. He has engaged
in the accounting industry since 1993 and has over 20 years of
extensive experience in accounting and auditing. He is the sole
proprietor of PASICO CPA & Co.

Mr. Chung Chin Kwan ({& &8 3#), aged 35, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 30 October 2020. He is also
a chairman of each of the nomination committee and remuneration
committee of the Board and a member of the Audit Committee.
He obtained a bachelor degree in Business Administration (major
in accounting) from Lingnan University. Mr. Chung has over 10
years of experience in accounting and taxation services. He also
has extensive experience in company secretarial matters. Mr.
Chung is a Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a chartered tax adviser of The Taxation Institute of
Hong Kong. Mr. Chung is the founder of CK Tax Company Limited, a
taxation company granted by the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong as
“Chartered Tax Adviser Accredited Employer”.
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Mr. Chung Kwok Pan (& X&), aged 61, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 2 June 2021. Mr. Chung
obtained a bachelor degree in Quantity Surveying from Robert
Gordon’s Institute of Technology, Scotland (currently known as
Robert Gordon University, Aberdeen) in July 1986 and a master
degree in Business Administration from the University of Stirling,
Scotland, United Kingdom in May 1988.

Mr. Chung has been responsible for the business management of
Chungweiming Knitting Factory Limited since early 1988. Mr. Chung
also has several social positions, including a member of the 5th and
6th Legislative Council of Hong Kong (Textile and Garment Sector),
Leader of Liberal Party, Honorary Life Chairman of Hong Kong
Apparel Society Limited, a member of Honorary General Committee,
The Chinese Manufacturers' Association of Hong Kong, an advisor of
New Territories General Chamber of Commerce, a director of Hong
Kong Design Centre, Chairman of Design Discipline Advisory Board
of Vocational Training Council, Chairman of Fashion Industry Training
Advisory Committee, Education Bureau of the HKSAR and a member
of the Advisory Group on Implementation of Fashion Initiatives, The
Commerce and Economic Development Bureau of the HKSAR. He
was also a member of the 9th Guangdong Provincial Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference in 2005.

Mr. Chung is currently an independent non-executive director of
High Fashion International Limited (stock code: 608), Planetree
International Development Limited (stock code: 613) and Esprit
Holdings Limited (stock code: 330) respectively.
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The Board is pleased to present their annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group principally derives its revenue from six business arms:
(i) OEM Business, which entails product design and development,
raw materials sourcing and procurement, manufacturing and
product quality control management; (i) Retail Business, which
entails designing, procuring, manufacturing, marketing and retailing
of pure cashmere apparel and other apparel products as well as
accessories through the retail network in Hong Kong under the
Group's own brand and high-end fashion brand; (iii) Money Lending
Business, which provides financing to customers for interest income;
(iv) Financial Quotient and Investment Education Business, which
provides financial quotient and investment education courses for
the customers in return of tuition fees from them; (v) Property
Investment Business; and (vi) Private Supplementary Education
Business.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of segment information of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2025 are set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 and the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at that date are
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 71 to 249.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2025. (2024 Nil).

During the year ended 31 March 2025, there was no arrangement
under which any shareholder waived or agreed to waive any
dividend.

Further details of dividends are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as well as discussion and
analysis of the Group's performance during the year and the material
factors underlying its financial performance and financial position
can be found in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out
on pages 3to 15.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the
environments and communities in which it operates. Acting in an
environmentally responsible manner is a key priority for the Group.
The Group endeavors to comply with all applicable environmental
protection laws and regulations. It also actively adopts measures to
promote the efficient use of resources, energy conservation, and
waste reduction. This includes implementing green office practices
such as redeploying furniture, encouraging the use of recycled
paper, double-sided printing, and reducing energy consumption by
switching off idle equipment.

Furthermore, the Group is dedicated to the principle and practice
of recycling and waste minimization across its operations. These
efforts are aimed at preserving natural resources and mitigating the
Group's environmental footprint. By embedding sustainability into its
business practices, the Group is working to create long-term value for
its stakeholders while fulfilling its responsibility as a corporate citizen.
The Group remains steadfast in its commitment to environmental
stewardship and supporting the well-being of the communities it serves.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied in material
respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business and operation of the Group. During the year, the
Group has complied, to the best of our knowledge, with the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"), the GEM Listing Rules, the applicable
employment ordinance both in the PRC and Hong Kong, the local
standards and regulations for our project works as well as other relevant
rules and regulations. Saved as disclosed elsewhere in this report, there
was no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2025.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS AND
OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers and other stakeholders
to meet its immediate and long-term goals. Saved as disclosed
elsewhere in this report, there were no material and significant
dispute between the Group and its suppliers, customers and/or
other stakeholders during the year ended 31 March 2025.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the memorandum and articles of association (“Articles of
Association”) of the Company, the applicable laws and regulations,
every Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of
the assets and profits of the Company against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them
may incur or sustain in the execution of their duties in their offices.
Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force throughout the
year. The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers'
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (“AGM")

The 2025 AGM will be held on Friday, 26 September 2025. A circular
containing the details of 2025 AGM and the notice of 2025 AGM and
form of proxy accompanying thereto will soon be despatched to
shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025 the Company's reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law,
Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands, amounted to approximately HK$245.6 million (2024
HK$182.0 million). The amount includes the Company's share
premium, special reserve and accumulated profits which may be
distributable provided that immediately following the date on which
the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a
position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in Note 15 to
the consolidated financial statements.

INTEREST CAPITALISED
No interest was capitalised by the Group during the year ended 31
March 2025.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group, as extracted from the consolidated
financial statements, is set out on page 250 of this annual report.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the Company’s share capital and movements during the
year are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 1.1% of the total sales for the year ended 31 March
2025 (2024: 0.5%) and sales to the largest customer included therein
accounted for approximately 0.3% of the total sales for the year
ended 31 March 2025 (2024: 0.1%). Purchase from the Group's
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 42.7% of the
total purchase for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: 25.9%)
and purchase from the Group’s largest supplier included therein
accounted for approximately 17.1% of the total purchase for the year
ended 31 March 2025 (2024: 22.9%).

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had
any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest customers and
suppliers.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the
date of this annual report are as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Yuen Yu Sum (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Law Wing Chung

Dr. Tang Sing Hing Kenny

Ms. Mak Louisa Ming Sze

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie

Mr. Chung Chin Kwan

Mr. Chung Kwok Pan

By virtue of Article 16.18 of the articles of association of the
Company, Mr. Law Wing Chung, Dr. Tang Sing Hing Kenny, Ms. Mak
Louisa Ming Sze and Mr. Chung Kwok Pan retire at the 2025 AGM
and, being eligible, shall offer themselves for re-election at the said
meeting.
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DIRECTORS’' AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 16 to 19 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACT

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
service contract or an appointment letter (as the case may be) with
the Company for an initial term of one year.

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in this report, none of the Directors
being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT AND HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five individuals with
highest emoluments are set out in Notes 12 to the consolidated
financial statements. For the year ended 31 March 2025, the
remuneration of the Directors and senior management whose details
are included in the “Biographical Details of The Directors and Senior
Management” section of this annual report fell within the following
bands:

Mg

Remuneration Bands
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Number of Individuals*
AE(*

Below HK$1,000,000
HK$2,500,000 to HK$3,000,000
HK$7,000,000 to HK$7,500,000
HK$12,500,000 to HK$13,000,000
HK$13,000,000 to HK$13,500,000
HK$26,500,000 to HK$27,000,000

{77 1,000,000 7% 7T

2,500,000 7% 7T & 3,000,000 7% 7T
7,000,000 7% 7T & 7,500,000 7 7T
12,500,000 % 7T & 13,000,000 7T
13,000,000 7 7T % 13,500,000 75 7T
26,500,000 7% 7T Z 27,000,000 7 7T

A A AN O

* Resigned Director and Senior Management during the year is not  *

included.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

As at 31 March 2025, the Company did not enter into or have any
management and administration contracts in respect of the whole or
any principal business of the Company.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

In order to attract and retain high quality staff and to enable
smooth operation within the Group, the Group offers competitive
remuneration packages (with reference to market conditions and
individual qualifications and experience) and various training courses.
The remuneration packages are subject to review on a regular basis.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management are
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the
Group’s operating results, market competitiveness, individual
performance and achievement, and approved by the Board.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME
Details of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group are set out in
Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

THE SHARE SCHEMES (the “Schemes”)

The Board adopted (i) the share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”) on 25 November 2022; and (i) a new share option scheme
(the “2023 Share Option Scheme"”) on 4 September 2023 (the
“"Adoption Date”) in place of the then share option scheme of the
Company which was adopted by the Company on 25 September
2014 (the "2014 Share Option Scheme”).

The purposes and key terms of the Share Award Scheme and the
2023 Share Option Scheme are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Scheme limit

As at the beginning of the year ended 31 March 2025 (“FY2025") (i.e.
1 April 2024), the number of options and awards available for grant
pursuant to the then scheme limit granted on 25 November 2022
under the Share Award Scheme and the 2023 Share Option Scheme
was 5 Shares.

Upon passing of the resolution by the independent shareholders
of the Company at the extraordinary general meeting held on
2 January 2025, the scheme mandate limit has been refreshed
with the maximum number of the Shares which may be issued in
respect of all options and awards to be granted under the Schemes
amounting to 44,293,526 shares of the Company (the “Shares”),
being approximately 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of approval of the refreshed scheme mandate.

As at 31 March 2025, the number of options and awards available for
grant pursuant to the scheme limit granted on 2 January 2025 under
the 2023 Share Option Scheme and the Share Award Scheme was
1,526 Shares.

The total number of 44,292,600 Shares that may be issued in respect
of options and awards granted under the Schemes during FY2025
divided by the weighted average number of Shares in issue (i.e.
439,032,000 Shares) for FY2025 was approximately 10.1%.

The Share Award Scheme

Movement of the award shares during FY2025

Details of the award shares unvested and granted during FY2025 are
as follows:

Number of
unvested
award shares
asat 1 April
2024 FY2025

Purchase
price  Vesting period/
conditions

Date of grant (HKS)
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B 51,526 %R % o

BEZSEHEN TRV FELNERE
N 25 Bl i 7] B8 % 17 19 44,292,600 A% A% 17 48 2
NZZZ A FE BTN A INE T (R
439,032,000 A% %17 ) #9410.1% °

% 17 2 B 5t 2
BEROR-_B-ERENED

KRB R EMABE R B LSRR E
T :

Number of award shares
RERGEA
Number of
unvested
lapsed  award shares
during  as at 31 March
FY2025 2025

cancelled
during
FY2025

vested
during
FY2025

granted
during

RZZ-QE k2

mA-A
REE HAEE
2BRNEE

Grantees 5 SR (Bm) BEH/KH

Elighle employees ~ A&#REE 9 Qctober 2023 Nil- Three (3) years from
the date of grant
i E - ity
TANA QE

2,619,600 - - - -

ZB=1-8
HAGE
RRRAUA

R-8-% MRWz-3z1

HERH

R-B-3
HERE

2,619,600

2,679,600 - - - -

2,679,600
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Total number of Shares available for issue

The total number of Shares available for issue under the Share Award
Scheme amounted to 1,526 Shares, representing approximately
0.0003% of the total issued share capital of the Company as at the
date of this report.

Eligible participants

Eligible participants under the Share Award Scheme include any
person, being an employee, a director (including executive Directors,
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors),
an officer of any member of the Group (including nominees and/or
trustees of any employee benefit trust established for them) whom
the Board or its delegate considers, in their sole discretion, to have
contributed or will contribute to the Group.

Any grant of awards to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company or any of their respective associates
must be approved by the independent non-executive Directors
(excluding any independent non-executive Director who is a grantee)
and shall comply with the relevant provisions under Chapter 23
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Stock Exchange”).

Maximum entitlement of each participant

Where any grant of awards to a selected participant would result
in the Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all options and
awards granted to such person (excluding any options and awards
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the respective Scheme(s))
in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant
representing in aggregate over 1% of the relevant class of Shares in
issue, such grant must be separately approved by the shareholders
of the Company (the “Shareholders”) in a general meeting with such
selected participant and his/her close associates (or associates if the
selected participant is a connected person) abstaining from voting.

Where any grant of awards to a Director (other than an independent
non-executive Director) or chief executive of the Company, or any of
their associates would result in the Shares issued and to be issued
in respect of all awards granted (excluding any awards lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the respective Scheme(s)) to such
person in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such
grant, representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the relevant class of
Shares in issue (excluding treasury Shares), such further grant of
awards must be approved by the Shareholders in a general meeting,
at which such grantee, his/her associates and all core connected
persons of the Company must abstain from voting.
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B AR RBRARE RS BTRAERED
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Where any grant of awards to an independent non-executive Director
or a substantial Shareholder, or any of their respective associates
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all
options and awards granted (excluding any options and awards
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the respective Scheme(s)) to
such person in the 12-month period up to and including the date of
such grant, representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the relevant class
of Shares in issue (excluding treasury Shares), such further grant of
awards must be approved by the Shareholders in a general meeting,
at which such grantee, his/her associates and all core connected
persons of the Company must abstain from voting.

Vesting period and condition(s)

Unless otherwise determined by the Board at its discretion, the
award shares held by the trustee upon the trust and which are
referable to a selected participant shall vest in that selected
participant in accordance with the conditions set out in the award
notice as the Board may determine at its absolute discretion or is
deemed to have vested pursuant to the scheme rules, provided that
the selected participant remains at all times after the reference date
(as defined under the Share Award Scheme) and on the relevant
vesting dates (if applicable) an eligible person and the related vesting
period shall not be less than 12 months.

Amount and period of payment

The award shares will be granted to the selected participant(s) at nil
consideration. As such, the basis of determining the purchase price
of award shares under the Share Award Scheme is not applicable
herein.

Remaining life

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board,
the Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
ten (10) years commencing on 25 November 2022, and thereafter for
so long as there are any non-vested award shares relating to awards
granted prior to the expiration of the Share Award Scheme. As at 31
March 2025, the remaining life of the Share Award Scheme is less
than 8 years.
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The 2014 Share Option Scheme —E-NFERESTE
Movement of the share options during FY2025 BRER-ZS_LUFNEH
Details of the share options granted under the 2014 Share Option 1R - —NFEREFSIEREMR T -1
Scheme and outstanding during FY2025 are as follows: M RARITENBRAZEFSNT
Number of share options
BRERA
Current
Initial ~ exercise outstanding
exercise price Vesting  outstanding  granted exercised cancelled  lapsed asat
Date of price  (Note1)  Exercise period/ asat  during  during  durng  during  31March
grant (HKS)  (HKS) period conditions 1April2024 ~ FY2025 ~ FY2025  FY2025  FY2025 2025
15  %E el | i I R ZE-EF
g (W) FRH BA-B Z%°% ZF ZECE -8 =ZA=t-A
Grantees (Bn)  (Bn) i HATE HERL i€ BERE  BEXRN HA{TE
Directors £
Mr. Yuen Yu Sum RWALE 14 October 2022 1.104 1004 140ctober 202t0  N/A 3,942,400 - - - - 3,942,400
13 Qctober 2032
B 3 3 TER
tA+EE TATRAEZE
Atz
Mr.ChanlapnKevin  BugEfs 140ctober 2022~ 1104 1004 140ctober 2022t N/A 3.942,400 - - - - 3942400
13 October 2032
I Stk 3 ZEICf ok
+A+mA tATEAZ
A/%¥EE
Mr. Law Wing Chung BmiE 140ctober 202 1104 1004 140ctober202t0  N/A 800,800 - - - - 800,800
13 Qctober 2032
i Sl CECCE NER
+A+mA TRTRAZ
+B1=8
Substantial Shareholder *Ek%
Mr. Lui Yu Kin BFREL 26March 2021 0330 150 26March2021t0  N/A 3373920 - - - - 3373920
25 March 2031
“E--F “EC-E TR
ZAZt5A ZAZ1/RE
“B-t1R
140ctober 202 1104 1004 140ctober 202t0  N/A 3942400 - - - - 3942400
13 October 2032
I Stk 3 ZEICf ok
+A+mA tATEAZ
A/%¥EE

BERYEEBERATR 29
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Current

Initial ~ exercise

exercise price

Date of price

(Note 1) Exercise
grant (HKS) ~ (HKS) period
Bl
5 GkE
k@ (W1 RS

period/

Grantees (Bm) (A1) il

Eligible employees RERER 26 March 2021 0330 150  26March2021t0 /A
25 March 2031
“Io-F I — NER
ozt =
,n:+ﬁE
140ctober 2022~ 1104 1004 140ctober 2022to  Note2
13 October 2032
“ToCE Hit2
tAtmE
Consultants B 140ctober 2022 1104 1004 140ctober 2022t Note2
13 October 2032
“Fo-F St -3
+A+mA tAtEAZ

Notes:

30

The current exercise price represents the exercise price in force after
the effect of the share consolidation conducted during the year ended
31 March 2022 and the bonus issue of the Company conducted during
the year ended 31 March 2023, where applicable.

Certain options granted to eligible employees and consultants on 14
October 2022 would only be vested if each of the net profit of the
Group for the financial years ending 31 March 2023 and 2024 is equal
to or exceeds the net profit of the Group for the financial year ended
31 March 2022. Such options had been vested on 28 June 2024.

A total of 1,500,000 share options were exercised during FY2025 in
accordance with their respective current exercise price (i.e. HK$1.004).
The weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately
before the dates on which such share options were exercised was
approximately HK$1.713 per Share.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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Vesting

conditions 1 April 2024

Number of share options
BREA
outstanding
outstanding  granted exercised cancelled  lapsed asat
asat  durng  during  during  during  31March
FY2025  FY2025  FY2025  FY2025 2025
R
12 R i i i
WE-A Z-BZ% Z%-§ ZEBZx ZCZEC31
HATE HERL  MEGE  BEEE  BEAX
14,403,720 - - - - 14,403,720
12,179,200 - (500000 - (39424000 7736800
2,703,800 - (1,000,000) - (1,100,000) 603,800
45,288,640 - (1,500,000) - (50824000 38746200
(Note 3)
(Hi:t3)
BiaT -

BATEEEFRBE T __F=RA=+—
ALFEETROAHEBE-T_=F=A
=+ —HIEFEARRRETARET (MER) W
FRREWMNTTEE -

R-EZ—F+ATHAERTAERES REM
WETHEERE  SERAEEEE-_T-_=F)K
R NEZ AT BUHREENESEF
BERARBAEERE T _—F=-A=+—
B BRFRENAFGGRE  Z2EBREESN=
ToWNFESAZHN\BEE -

R _RHF - A 31,500,000 & % # E 1%
HEBBETITEE(BI1.00487T) EITH - B
ZE R B AT - PR B AN SIS kT
BHAFR1713EBT -



The 2023 Share Option Scheme
Movement of the share options during FY2025
Details of the share options granted under the 2023 Share Option
Scheme and outstanding during FY2025 are as follows:

Date of

grant

Grantees

Directors
Mr. Yuen Yu Sum

iz
RIARLE 13 December

2023
i a3
+-A1=H
14 February

2005

-3
—BtmA

13 December
2023

Mr. Chan Lap Jin
Kevin

RuRfE

ZRIZE

+-A1=H
14 February
205

-3
—BtmA

13 December
2023

Mr. LawWing Chung - B854

ZRIZE
+-BfZE

14 February
205

-3
—BtmA

Initial
exercise
price
(HKS)

1%

fifefe
(B7)

1.56

167
(Note 1)

1.56

167
(Note 1)

1.56

167
(Note 1)

Current
exercise
price
(HKS)

Bl
e
(87)

195

167

195

167

195

167

Exercise
period

13 June 2025 to
12 December
203

i Skt 3
~BTZRE
“3Z-F
TZAtZR

14 August 2026 to
13 February
203

ZEINE
NATERZ
—ECRE
“At=A

13 June 2025 to
12 December
203

I Skt 3
~BTZRE
“3Z-F
TZAtZR

14 August 2026 to
13 February
203

“EINE
NATERZ
CESRE
“At=A

13 June 2025 to
12 December
203

I Skt 3
~BTZRE
“3Z-F
TZAtZR

14 August 2026 to
13 February
203

ZEINE
NATERZ
—ECRE
“At=A

Vesting
period/
conditions

Eighteen (18)
months from the
(ate of grant

AR AR
TA8EA

Eighteen (18)
months from the
ate of grant

BR LA S
TN EAR

Eighteen (18)
months from the
(ate of grant

AR AR
TA8EA

Eighteen (18)
months from the
ate of grant

AR LA S

N\18)fEA

Eighteen (18)
months from the
(ate of grant

AR AR
TA8EA

Eighteen (18)
months from the
ate of grant

BR LA S

N\18)fEA

—— =

—_
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BRER-Z-_AMFNEH

RE=—Z=

—FBEREASEREENR -_ZF A

MERRITERNBREFRNT -

outstanding
asat

1 April

2024

R
“EomE
mE-A
WAL

3,584,000

3,584,000

450,000

granted
during
FY2025

4428000

4428000

516,000

Number of share options
BRERA

outstanding
exercised cancelled  lapsed asat
during  during  during  31March
FY2025  FY2025  FY2025 2025
i
i R Z3ZEF
Z8-f% ZB-:% =ZB=t-H
BERE  HEAM HATTE
- - - 3,584,000
- - - 4,428,000
- - - 3,584,000
- - - 4,428,000
- - - 450,000
- - - 516,000
EERBEEEERAT 31
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Number of share options
BREA
Initial ~ Current outstanding outstanding
exercise  exercise Vesting asat granted exercised cancelled  lapsed asat
Date of price price  Exercise period/ 1April  during  during  during  during  31March

grant (HKS) (HK$)  period conditions 2024 FY2025  FY2025  FY2025  FY2025 2025
i
5 EHl k-3 R R R R
EE  f1FE MA-B -B-fF <-E-F CE-R ZECE
Grantees % (Bn) (B¢ GBS/ B MATE HERE HETE  BERE  MEXN

Substantial IZRE

Shareholder
Mr. Lui YuKin BFREE 14 February 167 167 14AUgUst202to  Eighteen (18) - 442,000 - - - 442,000
2025 (Note 1) 13 February months from the
203 (ate of grant
3R (1) ZEZRX BE AR
ZAtmAH NATERZE TA(9)EA
“ECRE
“At=H
Eligible employees 4&#(ES 13 December 155 155 13June 20250 Eighteen (18) 25,548,000 - - - - 25508000
23 12 December months from the
2033 (ate of grant
“ECCE —EoRE AR AR
tZA+=H ~AT=RZ NCRED:
Z3==F
TZAtZH
14 February 167 167 14 August2026to  Eighteen (18) - 34,478,000 - - - 34,478,000
2025 (Note 1) 13 February months from the
203 (ate of grant
Z32RF (1) Z5I5E BE AR
ZAtmA NATERZE T8 @A
“ECRE
ZRt=
33,166,000 44,292,000 - - - 77,458,000
Notes: Bfet -
1. The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date of grant 1. RIZEZRAF-_A+=0 RORBEERLAH
was HK$1.65 per Share on 13 February 2025. ATV T B R EAR 1.658 7T
2. The fair value of the share options granted on 14 February 2025 to 2. MZT ARG =AU A AR 44,292,000
subscribe for 44,292,000 Shares was estimated to be HK$22,100,000, A% A% 19 #9 B8 A% 4 09 A (B 17 51 & 22,100,000 7
which was calculated using the binomial option pricing model. For T DERAZEARETEEAGE - AT
further details, please refer to Note 31(b)(vi) to the consolidated FHE  FLHRE T HRENFEI1D0)VI) ©

financial statements.
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Eligible persons

Eligible persons under the 2023 Share Option Scheme include
Directors (including executive Directors, non-executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors), officers and employees
(whether full time or part time) of any member of the Group (including
nominees and/or trustees of any employee benefit trust established
or them). The eligibility of the eligible person(s) will be determined
by the Board or its delegate based on their potential and/or actual
contribution to the business and development of the Group. Any
grant of share options to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company or any of their respective associates
must be approved by the independent non-executive Directors
(excluding any independent non-executive Director who is a grantee)
and shall comply with the relevant provisions under Chapter 23 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

Total number of Shares available for issue

The total number of Shares available for issue under the 2023 Share
Option Scheme amounted to 77,459,526 Shares, representing
approximately 16.9% of the total issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of this report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

Where any grant of options to an eligible person would result in the
Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all options and awards
granted and to be granted to such eligible person (excluding options
and awards that have been lapsed in accordance with the 2023
Share Option Scheme and any other Scheme(s)) in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant representing
in aggregate over 1% of the Shares in issue, such grant must
be separately approved by the Shareholders in general meeting
with such eligible person and his/her close associates (or his/her
associates if the eligible person is a connected person) abstaining
from voting.

Where any grant of share options to an independent non-executive
Director or a substantial Shareholder, or any of their respective
associates would result in the Shares issued and to be issued in
respect of all share options and awards granted (including share
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding but excluding those
options and awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of such
Schemes) to that person in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the
total number of Shares in issue (excluding treasury Shares), such
grant of share options must be approved by the Shareholders in
general meeting at which such grantee, his/her associates and all
core connected persons of the Company must abstain from voting in
favour at such general meeting.
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Basis of determining subscription price of options
granted

The subscription price in respect of any share option shall, subject to
any adjustments made pursuant to the 2023 Share Option Scheme,
be such price as the Directors at their absolute discretion shall
determine, provided that it must be no less than the higher of: (a)
the closing price of Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the offer date (which must be a business day); (b)
the average closing price of Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet for the five (5) business days immediately
preceding the offer date; and (c) the par value of the Shares on the
offer date.

Remaining life

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board,
the 2023 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective until
the date of expiry of a period of ten (10) years commencing on the
Adoption Date. As at 31 March 2025, the remaining life of the 2023
Share Option Scheme is less than 9 years.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Schemes and the bond instrument constituting the
Convertible Bonds (as defined below), no other equity-linked
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares or
that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or
may result in the Company issues shares were entered into during
the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACT

Saved as disclosed under the section “Connected Transactions”
below, no contract of significance to which the Company, or any
of its holding company or subsidiaries was a party, and in which a
Director or his/her connected entity had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 March 2025.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
None of the Directors and their respective associates had an interest
in any business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during the
year ended 31 March 2025 or as at 31 March 2025.

UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Saved as elsewhere in this report, there is no other information
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM
Listing Rules for the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date of
this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of each
Director and chief executive in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(“SFO™), which are required (i) to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the provisions of Division 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); (ii)
pursuant to section 352 of Part XV of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or (iii) pursuant to the Model Code to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long positions in Shares and underlying shares of
the Company:
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EERFETHRAERA QAR EARE
EERG - MEROHESFPHES
589 ¥

RIZB-RF=A=+—0 FEFERIZ2TH
AEBRARRREBABZE(EERLEFLHAE
e ([R5 REIE 6P 1) £ XVED) eBztn - 187
Ietn REZF - B8 )V IREEZF MR XV
BBEE7 K8y BRE M E AR B Ko B X P e M 1 I
e (BRERIEES LB GRDBBIGEREE
FER/EANERIAR)  (VREBEFLHE
1 25 XV BB 5 352 67 AL A FZ 15 P 1 B RO AT B9 42
wmRORR  HNRBFEETRAMEARA R
B FTEV RS RORR AT ¢

RAEXTRDRAEABROGPHFA :

Percentage of
the Company's
issue share
Number of Number of as at
Name of Directors Capacity Shares held Options held Total 31 March 2025
(%)
R-E-R1EF
EFETr=[E
HARARE BT
FEsROHE REEREZE REB DL
(%)
Chan Lap Jin Kevin Beneficial owner 33,982,080 11,954,400 45,936,480 10.11
BRI E=mEEA
Yuen Yu Sum Beneficial owner 6,904,480 11,596,000 18,500,480 4.07
RHR E=mEAA
Chung Chin Kwan Beneficial owner 1,135,200 - 1,135,200 0.25
i3 R E=mEEA
Interest of spouse 184,800 - 184,800 0.04
e fB e (Note 1)
(Ftet 1)
Law Wing Chung Beneficial owner 211,200 1,766,800 1,978,000 0.44
KR E=mEAA
Note: i

(1) 184,800 shares are owned by Ms. Lam Ka Yee, who is the spouse of
Mr. Chung Chin Kwan.

() SR ST A R BC 4B M 52 % X0 £ 15 A 184,800 %

Bet5 -
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Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company had any interests
or short position in any shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i) as required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and/or short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO), or (i) as required to be recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to Sections 352 of the SFO, or (iii) as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the required standard of dealings by directors of listed issuers as
referred to in Rule 5.46 to Rule 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S RIGHTS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBT SECURITIES

Saved as disclosed under the section headed “SHARE-BASED
PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS”, as at 31 March 2025, neither the
company, holding company nor any of its subsidiaries was a party to
any arrangements to enable the directors and chief executive of the
company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debt securities, including debentures, of the company or any
other body corporate, and none of the directors and chief executive
of the company or their spouses or children under the age of 18,
had any right to subscribe for the securities of the company, or had
exercised any such rights.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSONS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 March 2025, other than
the Directors or chief executives of the Company whose interests
or short positions are disclosed under the paragraph headed
“Directors” and Chief Executives' Interests and Short Positions in the
Shares, Underlying Shares or Debentures of the Company and Its
Associated Corporations” above, the following parties have interest
or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which have to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO, and who
were expected, directly or indirectly, to be interested in 5% or more
of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to
vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company are
listed as follows:
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Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares
of the Company

Name of shareholder

510/ RHENE

Lui Yu Kin Beneficial owner
= T EnfEAA
Note:

(1) The figure consists of 55,180,000 shares and 7,758,320 options held.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Directors
were not aware of any other person (other than the Directors or
chief executives as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’
and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in the Shares,
Underlying Shares or Debentures of the Company and Its Associated
Corporations” above) who had, or deemed to have, interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company which has to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and as recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO,
or who were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in
all circumstances at general meetings of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company'’s shares during the year ended 31
March 2025.

Capacity/Nature of interests
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REAQXTRGRAEBRRGHNER

Percentage of
the Company’s

issue share

capital as at

Number of 31 March

ordinary shares 2025

HR=-ZF=-RF

=A=+—HHK

AAFSRITR

RS

(%)

62,938,320 13.85
(Note 1)
(BtaE1)

izt -

(1) BBEHTEIEHSA 85518000008 & H &
7,758,320 17 R AR AEE -

R EXPEEEN R RF=A=1+—
B EEUENMBEAEMAL(EXIESERE
2ITRABRARE REMBEE ML - 187
BT OER AR | —BRARENES
FEZITHABRIN RARAD - B
NEELHTHEE  WRRER  REESFEEE
BB S XV AR 2 K2 30 BRI SRR A R R R
RSO B MARIRRE 75 M BB (R ] 58 336 fRAC 8%
RATHEENBCMANEARDEIRE I
HEEIEERAMSEENIREMERLTEAR
AV AR R K & b 4% 5= 60 (E fa] 2R 51 AR N THI B 5% 3¢
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BE LEIEERSG
BE-T-AFZA=+—BLFE ADAR

HEEMHBATBERE - HEREEAART
ARk s5 -

BEERYEEHERATF 37
2025 F



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions as set out in Note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules. As all the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under
Rule 19.07 of the GEM Listing Rules) (other than the profits ratio)
in respect of the annual consultant fee are less than 5% and the
annual consultant fee is less than HK$3,000,000 and the consultancy
agreement was entered into on normal commercial terms, the
entering into of the consultancy agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder are fully exempt from the reporting,
announcement, annual review and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Save for the key management personnel compensation and as
disclosed above or elsewhere in the annual report, the Group did
not have other significant related party/connected party transactions
entered into during the year ended 31 March 2025.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM PLACING OF NEW SHARES
2024 Placing

On 19 March 2024, the Company entered into the placing agreement
with the Sino-Rich Securities & Futures Limited (as placing agent),
pursuant to which, the Company has conditionally agreed to place,
through the placing agent up to 38,462,000 placing shares to not
less than six independent placees at the placing price of HK$1.30
per placing share (the “2024 Placing”). The placing shares under the
2024 Placing would rank, upon issue, pari passu in all respects with
the Shares in issue on the date of allotment and issue of the placing
shares.

On 8 April 2024, the Company and the placing agent entered into
the supplemental agreements to the placing agreement, pursuant to
which the Company and the placing agent agreed to amend (i) the
long stop date from 8 April 2024 to 18 April 2024 (or such later date
as may be agreed between the parties); and (ii) the placing price
from HK$1.30 per placing share to HK$1.32 per placing share.

The completion of the 2024 Placing took place on 23 April 2024,
where a total of 22,656,000 placing shares have been actually placed
by the placing agent to not less than six placees at the adjusted
placing price of HK$1.32 per placing share pursuant to the terms
and condition of the placing agreement (as supplemented by the
supplemental agreements). The placing shares were allotted and
issued under the general mandate granted to the Directors pursuant
to an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 28 September 2023.
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The market prices of the placing shares was (i) HK$1.62 per Share as
quoted on the Stock Exchange on 19 March 2024, being the date of
the placing agreement; and (ii) HK$1.64 per Share as quoted on the
Stock Exchange on 8 April 2024, being the date of the supplemental
placing agreements. The aggregate nominal value of such 22,656,000
placing shares amounted to HK$11,328 based on par value of
HK$0.0005 per Share. Based on the net proceeds of approximately
HK$29.5 million under the 2024 Placing, the net price per placing
share was approximately HK$1.3035.

The Directors considered that the net proceeds from the 2024
Placing would enhance the financial position of the Group with
additional funding for the business development, in particular further
expanding the market share and the customer base of the Financial
Quotient and Investment Education Business. In addition, the 2024
Placing would broaden both the shareholder base and the capital
base of the Company thereby increasing the liquidity of the Shares
within a relatively shorter time frame and at a lower cost compared
with other means of fund raising.

To the best of the knowledge, information and belief of the Directors
and having made all reasonable enquiries, the placees and their
respective ultimate beneficial owner(s), as applicable, are parties
independent of the Company and not acting in concert with the
connected persons of the Company. None of the placees has
become a substantial Shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) immediately after completion of the 2024 Placing.

The gross proceeds and net proceeds from the 2024 Placing
amounted to approximately HK$30 million and HK$29.5 million,
respectively. Details of the use of the net proceeds are as follows:
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BRREBERRHBINESUNEREENY
Bk LEHRE - P EAMERIREHRE X5
TSR R P ER o ptoh - BEMEETR
B —T-MFREEFEBERARARHRER
EMPEARER MBS ENRREEERN
NEUERR A e m IR R B -

HREFREH R ESHEAMN - FXHNE
& AEAREEENERESEAA (WER)
RBYRAAF BWIFARRIBEATZ — BT
PAL - BRE_T_MFRERETHKE  HE
ABEARRTIERR(EER GEM ETARR) -

R ERE FIAMRSRIBRE NS RIEF
BORINANBEEETR295BEET » FIER
EFBRABRZHBWT

Actual use of

Use of Net Proceeds

Expansion of the existing principal
businesses of the Group including the
Financial Quotient and Investment
Education Business and the private
supplementary education business

Working capital and general corporate
purposes

Total planned
amount to
be used

FREREREAR

SrEIE A
HKS$' million
BEAT

BRASERAETEZERT
BREVMEIREHE X%

net proceeds
up to

31 March 2025
BEEZE-Z-HF
=A=+—8H
FISRIEFREZ
BERAE

HK$" million
ABEBTT

DA R LS B Bh A %75
233 233
BEAS R —REXMRE
6.2 6.2
29.5 29.5
EEHEEEERA A
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2025 Placing

On 21 February 2025, the Company entered into the placing
agreement with Theia Securities Limited (as placing agent), pursuant
to which, the Company has conditionally agreed to place, through
the placing agent up to 21,126,760 placing shares to not less than
six independent placees at the placing price of HK$1.42 per placing
share (the "2025 Placing”). The placing shares under the 2025 Placing
would rank, upon issue, pari passu in all respects with the Shares in
issue on the date of allotment and issue of the placing shares.

The completion of the 2025 Placing took place on 19 March 2025,
where a total of 10,946,000 placing shares have been actually placed
by the placing agent to not less than six placees at the placing price
of HK$1.42 per placing share pursuant to the terms and condition of
the placing agreement. The placing shares were allotted and issued
under the general mandate granted to the Directors pursuant to
an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 27 September 2024.

The market prices of the placing shares was HK$1.68 per Share as
quoted on the Stock Exchange on 21 February 2025, being the date
of the placing agreement. The aggregate nominal value of such
10,946,000 placing shares amounted to HK$5,473 based on par value
of HK$0.0005 per Share. Based on the net proceeds of approximately
HK$15.2 million under the 2025 Placing, the net price per placing
share was approximately HK$1.39.

The Directors considered that the net proceeds from the 2025
Placing would enhance the financial position of the Group with
additional funding for the business development, in particular for
extending its Private Supplementary Education Business across the
PRC to capture the potential market opportunity. In addition, the
2025 Placing would broaden both the shareholder base and the
capital base of the Company thereby increasing the liquidity of the
Shares within a relatively shorter time frame and at a lower cost
compared with other means of fund raising.

To the best of the knowledge, information and belief of the Directors
and having made all reasonable enquiries, the placees and their
respective ultimate beneficial owner(s), as applicable, are parties
independent of the Company and not acting in concert with the
connected persons of the Company. None of the placees has
become a substantial Shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) immediately after completion of the 2025 Placing.
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The gross proceeds and net proceeds from the 2025 Placing
amounted to approximately HK$15.5 million and HK$15.2 million,
respectively. Details of the use of the net proceeds are as follows:

Total planned
amount
to be used

Use of net proceeds

Actual use of
net proceeds
up to

31 March 2025
BEE-ZE-HF

Unutilised
amount of

net proceeds
up to

31 March 2025
HE-ZE_RF

Expected timeline
for unutilised

net proceeds

as at

31 March 2025
R-B-H#FE

=ZRA=+-H
REAFGRE
AR 2 TR 2R

=ZA=+-A =A=t+-A
FBREREZ FMENEREZ
BERA%E KABASE

HK$' million HK$' million
BEAT BEBT

FEREREAR sTEIE R
HK$' million

BEBT

Expansion of the existing principal businesses 10.0 - 10.0  Expected to be fully
of the Group including the Financial Quotient utilised on or before
and Investment Education Business and the 31 December 2025
private supplementary education business

BRASERBIZEL  BEMHREEH BHR-Z=-hfF
BEBURFLEBHE £/ +ZA=+—H%

Z RIS
General working capital and administration 52 - 5.2 Expected to be fully
expenses utilised on or before
31 December 2025
—BeEES RITHAX BHR-Z=-hF
+ZA=+—H%
Z RIS
15.2 - 15.2

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM ISSUE OF CONVERTIBLE
BONDS

On 24 April 2024, the Company and each of Mr. Yip Long Brian, Ms. A =Z & A = +m A @ & Q5 BEERR 4%
Yeung Sum Yee, Ms. Christina Gaw, Ms. Cheung King Yu, Lauraand Ms. 4 « gL+« S &+ FSmct+RiE
Ching Hoi Ling (as the subscribers) entered into the relevant subscription  $l\ 244 ({E 528 A) & B 5] A RE R (4
agreement (collectively the “Subscription Agreements”). Pursuant to 78 [ 235 |) - IRIERE WS - ANA A K4
the Subscription Agreements, the Company conditionally agreed to  E&2¢7 >  MZBAB KGR SZEASBEE S
issue, and the subscribers conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the 15,000,000 7t~ ] #a & (& & ([ Al AR E ) -
convertible bonds (the “Convertible Bonds”) in the aggregate principal a7 705 i 14 1% 4] I8 (B G % 1.48 5 T i it
amount of HK$15,000,000, which may be converted into 10,135,134 /510,135,134 BRI IRER (D ©

conversion shares based on the initial conversion price of HK$1.48 upon

full conversion.
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The conversion shares would rank, upon issue, pari passu in all
respects with the Shares in issue on the date of allotment and issue
of the conversion shares. The market price of the conversion shares
was HK$1.82 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 24 April
2024, being the date of the Subscription Agreements. The aggregate
nominal value of such 10,135,134 conversion shares amounted to
approximately HK$5,068 based on par value of HK$0.0005 per Share.
Based on the net proceeds of approximately HK$14.8 million under the
issue of the Convertible Bonds, the net price per conversion share was
approximately HK$1.46 based on the initial conversion price.

On 11 June 2024, the Company issued Convertible Bonds in
the aggregate principal amount of HK$15,000,000 under the
special mandate granted by the Shareholders to the Board at the
extraordinary general meeting held on 31 May 2024. The maximum
number of 10,135,134 conversion shares upon conversion of the
Convertible Bonds at the initial conversion price of HK$1.48 per
conversion share represented approximately 2.3% of the total
number of issued shares as enlarged by the allotment and issue
of the conversion shares as at the date of issue of the Convertible
Bonds. These bonds carry an interest rate of 10% per annum with
the maturity date falling on 1 April 2025. The Convertible Bonds
are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and constitute direct,
unsubordinated, unconditional, and unsecured obligations of the
Company, ranking pari passu among themselves and at least pari
passu with other similar obligations. Bondholders are entitled to
convert their bonds into conversion shares at any time during the
conversion period, which is the period from the date of issue up to
the date immediately preceding the maturity date. The conversion
price is subject to adjustment upon certain events, including the
issue of Shares at a price less than 95% of the then market price.

Following the 2025 Placing completed on 19 March 2025, the conversion
price was adjusted from HK$1.48 to HK$1.47 per conversion share,
effective from 19 March 2025. Based on the adjusted conversion
price, the maximum number of conversion shares to be issued by
the Company upon full conversion of the Convertible Bonds will be
10,204,081 Shares, representing an additional 68,947 Shares from the
previous maximum number of 10,135,134 conversion shares at the
initial conversion price of HK$1.48 per conversion share. The aggregate
nominal value of such 10,204,081 conversion shares amounted to
approximately HK$5,102 based on par value of HK$0.0005 per Share.

Unless previously redeemed or converted, the Company shall
redeem the outstanding Convertible Bonds on the maturity date at
the redemption amount which shall equal to 100% of the principal
amount thereof outstanding, together with interest accrued thereon.
The Company does not have the right to redeem the bonds prior to
maturity, but bondholders have the right to require redemption upon
specific events stipulated in the terms and conditions, such as events of
default or a change of the single largest Shareholder. Interest is payable
upon the maturity date; however, no interest will be payable on any
Convertible Bonds in respect of which the conversion right has been
exercised and any interest accrued on such Convertible Bonds shall be
extinguished.
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As at 31 March 2025, none of the Convertible Bonds has been converted
or redeemed. Upon maturity, the Convertible Bonds in the principal
amount of HK$6,000,000 had been converted, and the Company had
redeemed the Convertible Bonds in the remaining principal amount of
HK$9,000,000 in full on 1 April 2025. Upon the said conversion, on 9 April
2025, the Company allotted and issued a total of 4,081,632 conversion
shares (representing approximately 0.9% of the total number of issued
shares as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the conversion shares)
at the conversion price of HK$1.47 per conversion share.

The Directors considered that the issuance of the Convertible Bonds is
a strategic move of the Company to attract high-profile subscribers as
the investors. Their commitment and confidence are a testament to the
Company’s credibility and long-term growth prospects, which is in turn
expected to attract further interests from investors, facilitate business
opportunities and vitalise the liquidity of the Shares listed on the GEM.
The Company will be able to further enhance the Group's profile and
diversify shareholding base of the Company.

To the best of the knowledge, information and belief of the Directors
and having made all reasonable enquiries, the subscribers and their
respective ultimate beneficial owner(s), as applicable, are parties
independent of the Company and not acting in concert with the
connected persons of the Company.

The gross proceeds and net proceeds from the issue of the Convertible
Bonds amounted to HK$15 million and approximately HK$14.8 million.
Details of the use of the net proceeds are as follows:

Use of net proceeds FrERIEFREAZE

Expansion of the existing principal
businesses of the Group including the
Financial Quotient and Investment
Education Business and the private
supplementary education business
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 9 April 2025, subsequent to the end of the reporting period,
the Company allotted and issued a total of 4,081,632 new ordinary
shares pursuant to the exercise of conversion rights attached to
the Convertible Bonds previously issued by the Company. The
new shares were issued in accordance with the terms of the bond
instrument constituting the Convertible Bonds.

On 1 June 2025, subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the
Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement with a third
party for the disposal of the entire issued share capital of Brilliant
Ever Global Limited at a total consideration of approximately
HK$10,000,000. The transaction is expected to be completed on 31
August 2025.

Saved as disclosed above and elsewhere in this annual report, the
Directors are not aware of any significant event requiring disclosure
that has taken place subsequent to 31 March 2025 and up to the
date of this annual report.

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms which are the same as the
required standard of dealings set out in Rule 5.48 to Rule 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules. The Company periodically issues notices to its
Directors reminding them of the general prohibition on dealing in
the Company’s listed securities during the blackout periods before
the publication of announcements of financial results. The Company
has confirmed, having made specific enquiry of the Directors, that all
the Directors have complied with the required standards of dealings
throughout the year. The Company was not aware of any non-
compliance during the year ended 31 March 2025.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out
in the “Corporate Governance Report” section of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors, the Directors confirm that the Company maintained the
amount of public float as required under the GEM Listing Rules.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee on 25 September
2014 with written terms of reference in compliance with the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on appointment or reappointment
and removal of external auditors; review financial statements of
the Company and judgement in respect of financial reporting;
oversee internal control procedures of the Company; and review risk
management and internal control system of the Group.

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee consists of 3
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Kim Fai
Eddie, Mr. Chung Chin Kwan and Mr. Chung Kwok Pan. Mr. Chan Kim
Fai Eddie is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Group's results for the year ended 31 March 2025 had been
reviewed by the Audit Committee before submission to the Board
for approval. The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31
March 2025 comply with applicable accounting standards, GEM
Listing Rules and that adequate disclosures have been made.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025
have been audited by Kenswick CPA, who will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the
reappointment of Kenswick CPA as auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the 2025 AGM.

By order of the Board
Yuen Yu Sum
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERERE

The Board has adopted various policies to ensure compliance with
the then prevailing code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code") under Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing Rules.
For the year ended 31 March 2025, save for the deviations as further
explained below, the Company has fully complied with all applicable
provisions of the CG Code. The Company will continue to enhance its
corporate governance appropriate to the conduct and growth of its
business and to review its corporate governance from time to time
to ensure they comply with the statutory and the CG Code and align
with the latest developments.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises eight members, of which two are
executive Directors namely Mr. Yuen Yu Sum and Mr. Chan Lap
Jin Kevin and three non-executive Directors namely Mr. Law Wing
Chung, Dr. Tang Sing Hing Kenny and Ms. Mak Louisa Ming Sze and
three are independent non-executive Directors namely Mr. Chan Kim
Fai Eddie, Mr. Chung Chin Kwan and Mr. Chung Kwok Pan.

Saved as disclosed in this annual report, to the best knowledge of
the Board, there is no relationship (including financial, business,
family or other material relationship(s)) among the Board members.

In accordance with the Memorandum and Articles of Association
(the "Articles of Association”), at each annual general meeting, one-
third of the Directors for the time being (or if their number is not a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least
once every three years and any director appointed to fill a causal
vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the
next following general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election at that meeting. The procedures and process
of appointment, re-election and removal of Directors are laid down in
the Articles of Association. The Nomination Committee is responsible
for reviewing the Board composition, considering and formulating
the relevant procedures for nomination and appointment of
Directors and monitoring the appointment and succession planning
of Directors and assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors.

46 Legendary Education Group Limited
Annual Report 2025

EXEECRMBSERE  ARRETGEM ETH
MAIBERC1 B R BRI ([REREAT
ADEFERNTAR -BE-FT_AF=H
=+ RLEFEE T2 mEERIN - AR
FlE2mETREEATRIMBERGEX - "2
A EERTECEERURASEEBNEER
BE S MR EMEER  AERAMR
ERNEAPIRERERTRNRE  BHEH
HRERRINER

Exg

EESAEX

BEERENB\EREMAK  ETREMEH
TER  MRMREERRIREE : ZEIFH
TEE  BEKBELE  HBREGERERFL
T AREREIFNTES  ARAIELE -
BRI R BER S «

BARFREREN  REFSMAN  EFEK
BrHBBEEMEAR(BEME X215 RBX
HisERBR)

RIBABERAMALAR(THASERAN D - R
BERRBEFARG L =9 — 2 EEE=(WE
EABUF=2EE MEAKEOIBTIN=
D—ZAB)RAHERE EREFRELE=
FRERBAFRE DRE—IR - BEMEEREN
EHBEERSEREFEREMANES &
FHEEARATREERAS XA EREZA
ELERET -EF2LE EEREBRMSRE
FRBREMABERMRTE - REZBEER
BEENEEgAN ZELRFIEREMEETES
WREREFAREREEZNREREEE LY
BB IFMITEER LI -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
(“CEO")

Under the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the
chairman and the CEO should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Mr. Yuen Yu Sum was appointed
as the chairman of the Board on 14 April 2021. The Board is in
the process of finding an appropriate person to fill the vacancy of
the CEO as soon as practicable. Meanwhile, the Board considers
that the existing Board members are able to share the power and
responsibilities of CEO among themselves.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director of his/her independence
pursuant to the requirements of the Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules for the year ended 31
March 2025.

Each of the independent non-executive Director has entered into
a service contract or an appointment letter (as the case may be)
with the Company for an initial term of one year and is subject to
termination provisions therein and retirement and re-election at the
annual general meetings of our Company in accordance with the
Articles of Association of the Company or any other applicable laws
from time to time whereby he/she shall vacate his office.

ROLE AND FUNCTION OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for overall management of the Group's
business, which assumes the responsibility for leadership and
control of the Group and is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Group by directing and supervising its affairs.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERERE

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board reserves for its decisions on all major matters of the
Group, including the approval and monitoring of major policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
Directors and other significant financial and operational matters.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of
the Group are delegated to the executive Directors and senior
management. The delegated functions and work tasks are reviewed
from time to time. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior
to any significant transactions entered into by the abovementioned
officers.

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of
business and financial expertise, experiences and independent
judgement to the Board.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) and revised in 2018 setting out the approach to
achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to enhance the
effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Company seeks to achieve
Board diversity through the consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
industry and regional experience. The ultimate decision will be based
on the merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring
to the Board.

All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy
from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

NOMINATION POLICY

The Company also adopted a nomination policy (The “Nomination
Policy”) on 31 December 2018. The purpose of the Nomination Policy
is to identify candidates who are suitable to become a member
of the Board and to make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of candidates nominated for directorships. The Board
shall be composed of members with balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to accomplish the Group's
business development, strategies, operation, challenges and
opportunities. The core criteria for selection include gender, age,
cultural and education background, professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and industry and regional experience, number
of directorship in other listed/public companies and in case of
independent non-executive Directors, the number of years they
have already served. According to the nomination procedure,
the Nomination Committee is responsible for identifying potential
new Directors and recommends to the Board for decision. The
appointment shall be subject to the approval by the Board in
accordance with the Articles of Association, the GEM Listing Rules
and the Nomination Policy.

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE DIRECTORS
All Directors have been given relevant guideline materials regarding
the duties and responsibilities of being a Director, the relevant laws
and regulations applicable to the Directors, duty of disclosure of
interests and business of the Group and such induction materials
will also be provided to the newly appointed Directors before
their appointment as Directors. All Directors have been updated
on the latest developments regarding the GEM Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirement to ensure compliance and
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
There is a procedure agreed by the Board to ensure Directors, upon
request, to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

Each of the Directors has confirmed that, during the year ended
31 March 2025, he/she has participated in continuous professional
development by attending seminars/in-house briefing/reading
materials to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills and
provided a record of training to the Company. These covered a broad
range of topics including Directors’ duties, corporate governance
and recent updates on the GEM Listing Rules.
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BOARD MEETINGS

Notice of at least 14 days have been given to all Directors for all
regular Board meetings and the Directors can include matters for
discussion in the agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying
Board papers in respect of regular Board meetings are sent out
in full to all Directors within reasonable time before the meeting.
Draft minutes of all Board meetings are circulated to Directors for
comment within a reasonable time prior to confirmation.

Minutes of Board meetings and Board committees meetings are
kept by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and
all Directors have access to Board papers and related materials, and
are provided with adequate information on a timely manner, which
enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed
before it.

NUMBER OF MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE
RECORDS

For the year ended 31 March 2025, 17 Board meetings were held,
out of which 4 were regular Board meetings for reviewing and
approving the financial and operating performance, and considering
and approving the overall strategies and policies of the Group. The
attendance records of each Director at the Board meetings and
Board committees’ Meetings are set out in the table below:

ERESVENMERRETE SRR 4B

e TENERESEERAEMEHESS
NHEARERANSRREAXZLBES - T
FEFEERNTRCHER  ERAKERANDN
BEBHEA  HEAREESEMUEKER -

ErxcemhEFRRe ek BE
HEFSZLAZENWENAGFE > MERE
EONRHESEX M RARNE - B2EsE
BREEMN  MEREFSAUNMAERENSEE
TEHAIERTE ©

EEVS 58

ARARRBEZZ-_AF=A=1+—HILFEH
BIOVVRESEEE  AP4RBERRESSS
o UEBERMEARSENT R EERE - MU
REBRIEREENEBRBERBKR SEF
REFSERENEETZECLRNLELEHT
U
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Executive Directors HiTE=S
Mr. Yuen Yu Sum RIRREE 1717 NATER NATER NATEE 33
Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin RUBLE 1717 NATER NATER NATEE 33
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Law Wing Chung Bk 1717 N/ATE R 202 202 33
Dr. Tang Sing Hing Kenny HESEt 1717 NATER NATER NATEE 33
Ms. Mak Louisa Ming Sze BRFEat 1417 N/ATER N/ANEFR N/ANER 3/3
Independent non-executive Directors ~ BIF#TES
Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie BEELE 1717 2/2 212 212 313
Mr. Chung Chin Kwan ERBAE 1717 2/2 212 212 313
Mr. Chung Kwok Pan ZENEE 1717 2/2 NATER NATEE 33
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BOARD COMMITTEE

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 25 September
2014 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules
5.28 and 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules. The written terms of
reference of the Audit Committee was adopted in compliance with
the code provision D.3.3 of the CG Code. On 31 December 2018,
the Board adopted a set of the revised terms of reference of the
Audit Committee in line with the GEM Listing Rules requirement.
The revised terms of reference setting out the Audit Committee’s
authority, duties and responsibilities are available on both the
GEM website and the Company’s website. The primary duties of
the Audit Committee, among other things, are to assist the Board
in overseeing and reviewing (i) the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems and regulatory
compliance of the Group; (i) the integrity of the Company’s financial
statements and application of accounting standards and significant
judgements contained in the financial statements; and (iii) the
relationship with the external auditors by reference to the work
performed by the auditors, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditors.

As at 31 March 2025, the Audit Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Kim Fai
Eddie, Mr. Chung Kwok Pan and Mr. Chun Chin Kwan. Mr. Chan Kim
Fai Eddie was the chairman of the Audit Committee. During the year
ended 31 March 2025, 2 meetings of Audit Committee were held
for, inter alia, reviewing the Group’s interim and annual results, the
financial reporting and compliance procedures, the risk management
and internal control systems, and considering the appointment of
auditors of the Company.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 25
September 2014 with written terms of reference in compliance
with the code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code. On 31 December
2018, the Board adopted a set of the revised terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee in line with the GEM Listing Rules
requirement. The terms of reference setting out the Remuneration
Ccommittee’s authority, duties and responsibilities are available on
both the GEM website and the Company’s website. The primary
duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make recommendation
to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and structure
relating to all Directors and senior management of the Group and
ensure none of the Directors determine their own remuneration. The
Remuneration Committee has adopted the operation model where it
performs an advisory role to the Board, with the Board retaining the
final authority to approve the remuneration packages of individual
Directors and senior management.

As at 31 March 2025, the Remuneration Committee consists of two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Kim Fai
Eddie, Mr. Chung Chin Kwan and one non-executive Director, Mr.
Law Wing Chung. Mr. Chung Chin Kwan was the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

Details of the remuneration of Directors are set out in Note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, 2 meetings of Remuneration
Committee were held for, inter alia, reviewing the remuneration
policy and structure and determining the annual remuneration
packages of the Directors and the senior management and
determining the annual remuneration packages of the newly
appointed Directors and senior management, if any.

Summary of matters relating to the Schemes reviewed
and/or approved by the Remuneration Committee
During the year ended 31 March 2025, an aggregate of 44,292,000
share options were granted (the “Grant”) to relevant grantees (the
“Grantees”), among which (i) a total of 9,372,000 share options were
granted to three Directors; (i) a total of 442,000 share options were
granted to a substantial shareholder; and (iii) a total of 34,478,000
share options were granted to other 15 employees, in accordance
with the terms of the 2023 Share Option Scheme.
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The Remuneration Committee has noted the purpose of the 2023
Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company to grant the
share options to eligible persons as incentives or rewards for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group and/or to recruit
and retain high calibre eligible persons and attract human resources
that are valuable to the Group. Having taken into account (i) the
demonstrated past contributions of the Grantees to the overall
operations, development and growth of the Group; (ii) the vesting
period (being 18 months from the date of grant) and vesting of the
share options will be conditional on the Grantees remaining as an
employee of the Group until and on the relevant vesting date; and
(iii) the value of the share options, being subject to the market price
of the Shares which in turn depends on the business performance of
the Group, the Remuneration Committee considered that the Grant
without additional performance target aligns the interests of the
Grantees with that of the Company and its shareholders by providing
the Grantees with incentives for their continuous commitments and
contributions towards the sustainable growth of the Group so as to
enhance the long term value of the Company and its shares, which
is in line with the purpose of the 2023 Share Option Scheme.

Saved as disclosed above, the Company did not make any grant of
share options to the directors and/or senior managers of the Group
as set forth in Rules 23.03F, 23.06B(7) and 23.06B(8) of the GEM
Listing Rules during the year ended 31 March 2025.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 25
September 2014 with written terms of reference in compliance
with the then prevailing code provision B.3.1 of the CG Code. On 31
December 2018, the Board adopted a set of the revised terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee in line with the GEM Listing
Rules requirement. The revised terms of reference setting out the
Nomination Committee’s authority, duties and responsibilities are
available on both the GEM website and the Company’s website.
The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on nomination and appointment of
Directors and Board succession, with a view to appoint to the Board
individuals with suitable experience and capabilities to maintain and
improve the competitiveness of the Company.

As at 31 March 2025, the Nomination Committee consists of two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Kim Fai
Eddie, Mr. Chung Chin Kwan and one non-executive Director, Mr.
Law Wing Chung. Mr. Chung Chin Kwan was the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.
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During the year ended 31 March 2025, 2 meetings of Nomination
Committee were held for, inter alia, considering the retirement and
re-election of the Directors and the appointment of the new Directors
and senior management, if any. The Nomination Committee has also
reviewed the Board Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness and
considered that the Group achieved the effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy during the year.

Compliance Committee

The Company established a compliance committee (the “Compliance
Committee”) with effect from 20 June 2022. The Compliance
Committee is responsible for overseeing the regulatory compliance
with all relevant rules and regulations applicable to the Company,
including but not limited to, the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the "GEM Listing Rules”),
the Securities and Futures Ordinance, and the Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (together, “Applicable Laws”).

The members of the Compliance Committee consist of two
independent non-executive Directors and one executive Director.
The Board has appointed Mr. Chung Chin Kwan, Mr. Chan Kim Fai
Eddie, both being independent non-executive Directors and Mr. Yuen
Yu Sum, being the chairman of the Board and an executive Director,
as members of the Compliance Committee. Mr. Chung Chin Kwan
has been appointed as the chairman of the Compliance Committee.

The terms of reference of the Compliance Committee are available
on the Company’s website at http://www.legendaryedu.com and the
Stock Exchange’s website at http://www.hkexnews.hk.

Investment Committee

The Company established an investment committee (the “Investment
Committee”) with effect from 11 June 2025. The Investment
Committee is responsible for strengthen the investment decision-
making and risk management process and enhance the efficiency
and quality for major investment decision-making.

The members of the Investment Committee consist of one executive
Director, one non-executive Director and one independent non-
executive Director. Mr. Yuen Yu Sum, an executive Director, has
been appointed as the chairman of the Investment Committee. Dr.
Tang Sing Hing Kenny, a non-executive Director, and Mr. Chung Chin
Kwan, an independent non-executive Director, have been appointed
as the members of the Investment Committee.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is also delegated with corporate governance functions
under the code provision A.2 of the CG Code. The Board has
reviewed and discussed the corporate governance policy of the
Group and is satisfied with the effectiveness of the corporate
governance policy.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group adopted the required standard of dealings set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding directors’ securities transactions of the Company. Upon
the Company'’s specific enquiry, each Director had confirmed that,
they had fully complied with the required standard of dealings and
there was no event of non-compliance for the year ended 31 March
2025.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the fees paid/payable to the
auditor of the Company, and its affiliate companies in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided by them to the Group were as
follows:
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Service rendered FriR BR 75 e ENERBT
Audit services =B RS 1,354,000
Total FEE 1,354,000

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board is responsible for the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
systems are designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable, but not absolute assurance against misstatement or
loss. Given the relatively simple corporate and operation structure,
the Group currently does not have an internal audit department.
The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group's strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems.
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The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
as well as overseeing the formation, implementation and monitoring
of the risk management and internal control systems. In addition, the
Group engages an independent professional advisor with the aim of
setting up and maintaining an effective internal audit function. The
independent professional advisor assists the Board and the Audit
committee in conducting an annual review of the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control system in various material aspects,
including strategic, financial, operational and compliance controls at
entity and operational levels.

The Group reviews the internal audit charter to define the scope,
duties and responsibilities and reporting protocol of the internal
audit function. The Group also conducts an annual risk assessment
to identify potential strategic risks, operational risks, financial
risks and compliance risks of its major business. The identified
risks are analysed, rated and prioritised based on the likelihood of
occurrence and their impacts on achieving corporate objectives.
Respective internal control measures are proposed to mitigate the
consequences of the potential risks to the Group. In last financial
year, a continuous three-year audit plan is devised upon the
results of the risk assessment and under a risk based approach.
According to the three-year internal audit plan devised in last
financial year, an annual internal control review project is executed
by the independent professional advisor with a view to assisting
the Board and the Audit Committee to evaluate the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems for the
year ended 31 March 2025. The risk assessment report, three-year
audit plan and internal control report are submitted and reviewed by
the Audit Committee at least once a year. Summary of findings and
recommendations are discussed at the Audit Committee meeting
with a view to improving the Group’s operations.

The Company has also formulated policies on handling and
dissemination of inside information that set out procedures in
handling inside information in a secure and proper manner and to
avoid mishandling of inside information of the Group.

The Board has received a confirmation from management on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board, through its Audit
Committee, with result of the annual internal control review project
executed by the independent professional advisor, is satisfied that
the Group's risk management and internal control systems (i) are
effective and adequate to meet the needs of the Group in its current
business environment; and (i) comply with the then prevailing code
provisions on internal control as set out in Appendix C1 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements of the Group and ensure
that the consolidated financial statements are prepared in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
generally accepted accounting standards in Hong Kong have been
adopted, appropriate accounting policies have been used and
applied consistently, and reasonable and prudent judgements and
estimates have been made. Having made appropriate enquiries, the
Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions which may cast significant doubt over the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the Board
has continued to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

The statement of external auditor of the Company, Kenswick CPA
Limited, about its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group is set out in the Independent
Auditor’'s Report.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Board recognises the importance of good communications
with all shareholders. The Company encourages two-way
communications with both its institutional and private investors.
A shareholder’s communication policy was adopted by the Board
on 25 September 2014 aiming at providing the shareholders and
potential investors with ready and timely access to balanced
and understandable information of the Company. Extensive
information about the Company’s activities is provided in its interim
report, quarterly reports and this annual report, which are sent
to shareholders of the Company. The AGM provides a valuable
forum for direct communication between the Board and the
Company'’s shareholders. The Board as well as Chairmen of the
Board committees together with the auditor will present to answer
shareholders’ questions. The circular of the AGM is distributed to
all shareholders at least 21 clear days before the meeting. Separate
resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each separate
issue and voting of which are taken by poll pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules. Any results of the poll are published on both the GEM
website and the Company'’s website. All corporate communication
with shareholders will be posted on the Company’s website for
shareholders’ information.
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The 2024 AGM was held on 27 September 2024 and two
extraordinary general meeting were held on 31 May 2024 and 2
January 2025 respectively. Saved as the attendance of the Board
disclosed under the paragraph headed “Number of Meetings and
Attendance Records” above, the auditor also attended the 2024
AGM to answer questions of the shareholders. The Company keeps
on promoting investor relations and enhancing communication
with the existing shareholders and potential investors. It welcomes
suggestions from investors, stakeholders and the public. Enquiries
to the Board or the Company may be sent by post to the Company’s
head office or by email to ir@legendaryedu.com.hk.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Subject to the approval of the shareholders and requirement of
the relevant law, the Company shall pay annual dividends to the
shareholders if the Group is profitable, operations environment is
stable and there is no significant investment or commitment made
by the Group. The Company does not have any pre-determined
dividend payout ratio and the Board has the sole direction as to the
declaration and payment of dividends. The dividend policy allows the
Company to declare special dividends from time to time in addition
to the annual dividends.

The Company’s ability to pay dividends will depend upon, among
other things, the Group’s current and future operations, financial
position, development pipeline, prevailing economic environment,
contractual restrictions, capital and other reserve requirements,
dividends received from the Company'’s subsidiaries and associates,
as well as any other conditions or factors which the Board deems
relevant and having regard to the Directors’ fiduciary duties.
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REMEDIAL MEASURES

The Company acknowledges and deeply regrets its inadvertent
non-disclosure of the information as required under Rules 23.07
and 23.09 of the GEM Listing Rules in the annual report for the year
ended 31 March 2024. To prevent recurrence of similar incident in
the future, the Company had implemented the remedial measures
as follows:

1. Provided the training and guidance materials relating to the
regulatory requirements applicable to the financial reporting
to the existing relevant staff of the Group (particularly those
responsible for the financial reporting functions) to strengthen
and reinforce their existing knowledge on the applicable GEM
Listing Rules;

2. Monitored the financial reporting process and commenced
the drafting work at an earlier stage (i.e. within a month after
the financial year ends) so as to ensure sufficient time for
preparation and comprehensive review of the disclosures
contained in the financial report(s) in compliance with the
applicable GEM Listing Rules;

3. Arranged external adviser(s) to review the disclosure of
the financial report(s) prior to publication to ensure strict
compliance with the applicable GEM Listing Rules.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary (“Company Secretary”) of the Company, Ms.
Fung Yuk Yiu (“Ms. Fung”), was appointed on 9 September 2021.
Ms. Fung is a member of Hong Kong Institute of certified Public
Accountants. The role of the Company Secretary is responsible for
facilitating the Board meeting process, as well as communications
among Board members, with shareholders and Management. During
the year ended 31 March 2025, Ms. Fung undertook not less than 15
hours of professional training to update her skills and knowledge.
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MANAGEMENT OF INSIDE INFORMATION

In order to promote transparency, accountability and responsibility
in respect of the operation of a listed company, and for the
maintenance of good corporate governance, the Company, assisted
by legal advisers and financial advisers, would notify the Stock
Exchange and make relevant disclosure to the public as soon as
practicable of any inside information of the Company pursuant to the
Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong).

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association, extraordinary
general meetings shall be convened on the written requisition of
any two or more shareholders’ holding, at the date of deposit of
the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company having the right of voting at general meetings. Such
requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the Company
Secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within 3
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at a
General Meeting

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or
the Company Secretary at the head office of the Company at 5/F,
World Interests Building, 8 Tsun Yip Lane, Kwun Tong, Hong Kong,
specifying the shareholding information of the shareholder, his/her
contact details and the proposal he/she intends to put forward at
general meeting regarding any specified transaction/business and its
supporting documents.
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Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries
to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquires and concerns
to the Board in writing through the Company Secretary at the
head office of the Company at 5/F, World Interests Building,
8 Tsun Yip Lane, Kwun Tong, Hong Kong or send email to
ir@legendaryedu.com.hk. Shareholders may also make enquiries
with the Board at the general meetings of the Company.

Constitutional Documents

Pursuant to Rule 17.102 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company has
published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange
its Memorandum and Articles of Association. During the Year, the
shareholder has passed resolution on 28 September 2023 approving
the adoption of second amended and restated Memorandum and
Articles of Association of the Company. Save as the aforesaid,
there has been no changes in the constitutional documents of the
Company.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B A BE R

KENSWICK

TO THE MEMBERS OF LEGENDARY EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Legendary
Education Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 71 to 249,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAS") as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B A BED R

REEEE
FRETFESRERMNEXEHNE - REYE
HPREMBREANETRAERNEE - %FF
FERMEGEEMBRABBETENALTKE
RHBERTETRE BT HZEFFRIEMHRE
BER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of loan receivables

As disclosed in notes 3.2 and 20 to the consolidated
financial statements, as at 31 March 2025, the carrying
amount of the Group's loan receivables, net of expected
credit loss (“ECL") allowance amounted to approximately
HK$90,122,000.

The assessment of ECL allowance for loan receivables
requires the application of significant judgment which
includes the identification of exposures with a significant
deterioration in credit quality, and assumptions used in
the ECL models, such as the probabilities of default, loss
given default, expected future cash flows and forward-
looking macroeconomic factors.

The assessment of ECL allowance of loan receivables
was based on independent valuations prepared by
qualified external valuers in accordance with recognised
industry standards.

We identified the estimated impairment assessment
of loan receivables as a key audit matter due to
the significant balance of loan receivables to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole and the
significant degree of management judgment involved in
recognising ECL allowance on loan receivables.

AT EEARETEE
FE il B KB BB R A

A A M EHRRMEI2 R 20 EE R -_RAF=A
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) BERESHE)

BRETEE
BN ETNNEEFARETSE

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of loan receivables
(Continued)

FE W B R RE R A ()

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment of  gtEWERHRETEM S RN EREFEE(HGb S
loan receivables included, amongst others, the following:  #&) ~%I|& 13 :

oz

Assessing the effectiveness of key controls over
the application of the impairment methodology,
the governance for the ECL models, inputs and
assumptions used by the Group in calculating the
ECL and the mathematical accuracy of the ECL
calculations;

Assessing the external valuers’ qualifications,
experience and expertise in assessing the expected
credit losses and considering their objectivity and
independence;

With the assistance of the valuation specialists
engaged by us, assessing the reasonableness
of the Group’s ECL models, including the model
inputs, model design, model performance and
calculations;

Assessing the reasonableness of the Group’s
criteria for assessing if there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the loan receivables;

Challenging whether historical experience is
representative of current circumstances and of
the recent losses incurred in the portfolios and
assessing the reasonableness of the forward-
looking adjustments;

Evaluating the Group’s assumptions on the
expected future cash flows, including the value
of realisable collateral based on available market
information; and

Reviewing the financial statements disclosures
relating to the Group's exposure to credit risk and
impairment assessment of loan receivables.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B A BED R

BARETERE)

BRETSEE
EMNETNNEEFARETSE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of goodwill

As disclosed in notes 3.2 and 17 to the consolidated
financial statements, as at 31 March 2025, the carrying
amount of the Group’s goodwill, net of impairment
amounted to approximately HK$161,344,000.

The Group’s assessment on impairment of goodwill
is a judgmental process which requires estimates
concerning the forecasted future cash flows associated
with the goodwill, the discount rates and the growth
rate of revenue and costs to be applied in determining
the value in use, and the fair value less cost of
disposal. The selection of valuation model, adoption
of key assumptions and input data may be subject to
management basis and changes in these assumptions
and input to valuation model may result in significant
financial impact. The impairment assessment of goodwill
was based on independent valuations prepared by
qualified external valuers in accordance with recognised
industry standards.

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill
as a key audit matter due to its significance to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole and the
involvement of a significant degree of judgment and
estimates made by the management of the Group when
performing impairment testing.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BARETERE)

BRETEE
BN ETNNEEFARETSE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of goodwill (Continued)

Our procedures in relation to evaluating the impairment
assessment of goodwill included, amongst others, the
following:

o Assessing the external valuers’ qualifications,
experience and expertise in assessing the
recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and
considering their objectivity and independence;

° Reviewing and assessing the management'’s
judgment used in the identification of cash-
generating units for annual impairment
assessment;

° With the assistance of the valuation specialist
engaged by us, challenging the assumptions
adopted in the impairment testing performed
by the management of the Group and the
independent valuers;

° Assessing the underlying data and assumptions
used in the discounted cash flows model, including
changes in the growth rate of revenue, gross
margin and discount rate employed;

o Evaluating the discount rates adopted in the
discounted cash flows model by reviewing its basis
of calculation and comparing the input data to
market sources, and

o Reviewing the potential impact of reasonably
possible downside changes in these key data and
assumptions.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group'’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the group as a basis
for forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
conseqguences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Fung Tze Wa.

Kenswick CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Fung Tze Wa

Practising Certificate Number P01138

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Revenue Wz

Cost of sales and services SHE RARFEA AR
Other income HAWA

Other gains and losses, net E b Was R EHRFRE
Selling and distribution costs SHE R SN AN
Administrative expenses THAX

Finance costs BF TR AR

Profit before taxation BRELATER

Income tax expenses FrisFif X

Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year

FREN R EEREEER

Profit and total comprehensive T 5| A & fE{5 & A5 F
income for the year R2HEKREEE:
attributable to:

— Owners of the Company — AREHERA

— Non-controlling interests — JEIE R

Earnings per share SREF

— Basic — &R

— Diluted —EE

REBERREMEEIKER

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z_RAF=A=+—BLFE

2025 2024
—E_RF —E PO
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FETT
343,162 284,595
(156,343) (124,016)
186,819 160,579
1,658 2,742
(1,825) 3,248
(27,090) (20,479)
(104,285) (85,624)
(7,246) (2,393)
48,031 58,073
(8,226) (10,962)
39,805 47 111
37,078 45,598
2,727 1,513
39,805 47,111
HK cent HK cent
AL il
11.18
10.80
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e PRI &R

At 31 March 2025
R-Z-_RF=A=+—8

2025 2024
—E_RF —E_OF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M et TFET FETT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment mE - WmENLEE 15 23,697 24,989
Intangible assets mERE 16 315 510
Goodwill RS 17 161,344 177,764
Interest in an associate REE SN TRk 18 - -
Loan receivables U E R 20 643 1,105
Prepayments and deposits TBNFRIERES 19 3,902 2,436
189,901 206,804
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables B 5N H W IE 19 90,168 106,108
Loan receivables fEWE R 20 89,479 39,891
Financial assets at fair value through &2 F(EE AlBz 8
profit or loss TREE 21 15,173 13,383
Cash and cash equivalents B RESEEY 22 129,177 68,222
323,997 227,604
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables and accruals HEb eI RE R ERT B A 23 19,484 17,780
Contract liabilities SHBaE 24 14,717 28,236
Bank borrowing HRITEE 25 4,118 4,682
Lease liabilities HEAE 26 11,542 11,938
Tax payable FEfI R 6,165 9,032
Provision for litigation FFEAR 27 1,735 1,735
Convertible bonds Al IR (E S 29 15,000 -
72,761 73,403
Net current assets RBEEFE 251,236 154,201
Total assets less current EEAERABERE
liabilities 441,137 361,005
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ma MBERR &

At 31 March 2025

RZE-_RAF=A=+—H

2024

HK$'000
TAET

Non-current liabilities kRBERE

Other payables H b fE A A 23 4,262 24,409
Lease liabilities HEAE 26 5,399 3,692
Deferred tax liabilities RIEIESE 28 385 524
10,046 28,625
Net assets EEFE 431,091 332,380
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital e 30 228 210
Reserves & 427,290 331,129
Equity attributable to owners of NAEIHEB ANELER
the Company 427,518 331,339
Non-controlling interests FEERER 3,573 1,041
Total equity B 431,091 332,380

The consolidated financial statements on pages 71 to 249 were  F71BZEF249ENGATBREN T _AF
approved by the Board of Directors on 27 June 2025 and were signed ~AZ+tREEZEZSHE - WH NIEERR

on its behalf by: BE -
Yuen Yu Sum Chan Lap Jin Kevin
RAR BRI B
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
MERRBER

For the year ended 31 March 2025

BE_Z_AF=A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company
KOTREAEL
Share option
and award Accumulated Non-controlling
Share capital  Share premium  Special reserve  share reserves  Other reserve profits Sub-total interests Total

ERER
[ RERE  2ARGAE Efie : N FERER it
HK$'000 HKS'000: HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HKS 000
T SF7 T A7 Thn ir.7 Tin ir.7 7
(note (a) below)  (note (b) below)  (note (c) below) ~ (note (d) below)
(PRM@) (M) (FEC)  (FAE()

AT Apri 2023 RZFZZEmA-A w 87673 B8 1079 13 121410 25280 (i) %248

Proftand fotal comprehensiveinoome.— FREFIRZENELE
forthe year - - - - - 15598 15,59% 1513 i

Issug of shares under the October 023 BE-E-=E+A%ERG

Avard Shares note 3001 BARR 060 2 5461 - (489 - - - - -
Bvercise of March 2021 Share Optonsand. 7 ~5——E= AERER

Qctober 2022 Shere Options CECCERERE

(notes 3001 (it 20810) 1t 31507 - (3%1) - - o5 - oy

Recogriton of equitysetfed under share BB REDRATH
ontions and award Shares arrangements BT 2 IRERE (W3
(note 31)

AL March 2024 and 1 Aprl 2004 RoFIRE=A=+-H
R-E-MEMA-A 124,644 ! ! ) 167,068 331339 332,380

Proftand fofal comprehensiveinoome.— FREFIRSENELE
for the year 37,078 37,078 . 39,805

Acquistion of on-controling nterest WS RiER
Iote e eow) (Fike) : (1806) ' U
Erercise of October 022 Share Options. 78 -B-—E+ RBRE
Iotes 001 (30 : 1507 1507
Plcing o e sees BEFRH : 548 45448
Recogniion of equitysetled under share  BERBRERZERATH
ootions &nd award Shares arrangements I,ETZHﬂEﬁmWEJi/

(note 31) 13952 13952 13952
Dhidend pad tononcontrolingnterest 23 ARERNRS - - ) (2,000
Share option apsed BREN (1,001 = :

AL 31 March 2005 RZEZREZR=T-R s 21431 19,321 430 203,34 41,518 ) 431,091
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Notes:.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share premium

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium account of the Company is distributable to the shareholders
of the Company provided that immediately following the date on which
a dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a
position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

Special reserve

The special reserve represented the difference between the nominal
amount of the share capital and share premium of a former subsidiary
of the Company and the nominal amount of the share capital issued by
the Company pursuant to a group reorganisation in prior years.

Share option and award share reserves

The share option/award share reserves represent equity reserve
arising from equity-settled share option/award share expenses under
share option/award share schemes of the Company provided to
certain directors, employees and others.

Other reserve

The other reserve arose from the waiver of loan from a controlling
shareholder of the Company in previous years.

Acquisition of a minority interest

On 18 March 2025, the Group acquired the remaining minority interest
in 31 Edutech Limited for a consideration of HK$1,000.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025

HE-_Z-_FF=A=1+—HBLFE

2025 2024
—EB_RE —E_OF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FET
Operating activities RETEE
Profit before taxation BR A% A& A 48,031 58,073
Adjustments for: MUTEBETRE
Amortisation of intangible assets mEERE 195 195
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BENMRETE
equipment 21,749 20,843
Finance costs EA SRR AR 7,246 2,393
Interest income SN ON (V4:10)] (585)
Net gains arising from acquisition of R A dT S RN B A T8
subsidiaries in prior years WzkiF5a (9.809) (6,778)
Changes in fair value on other financial & A F(EE AR
assets at FVTPL, net HivemEE 2
NEEEE)FE 753 237
Loss on disposal of other financial assets &N FEE ABZHH
at FVTPL Hit & m&ERER 1,653
Impairment losses under expected TEEEEEE T HRERE
credit losses, net of reversal MR 1,640
Impairment of goodwill [EENEAE -
Gain on convertible bonds at FVTPL AT ER ABEA TR
BEH 2 W -
Net gain on disposal of property, plant HEME  BEMEEN
and equipment W F 5 -
Equity-settled under share option and BRENRERRNZHETZ
award share arrangements WigstE 5,314
Operating cash flows before HEESEBA 2 KE
movements in working capital HERE 82,985
Decrease (increase) in trade and other B 5 % H bl sk IE R > (38 h0)
receivables (48,260)
(Increase) decrease in loan receivables U E Z (8 hn) 1,127
Increase in financial assets at fair value & A FEF AR SR EE
through profit or loss #hn (3,056)
Increase (decrease) in other payables and  E fib &~ 518 & fE 5t
accruals BAMORD) (8,107)
Decrease in contract liabilities AWaERd (5,020)
Cash generated from operations REMBRE 19,669
Income tax paid ERFTEH (8,546)
Net cash generated from operating K& EZEFMERESTH
activities 11,123
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Investing activities
Interest received

Proceeds from disposal of property,

plant and equipment

Payments for purchase of property,

plant and equipment

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025

BE T -_AF=-A=+—HIFE

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities

Repayments of lease liabilities
Repayments of bank borrowing
Repayment of promissory note

Dividend paid to the minority shareholders
Proceeds from convertible bonds
Proceeds from placing of shares
Proceeds from exercise of share options

Net cash generated from
financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash

equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of

the year

Analysis of balances of cash and cash &R BESEEYWEH I

equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the
consolidated statement of cash flows,
represented by cash and bank balances

2025 2024
—E-RF —E
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHETT
RETH
B UF S 750 585
HEME - BE REER
Frig 08 214 -
BEWE  BENMEEZMNR
(2,433) (1,317)
RETBFFARSTFE (1,469) (732)
BEEE
EEHEERE (17,018) (15,328)
EERITEE (681) (466)
BB ER (2,446) (2,511)
B DERERRE (2,000) -
AR EHFH TSR 15,000 -
B AR 1D M T 15 508 45,448 -
TT{E R AR A P15 FUE 1,507 27,537
BETBFERSTE
9,232
RERRESEEYIEMEE
19,623
FUESRELEEY
48,599
ERASRBASZEY
129,177 68,222
BABERERTAIIRD
ReERBRESEEY -
B8 & MIRTTAE 84 129,177 68,222
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Fale)

PSR R ML

For the year ended 31 March 2025

BHE—

78

“hHE=ZA=+t—HLEE

GENERAL

Legendary Education Group Limited (the "Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability on 5 June 2014 under the Companies Law,
Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands and its shares were listed on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on
10 October 2014. The addresses of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
Corporate Information section to the annual report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial
Statements.

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in
the Group are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). These consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HK$") which is the
Company's functional and presentation currency, and all
value are rounded to the nearest thousand HK$ except where
otherwise indicated.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current
year
In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual
period beginning on or after 1 April 2024 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback
Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5

Amendments to HKAS 1

(2020)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance
HKFRS 7 Arrangements

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRKMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BHE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIFE
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)
Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of
financial statements (the 2020 and 2022
amendments, collectively the “HKAS 1
amendments”)

The HKAS 1 amendments impact the classification of a
liability as current or non-current, and have been applied
retrospectively as a package.

The 2020 amendments primarily clarify the classification of
a liability that can be settled in its own equity instruments. If
the terms of a liability could, at the option of the counterparty,
result in its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own equity
instruments and that conversion option is accounted for as an
equity instrument, these terms do not affect the classification
of the liability as current or non-current. Otherwise, the
transfer of equity instruments would constitute settlement of
the liability and impact classification.

The 2022 amendments specify that conditions with which an
entity must comply after the reporting date do not affect the
classification of a liability as current or non-current. However,
the entity is required to disclose information about non-current
liabilities subject to such conditions.

Upon the adoption of the HKAS 1 amendments, the Group has
reassessed the classification of its liabilities as current or non-
current, and concluded that no reclassification was required.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)
New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been
issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and  Amendments to the

HKFRS 7 Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and  Contracts Referencing Nature-
HKFRS 7 dependent Electricity®

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture!

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Annual Improvements
to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 113

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements?
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures?

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027.

Except as described below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all new and amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards will have no material impact
on the results and the financial position of the Group in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRKMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BHE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIFE
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)
New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements,
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures
in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard,
while carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1,
introduces new requirements to present specified categories
and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide
disclosures on management-defined performance measures in
the notes to the financial statements and improve aggregation
and disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the
financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs
have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor amendments
to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings per
Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with early application permitted. The application of
the new standard is expected to affect the presentation of
the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the future
financial statements. The Group is in the process of assessing
the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

Legendary Education Group Limited
Annual Report 2025

FERFIEBMBREENSHE
RIRAERT A (40)
CHEMERMRERZHT BB
HEZEUSTTERBIT A @)

ERMBHREERNE18RUBRRZ
2 RIKE
BEMBREENF 18RI BHRERZET
NI FTARE W RR P HDITR IR EEN -
HMRERBEFERNF 1R HRERZZ
5l o FZIRFTR] BB ME EREFHER
RAEERBEBGHEAFIRNTZERA
B SIARBRRTE2REETEILESE
PNETROFRE SR R BRI TR RREE
BEETRNRAERIKE  TRERH
BRTPEFEEFEBRDFAR © Bo
ETEBGHENE1RNRECBRES
BEEANESFREBMBREERE7
5o HEBEFERETRRNERERNE
B e ERIEBRERBH IETEE
] e

BB RE LR FE 1850 R H A ERIEE
AR T tF—A—H &M%
WEZIMER  WATIRAER - Eat
ERFEAE T ERRMBEREPERER
BB HMIEFE - AEEIEEFERETS
WEERF1SFE A EESRETHHRED

e ymes
AR o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZEMBHRRNGEREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL FTHERER
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated 3.1 REMBRRNEHESE

financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information
is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by
primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“GEM Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
financial instruments which are measured at fair values
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRKMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technigue. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair
value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories
or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

Material Accounting Policy Information
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZEMBHRRNGEREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STEERER (8)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXEFBERER (B

(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassess whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRKMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Changes in the Group's interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying
amounts of the Group's relevant components of equity
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the
Group and the non-controlling interests according to the
Group's and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or 0SS is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRS Accounting Standards).
The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS
9") or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of
an investment in an associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZEMBHRRNGEREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STEERER (8)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXEFBERER (B

(Continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or l0ss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the
definitions of an asset and a liability in the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in October
2010.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements,
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits, respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 Inventories at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy below);
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at
the present value of the remaining lease payments
(as defined in HKFRS 16 Leases) as if the acquired
leases were new leases at the acquisition date.
Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured
at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared with market
terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at
acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interest that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event
of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZEMBHRRNGEREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STEERER (8)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXEFBERER (B

(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group
in a business combination includes a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration
is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included
as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period
adjustments are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement
period adjustments are adjustments that arise from
additional information obtained during the “measurement
period” (which cannot exceed one year from the
acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that
existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured
to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition
date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9
would be accounted for on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.

EBEH(E)

WA ARBERELA GHEROR
BEREBEHIARELE  RSAKER
HYBERHWAFEFE - WRIER
EBAMTEEREN—FD - &
BT ENRARERNAARENR
FEZEEEPTREE - STEHHEH
ERR [HHEHE] (TEREE WS
B EGES — ) st IR B BT HY
EENERAFTESEMERELNT

# o

PIEERFTEHRBBRER ZRA
REZHERSFTRE  BURR AR
BIA DM - DBRRESNWIANE
RERREAMTEENE  HR
BENEaNETARRE - 285
BESABEZIAKNERERRER
HBHFEEQFE - MERKE
ERTINBE P RER o

EEBAIERER  KAEBEBE
FAZ BT AR W iE B
(BNAEEESEIEE B) EFTE
EQFE MAEEZKEKER
(anA) AR iR s s B b 2 T U &S (11
M) PRERR o UE B HIRT B R4
WEFREEBBEIENEMEE
Yas s R I IR IEE B B 75 i s ZE R
FIORAEZESH  BRAKEER
HEZ A E 2 BRIEFR R AR ESE
518k -

BERYEEBERATR 89
2025 F 3



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z_AF=A=+—HLFE

90

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
retrospectively during the measurement period (see
above), and additional assets or liabilities are recognised,
to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at
that date.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses, unless it is classified as held for sale
(or included in a disposal group classified as held for
sale).

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger that an operating segment.
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e BRRME
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZEMBHRRNGEREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STEERER (8)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXEFBERER (B

(Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when there
is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period,
the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting, except when
the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as held
for sale, in which case it is or the portion so classified is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. Any
retained portion of an investment in an associate that
has not been classified as held for sale continues to be
accounted for using the equity method. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. Appropriate adjustments
have been made to conform the associate’s accounting
policies to those of the Group. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are not accounted for unless such changes resulted in
changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds
the Group's interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group's net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZEMBHRRNGEREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STEERER (8)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXEFBERER (B

(Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss
in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised
is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STERERER (B
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXEFHRER &)
(Continued)
Investments in associates (Continued) REEARNIRE (&)
When the Group ceases to have significant influence EAEBETEEBENRREAEAY
over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of BN 2 ARIEREREIRER
the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain RS TEE 2 BENESE
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When the R BAREERBNAGE AR
Group retains an interest in the former associate and the #w o BZRBERASDAMBHmEE
retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of A REEAN s eMEER « A%
HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest at EenzBRATEFEREER
fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its Mz A FEEE LRV ZERE 2 A
fair value on initial recognition. The difference between FHE o Bt ARl BREE R AR E
the carrying amount of the associate and the fair value e R E RS A RIEARER 2 A
of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing FIBREz A FEZENERE 2R
of the relevant interest in the associate is included in EBErLEBRE AR CBEBHELNA -
the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the AN AEBEEHBAFNEME2ER
associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts AWZE S R RIER 2 A R BIRZ
previously recognised in other comprehensive income B NmEELEREEERAGRT
in relation to that associate on the same basis as would FHZ@H%/%)\E% Eit - ez
be required if that associate had directly disposed of the AERAREMEEP AR ZES
related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss ERHERBEEXBERENSHE
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by D AAEEGREE S5
that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on =Rl ﬁMAjTéH—JEZ@EﬁEﬁH%\
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group Mo ERER EREFMHERHE) -
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss
(as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial
disposal of the relevant associate.
When a group entity transacts with an associate of the EEEEREANER AR EQTE
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions IR G - MZEE N R FMESE
with the associate are recognised in the consolidated BRGNP SRR ER - HEE
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the VARRES & A B BN & (B A B 2 fE e P
associate that are not related to the Group. HERBR o
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZEMBHRRNGEREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STEERER (8)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXEFBERER (B

(Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when
an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture
becomes an investment in an associate. There is no
remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in
ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the
proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to
that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of
the related assets or liabilities.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the
same.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group's performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group's unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZEMBHRRNGEREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STEERER (8)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXEFBERER (B

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations
(including allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligations, the Group allocates the transaction price to
each performance obligation on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the services underlying
each performance obligation is determined at contract
inception. It represents the price at which the Group
would sell a promised services separately to a customer.
If a stand-alone selling price is not directly observable,
the Group estimates it using appropriate techniques
such that the transaction price ultimately allocated
to any performance obligation reflects the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
in exchange for transferring the promised services to the
customer.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement

of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of services

A portion of the Group’s financial quotient and
investment education seminars services income is
recognised under output method. Output method is
used when determining progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation of the courses
and programs, which is to recognise revenue on the
basis of direct measurements of the value of services
transferred to the customers to date relative to the
remaining services promised under the contract, that
best depict the Group's performance in transferring
control of services.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZEMBHRRNGEREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STEERER (8)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXEFBERER (B

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers BEFEEHWE (&)

(Continued)

Principal versus agent ;?EA,%J‘/JC‘E_’A

When another party is involved in providing goods or — S RARFREEER iﬂﬁﬁ%

services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation
to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the
Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or
services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group
is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified goods
or services before that goods or services are transferred
to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is
to arrange for the provision of the specified goods or
services by another party. In this case, the Group does
not control the specified goods or services provided
by another party before that goods or services are
transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as
an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any
fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled
in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.

Further details of the Group’s revenue recognition
policies are as follows:

() Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products. If the
products are a partial fulfilment of a contract
covering other goods and/or services, then the
amount of revenue recognised is an appropriate
proportion of the total transaction price under
the contract, allocated between all the goods and
services promised under the contract on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Principal versus agent (Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue recognition
policies are as follows: (Continued)

(i) Provision of financial quotient, investment
education and private supplementary courses
Revenue is recognised when the courses are
provided and the customers have confirmed
the acceptance of services. For those contracts
granted the customers with access to the courses
delivered by same tutor through out the contract
period, revenue is recognised over the contract
period on a systemic-basis.

(i) Interest income from loans receivables

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under
the effective interest method using the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.
For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e.
gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the
asset.

Further information about the Group’s accounting
policies relating to revenue from contracts with
customers is provided in note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains
a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 Leases
at inception of the contract. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZEMBHRRNGEREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STEERER (8)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXEFBERER (B

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone
prices.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of property, plant and equipment
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for
lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term
leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received,

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property,
plant and equipment”, the same line item within which
the corresponding underlying assets would be presented
if they were owned.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option
to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

J the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review/
expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

a lease contract is modified and the lease
modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease (see below for the accounting policy for “lease
modifications”).

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability,
less any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZEMBHRRNGEREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STEERER (8)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXEFBERER (B

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of use asset.

When the modified contract contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

The Group as lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at commencement date
at amounts equal to net investments in the leases,
measured using the interest rate implicit in the respective
leases. Interest income is allocated to accounting periods
S0 as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the
Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the
leases.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZBEMBHRRNGREEREKRS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STEERER (#)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXEFHRER &)

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessor (Continued)

Classification and measurement of leases (Continued)
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term except for investment properties
measured under fair value model.

Interest and rental income which are derived from the
Group's ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers ("HKFRS 15") to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease
components. Non-lease components are separated from
lease component on the basis of their relative stand-
alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.
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e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZEMBHRRNGEREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STEERER (8)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXEFBERER (B

(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
entities are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation), all
of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the owners of
the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

On disposal of a group entity that is not a foreign
operation, the exchange differences accumulated in
equity relating to translation of assets and liabilities of
that group entity into presentation currency of the Group
are transferred to retained profits.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation
of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the year in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
PRC state-managed retirement benefits schemes are
charged as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion
of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave
and sick leave) after deducting any amount already paid.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZEMBHRRNGEREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STEERER (8)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXEFBERER (B

(Continued)

Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

Share options/award shares granted to employees
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the
fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.
The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-
settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest,
with a corresponding increase in equity.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments expected
to vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to share options/share
award reserve.

For share options/award shares that vest immediately
at the date of grant, the fair value of the share options/
share award granted is expensed immediately to profit or
loss.

When share options/award shares are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share options/share
award reserve will be transferred to share premium.
When share options/award shares are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share options/share
award reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VB HwRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BHE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

Shares held under the share award scheme

Own equity instruments which are reacquired or issued
(shares held under the Share Award Scheme) are
recognised at cost and deducted from equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’'s own equity
instruments. Any difference between the carrying
amount and the consideration is recognised in equity.
The number of shares held by the trustee under the
share award scheme would be eliminated against
the corresponding amount of share capital issued
in the calculation of the earnings per share for profit
attributable to owners of the Company.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the current
and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before
taxation” as reported in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZEMBHRRNGEREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STEERER (8)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXEFBERER (B

(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VB HwRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BHE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZEMBHRRNGEREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STEERER (8)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXEFBERER (B

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings
held for use in the production or supply of goods, or
for administrative purposes (other than construction
in progress as described below) are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment (other than
construction in progress) less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

The items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates
per annum:

Furniture and equipment ~ 20% per annum

Office equipment 20%—-33% per annum

Leasehold improvements  Over the remaining term
of the lease or 5 years,
whichever is shorter

Motor vehicles 20%-33% per annum
Leasehold properties Over the term
leased for own use of the leases

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over
their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned
assets. However, when there is no reasonable certainty
that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease
term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the
lease term and their useful lives.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VB HwRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BHE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit
or loss.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of five years. The estimated useful
life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that
are acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses,
being their fair value at the date of the revaluation
less subsequent accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which
is regarded as their cost).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZEMBHRRNGEREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STEERER (8)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXEFBERER (B

(Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination (Continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful
lives are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses, on the same
basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets, other than
goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if
any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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5

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets, other than
goodwill (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment 10ss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZEMBHRRNGEREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STEERER (8)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXEFBERER (B

(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include: (a)
cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject
to regulatory restrictions that result in such balances
no longer meeting the definition of cash; and (b) cash
equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally
with original maturity of three months or less), highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for
the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments
rather than for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
Such overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Bank balances for which use by the Group is subject to
third party contractual restrictions are included as part of
cash unless the restrictions result in a bank balance no
longer meeting the definition of cash.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Provisions (Continued)

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of
money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZEMBHRRNGEREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STEERER (8)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXEFBERER (B

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form
an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest/dividend income which are derived from the
Group's ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBEBRRNGREEREASE
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ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXEFHRER &)
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(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

] the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), except that
at initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair
value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for
trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)
In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.

0

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments/receivables subsequently measured
at FVTOCI. For financial instruments other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
assets, interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired. For
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z_AF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair value
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the other reserve; and are not
subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative
gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss
on disposal of the equity investments, and will be
transferred to accumulated profits/losses.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss includes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other gains
and losses” line item.

1 2 2 Legendary Education Group Limited
Annual Report 2025
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZEMBHRRNGEREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STEERER (8)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXEFBERER (B

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables, loan receivables,
deposits and bank balances), which are subject to
impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade
receivables and measures the lifetime ECL on each
debtor individually based on the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group under the contract and the cashflows
that the Group expects to receive, with the consideration
of forward-looking information.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the 10ss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZEMBHRRNGEREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STEERER (8)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXEFBERER (B

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria are
generally not recoverable:

o when there is a breach of financial covenants by
the counterparty; or

o information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in
full (without taking into account any collaterals held
by the Group).

Also, the Group considers that default has occurred when
the instrument is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z_AF=A=+—HLFE

20

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial assets have been
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

Significant financial difficulty of the issuer of the
borrower; or

o A breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event; or

o The lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

o It is becoming probably that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed
under liguidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over two years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
when appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised
in profit or loss.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBEBRRNGEREEREASE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STERERER (8

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXEHBERERN )

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.
The Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are considered on
a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward-looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRKM T
For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-_T_AF=A=1+—HLHFE
3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBEBRRNGREEREASE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STERERER (B
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXEFHRER &)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) SRMIA#E)
Financial assets (Continued) EHEEE)
Derecognition of financial assets RILERT A E
The Group derecognised a financial asset only when AEEREEEERSRZALER
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the assets [Emr s E e rEE R BEMRAE
expire or, when it transfers the financial asset and HIBARE D E s R EmEREEME
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the BERNEIIER-IESREE -
asset to another entity.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference RERILEREMEER  BEFREE
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the HE W RERREZ 5 BN ERE
consideration received and receivable is recognised in RIBZAER o
profit or 10ss.
Financial liabilities and equity TREERER
Classification as debt or equity DHEBEF S m
Debt and equity instruments that are issued are classified BT EBRRATATRESH
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance ZHsAREEBABEERATAZ
with the substance of the contractual arrangement EESEASHAMGHRERA -
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.
Equity instruments RIETA
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a RETADEEBEENRAEMEAE
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting ZTU?M&%;%EHZ&HAZ’J REE
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group 112 it TR YR E WERFT1S /IR
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct ?DB,%E&%HEJZZMEW °
iSsue costs.
Financial liabilities at amortised cost LB A SRR ) 2 B B E
The Group's financial liabilities including trade and other REENERBE(REES RHAMm
payables, convertible bonds and bank borrowings are FERTFRIE - TR EF U RBITE
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the B) H1a 5B E R AR H KRR
effective interest method. FrE o
Derecognition of financial liabilities BILTEREHAE
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and g2 HESTEENETERR - T
only when, the Group's obligations are discharged, HEWRE - NEBEFSRIEERSH
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the BE ERIEReHBEZREE
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised HE A REMREZ Z5N B
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in R o
profit or 10ss.
1 2 8 Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZEMBHRRNGEREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STEERER (8)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXEFBERER (B

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payments when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract
liabilities are measured initially at their fair values. It is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

o the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

o the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
over the guarantee period.

Convertible bonds

The component parts of the convertible loan notes
are classified separately as financial liability and equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument. A conversion option that
will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of
cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of
the Company’s own equity instruments is an equity
instrument.

At the date of issue, both the debt and derivative
components (derivative financial instruments) are
recognised at fair value. In subsequent periods, the
debt component of the convertible bonds is carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. The
derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

EWMITRH)

EEREEE#E (F)

MBERER
HMBRRAOTIREZLARREA
SRS - AMEREABRE
FEREARERBES TEGKNE
RN RMRZNER - BIFERE
WEBEMFRENTEAE - BRI
ATEEEE

o REBEMBHREEIFEINR
EENERBBESE &

o  UIFHRETRM(WER)RE
REANFER ) RAHEESS

A R AR (B 25

R EFRRE ARSI RIBEEL
ZHZABAREHBEREZTH
ZEREBORATRAGBEE -
BEESAE TSRS RS —HE
RMEELREEHE ZARR AL
@mTRZIAGES  UnERERT
o

RETEH BEBETETAISD
(PTEEMITER) AR TERR - KE
B - TR ESNEEE S RE
BERM IR AARR - 11452
BITANARFEFE  MAFEED
RIBEHER o

BESEENARAT
2025 F 1 29



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z_AF=A=+—HLFE

130

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Convertible bonds (Continued)

A conversion option classified as equity is determined
by deducting the amount of the liability component from
the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole.
This is recognised and included in equity, net of income
tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In
addition, the conversion option classified as equity will
remain in equity until the conversion option is exercised,
in which case, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to share premium. Where the conversion
option remains unexercised at the maturity date of the
convertible bonds, the balance recognised in equity will
be transferred to accumulated losses. No gain or l0ss is
recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration
of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
bonds are allocated to the debt and derivative components
in proportion to their relative fair values. Transaction
costs relating to the derivative component are charged
to profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs relating to
the debt component are included in the carrying amount
of the debt portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible bonds using the effective interest method.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(i) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:
(1) has control or joint control over the Group;
(2)  has significant influence over the Group;

(3) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(i) An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies:

(1) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

(2) One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

(3)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(4) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

(5)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

(6)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (i) above.

(7) A person identified in (i)(1) above has
significant influence over the entity or is a
member of the key management personnel
of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(8) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

() that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Ccompany’s executive directors (i.e. the chief operating
decision maker of the Group) for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance
of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share
a majority of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3.2, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgment, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following is the key assumption concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
units (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill has
been allocated, which is the higher of the value in use or fair
value less costs of disposal of each of the cash-generating
units.

The value in use calculations require the Group to estimate the
future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating
unit (or a group of cash-generating units) and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected, or change
in facts and circumstances which results in downward revision
of future cash flows or upward revision of discount rate, a
material impairment loss or further impairment loss may arise.
Furthermore, the estimated cash flows and discount rate are
subject to higher degree of estimation uncertainties.

As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025, details of the carrying
amount and impairment assessment of goodwill are set out in
note 17.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Impairment allowances of ECL on loan receivables
The measurement of impairment losses under HKFRS 9
across all categories of financial assets requires judgment, in
particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of future
cash flows and collateral values when determining impairment
losses and the assessment of a significant increase in credit
risk. These estimates are driven by a number of factors,
changes in which can result in different levels of allowances.

The Group's ECL calculations are outputs of complex models
with a number of underlying assumptions regarding the choice
of variable inputs and their interdependencies. Elements of
the ECL models that are considered accounting judgment and
estimates include:

. The Group's internal credit grading model, which assigns
probabilities of default to the individual grades;

° The Group's criteria for assessing if there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and so allowances for
financial assets should be measured on a lifetime ECL
basis and the qualitative assessment;

° The segmentation of financial assets based on risk
characteristics of the customers and by product types
when their ECL is assessed on a collective basis;

. Development of ECL models, including the various
formulas and the choice of inputs over determination of
the period over which the entity is exposed to credit risk
based on the behavioural life of the credit exposures,
loss given default and collateral recovery of the credit
exposures;

. Determination of associations between macroeconomic
scenarios and, economic inputs, and the effect on
probabilities of default, exposures at default and losses
given default; and

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(Continued)

Impairment allowances of ECL on loan receivables

(Continued)

. Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios
and their probability weightings, to derive the economic
inputs into the ECL models.

It has been the Group’s policy to regularly review its models
in the context of actual loss experience and adjust when
necessary.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.

As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025, details of the carrying
amount and impairment assessment of loan receivables are
set out in note 20.

Impairment allowances of ECL on trade
receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-impaired
are assessed for ECL individually. In addition, the Group uses
provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade receivables
which are individually insignificant. The provision matrix
is based on the Group’s historical default rates taking into
consideration forward-looking information that is reasonable
and supportable available without undue costs or effort. At
every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025, details of the carrying

amount and impairment assessment of trade receivables are
set out in note 19.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at costs less
accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. In
determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has
to exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly in
assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators
that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value
of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, in the
case of value in use, the net present value of future cash flows
which are estimated based upon the continued use of the
asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the assets belong. Changing the assumptions and estimates,
including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present value used
in the impairment test.

As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025, details of the carrying
amount and impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment are set out in note 15.

Estimated useful lives and estimated residual
values of property, plant and equipment

In determining the estimated useful lives and estimated
residual values of items of property, plant and equipment,
the Group has to consider various factors, such as technical
or commercial obsolescence arising from changes or
improvements in production, or from a change in the market
demand for the product or service output of the asset,
expected usage of the asset, expected physical wear and
tear, the care and maintenance of the asset, and legal or
similar limits on the use of the asset. The estimation of the
useful life of the asset is based on the experience of the Group
with similar assets that are used in a similar way. Additional
depreciation is made if the estimated useful lives and/or the
residual values of items of property, plant and equipment are
different from the previous estimation. Useful lives and residual
values are reviewed at the end of the reporting period based
on changes in circumstances.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are
organised by business lines (products and services). The
operating segments of the Group are identified in a manner
consistent with the way in which information is reported
internally to the Company’s executive directors (i.e. the chief
operating decision maker, “"CODM") for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment.

The executive directors of the Company regularly review
revenue and operating results derived from the following:

(i)  OEM Business: Manufacturing and sales of OEM garment
products;

(i) Retail Business: Retailing and wholesaling of garment
products under the Group’s own brand and high-end
fashion brand;

(i) Money Lending Business: Provision of loan services to
generate interest income;

(iv)  Financial Quotient and Investment Education Business:
Provision of financial quotient and investment education
courses;

(v)  Property Investment Business: Investing in properties in
Asia Pacific region to generate rental income and to gain
from the appreciation in the properties’ values in the long
term; and

(viy  Private Supplementary Education Business: Provision of
private supplementary education courses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
No operating segments have been aggregated to form the
following reportable segments.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Company’s
executive directors monitor the results attributable to each
reportable segment on the following basis:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those segments
and the expenses incurred by those segments.

Segment results represents pre-tax profit earned or 10ss
incurred from each segment without allocation of other
income, other gains and losses, net, certain corporate
administrative expenses, share of results of associates, certain
impairment losses and central finance costs. This is the
measure reported to the chief operating decision maker of the
Group for the purpose of resource allocation and performance
assessment.

Segments assets include all tangible assets and current assets
with the exception of goodwill, intangible assets, investments
in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and other
corporate assets. Segment liabilities include provisions, lease
liabilities, contract liabilities and trade and other payables
attributable to the activities of the individual segments and
borrowings managed directly by the segments.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning
segment profit or loss, the Company’s executive directors
are provided with segment information concerning revenue,
interest income and expenses from cash balances and
borrowings managed directly by the segments, depreciation
and amortisation, impairment losses and additions to non-
current segment assets (other than financial instruments and
deferred tax assets) used by the segments in their operations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. ZE&ER &)

Financial
Quotient and Private
Mongy Investment Supplementary Property
OEM Retail Lending Education Education  investment
Business husingss Busingss Business Business business  Unallocated Total

Rl HERRE VL L]
Riexh SERE e YERE  HERE  WRRERE HASE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Tn TR TR TER TR TR Tn TR

Year ended 31 March #Z-§=7%
2025 ZAZ1-RLEE

Reportable segment T2HABUH
revenue

Revenue from extemal REASEFMIE

customers 5,423 215,688 122,051 343,162

Reportable segment T2HAWER (5i)

profit (loss) 3411 57441 16,792 (29,387) 48,257
Other income AfplA 1,658
Other gansand losses, Af4ELEETE

fet (1,884)

Consolidated profit AR #ER
before taxation

BEERHEREERA A
2025 3 139
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

HE-_Z-_RAF=-A=+—HILFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. ZEER#)

At 31 March 2025

Money
Lending
Busingss

OEM Retail
Business

husingss
Rt

BEER SEER HEER

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TEn

Financial
Quotient and
Investment
Education
Business
HBRRE
HEEK
HK$'000
TEn

Supplementary

Private

Education
Business
I &E
HEEK
HKS$'000

Property
investment
business

HKS'000
TR T

Unallocated

HRAR
HKS'000

T

Total

3t

HKS'000

T

ZA=1-A

Assets -
Reportable segment  2HAFAE

assets (including (BfERN-E

interestin an e DANER)

85500iate) 12883 337,066
Goodwil AE 161,344
Itangbleassets ~ &FAE -
Financial assetsat ~ RATEABES

farvaliethrough ~ 4&AE

profit or loss 15173
Consolidatedtotal AL EEE

assets 513,898
Liabilities Bf
Reporiablesegment  AI2HATEE

iabilties (359) (10,985) (32,855) (15,402) (59,615)
Otherpayablefor  WENELT

acquisiion of EfbEr5E

Subsicliaries (8,192)
Convertble bonds~— TkES (15000
Consolidatedtotal AR ELEE

bt (82,807)
Forthe yearended #Z-8-7%

31 March 2025 ZHZT-RLEE
Othersegment  E#7HER

information
Additions to non-current £ EE R EE

assets during the year
Depreciation for the year £/ &
Amortisation for the years i
Finance costs A
Ganondisposalof  LEHE  BER

property, plantand  Rfemi

equipment =
Impairment loss under  EEEEEETE

epected credtloss  HEEE 179
Interestincome from ~ SFIEMA

hanks (254)
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. ZE&ER &)

Financia
Quotientand Private
Money Investment Supplementary Property
Retail Lencing Education Education Investment

Business BUsiness Busingss Busingss BUsIness Busingss Unallocated
@;w 135 é | T ERRn q*“”

HKS000 HK$000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000
T TR T TR TR

Year ended 31 March 2024 gE-E-pE

ZAZT-ALEE

Reportable segment revenue  F2HABUE
Revenue from extemal customers — RENIEREM b M - 2931 184,043 731 - - 28L5%
Reportable segmentprofitoss)  A2HATER () Rl - 1219 56,661 12604 - (19,608 50988
Otherincome Bl o
Other gains and losses, net EfdeRERRE 438
Consolidated proft before taxation &4 REEH 5073
At 31 March 2024 H-§-RE
Assets
Reportable Segment aSses

(inclucing inerest I an associete) 5576 - 57608 86,607 61366 7650 3 W75
Goodwil [ 177764
Intangile assets El/EE n
Financial asses at air value BOVE BRihed

through profiorloss 4E 13383
Consolidated fofal assefs GREELE 134,408
Liabilities af
Reportable segnent cbiites  T2HARAE @) - VAR (67 449) (21,549) - 8,369 71619
Other payable for aoquisiionof ~—~ WEHBAT

Subsidiaries EERHE (24,409
Consolcated total iablties GREREE (102,008)
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2025 F 141



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z_AF=A=+—HLFE

5.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

5.

DEBE R (#)

Financial
Quotient and Private
Money Investment Supplementary Property
Retail Lending Education Education Ivestment
BUSInss Business Busingss BUSIness Unallocated Total
TELK AR &
HKS1000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HK§000
a1 Thn T A 77 Thn Thn
For the year ended HZ-E-REzf
31 March 2024 Zt-ALEE
Other segment information 3448
Addtions to non-cureent ERFEETDEE
485e1S (uring the year - - - 4810 5710 - 9 1039
Depreciaton for the year EpfE - - I 6773 10982 - 300 0883
Amortisation for the year Eps - - - 19% - - - 19
Finance costs i) om - - 1 79 0 - 127 233
Impaiment loss under expected ETH
reditloss - - 1,094 - - - 5 160
Interest income from banks LN - - - 2 (31 - 1) (585)
Geographical information i E & ¥

The Group principally operates in Hong Kong, which is also
its place of domicile. For the year ended 31 March 2024, all
revenue was derived in Hong Kong, based on the location of
the customers and services delivered. For the year ended
31 March 2025, approximately HK$288,000 of revenue was
generated from the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
with the remainder was derived from Hong Kong, based on the
same criteria.

Additionally, as of 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025, all of the
Group’s non-current assets were located in Hong Kong.

Information about major customers
There has no single customer contributed to 10% or more
revenue to the Group’s revenue for the year (2024 Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

6. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 6. EFEHWE
CUSTOMERS
(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts (@) BEFEHWZEDIF

with customers

2025 2024
—E_RF —E PO

HK$'000 HK$'000
T8 FHET

Revenue from contracts with BRIEEMGERELE S
customers within the scope of HEEEEMBRE
HKFRS 15 by category of major %% 155%8EMN

product lines and business: EESHRE
— Provision of financial quotient and — 12 MBI RN EHE
investment education courses RIZ 215,688 184,043
— Provision of private supplementary — 2 #tf, 7 BB
education courses R 122,051 97,331
— Manufacturing and sales of OEM ~ — L& & R 1E
garment products IR E S 290
337,739 281,664
Revenue from other sources: REHAMRREZ WS :
— Interest income from loan — EREFZFIEBWA
receivables 5,423 2,931
343,162 284,595
During the year ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March BeE_Z-_NFZA=Z+—HBE=F
2025, total amounts of interest income on financial assets “HE=ZA=1T—BILFE - R
measured at amortised cost are as follows: RAFTENSBEEMNF B AR

LU

2024

HK$'000
TET

Interest income from: FEWAKE

— Loan receivables — ERER 2,931

— Others — HAith 585
3,516

BESEENARAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRKMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025

BHE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIFE

6.

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 6. BEFEHWE#)

CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts (@) BEFREHRWBEDIFE)
with customers (Continued)
During the year ended 31 March 2025, out of the Group’s BHE-_Z-_AF=-A=+—HL*F
revenue from contracts with customers within the B AEEFEEASVBKREER
scope of HKFRS 15, revenue amounted to approximately FERBENEFAEORTZF
HK$318,426,000 (2024: HK$268,306,000) was transferred #7318,426,0008 7T( = & — I £ :
at point in time and the remaining amount was 268,306,000 7% 7T ) ) 4 1 70 3 — FeF [
transferred over time. R - Ao AN —BRRERE

% o

Information regarding the Group’s revenue from the EAREEZEMSELERRR
transfer of goods and services by geographical markets EMERRER R E RS SIS ©
is set out in note 5 above.

(b) Transaction price allocated to the (b) ?7BMEFEFEHNZHRTEY
remaining performance obligation for BEENRBZER
contracts with customers
The Group has applied the practical expedient in REBCEATENBMEERSF
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to exempt the disclosure 155RE 121N ERER A - A
of revenue expected to be recognised in the future RS TEHAR R R IR H R B R E B
arising from contracts with customers in existence HEENEF & MK REERER
at the reporting date to its revenue from provision of BIREIR  REHE MBI
financial quotient, investment education and private BEREMWE  THRBHNETAS
supplementary education courses as the performance HNE—FHUTZRETEHER)
obligations is part of a contract that had an original B)—HB5 ©

expected duration of one year or less.

OTHER INCOME 7. HfslkA

— 5=

HK$'000
TAT

Other income comprises: Hg A B3 :

Rental income from course center 2R LS A 1,152
Bank interest income RITH S MA 585

Net gain on disposal of property, plant  HEWE - BE MERED
and equipment Wiz 55 -

Gain on early termination of lease RELIEAEA MK
contracts -
Sundry income HETEUA 1,005
2,742

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 8.

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

Het gz & B 18 4

Other gains and losses, net
comprise:
Impairment losses under expected

Hite s RESEFHEEE

BEREEEERL THRE

credit losses model, net of reversal 518 - kREE
— Trade and other receivables — B S REAMERFIE
— Loan receivables — ERE R

Net gains arising from acquisition of
subsidiaries in prior years:

KEBEFEWREMNBAR
MM EF AR

— Brilliant Ever Global Limited
— Best Take Global Limited

— HEKIRIKER A A
— Best Take Global Limited

Others Hith

Changes in fair value of other BATEFABENEMS
financial assets at FVTPL, net BEZATEZEFE

Loss on disposal of other HERATEGFABRAEA
financial assets at FVTPL CRMEECER

Gain on convertible bonds at FVTPL  ## A (B AdBa5H Al g

EH 2 Wam
Impairment of goodwill BRI

FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs comprise:
Interest on bank borrowing

Interest on promissory notes payable
Interest on lease liabilities

Interest on convertible bonds
Imputed interest on other payables

TER AR
RITIEERN S
AR RN B

AR EZFLE
HAib BN RN EERN B

2025
—E-FHF

HK$'000
FERT

2024

HK$'000
THETT

(546)
(1,094)

(1,640)

4,680
2,098

6,778

(237)

(1,653)

B A

2024
—E-F
HK$'000
FHIT

148
20
954

1,271

2,393

BEERYEEHERATF
2025 F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z_AF=A=+—HLFE

10.

146

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation has been
arrived at after charging
(crediting):

Staff costs (including directors’
emoluments, see note 12(a))

— Salaries, wages and other benefits
— Performance bonus
— Equity-settled share option

10. BRBEADE
2025
—B-EHf
HK$'000
TR

BRBE AT R R0 BR (FHA)

UT&BEEBERFE -
BT (BRBRESHH -
R 12()
—¥HE TEREMER 148,084
— RIRFEAL 8,240

— Ui A E BB i R 2

expenses 12,130
— Equity-settled share award — VARG 45 1O A1) 22 R
expenses X 1,822
— Contributions to defined — EREMHFCRRET I
contribution retirement plans 1,281
171,557
Cost of sales and services comprises: 5% K& ARFER ANEIE -
— Sales of garment products —HERKEER
— Provision of financial quotient, — R - REHERE
investment education courses ML BN A RIE
and private supplementary BIE
education courses, comprises:
— Staff costs — BT 100,287
— Other operating costs — HAth @A 56,056
156,343
Auditor's remuneration 1% SR B 1,354
Depreciation of property, plant and ME  BENMKRETE
equipment (included in (Bt ATTEB)

administrative expenses)
Amortisation of intangible assets
(included in administrative expenses)

21,749

B EESHE G ATBRHAX)
195
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—TF

HK$'000
FAT

109,878
7,210

5,314

1,126

123,528

222

81,733
42,061

124,016

1,097

20,843

195




11.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

Income tax expenses represent: FriStif < iE -

Hong Kong Profits Tax RS

— Charge for the year —FRAX

— (Over-provision) under-provision — BEFE GBREEE)
in prior years BETR

Deferred tax EERIA

— Origination and reversal of —EERBEERERE

temporary differences

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of
the Group are domiciled and operated.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), the Group is not subject to
any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI, respectively.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity are taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million
are taxed at 16.5%. The profits of Group entities not qualifying
for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime continue to be taxed
at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax
of the qualifying Group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first
HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million.

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate is 25% (2024: 25%).

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

1. FEBAX

2025 2024
—E-EHF

—EFHF
HK$'000
T

HK$'000
TET

10,740

361

11,101

(139)

10,962

AREBERANEEKE R RIEMR LALLM
R RVERRANEESITERRFIZE
BRGNS ©

REFEREMNEBREZHE ([KBREK
HEDZRARRG - NREBBED RIH
WS RABRIENERMASEH -

EBEFNEBIR % W EF E Gt ERB R F
B 16.5% 515

REEBMNERZFEHBEERAS - &
B % B E 82 49 E 2,000,000 TT i AR
8.25% Ky Bt R FE - 1 4B 182,000,000 7T
ZEAIR16.5% B R R o A FIE
RS NEE T B S EERER
TEMRN165%EH - Bt - AEREERRE
BB FI1S L 5 3% B 2,000,000 3% 7T 2 ff 5t
JIE 52 75 Y28 1| 9 8.25% N 1A 48 2,000,000 58 7T
ZAEEH BRI S AR 16.5% T H o

PEMEMEHRREE25% (=T ZPOF :
25%) ©

BESEENARAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VB HwRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BHE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued) 1.

No PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been provided for in
the consolidated financial statements as the Group has no
estimated assessable profits derived in the PRC for the year
ended 31 March 2025 (2024 Nil).

The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to the
profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

Profit before taxation B A A g A

Notional tax at the domestic AU HBMEAE 2
income rates HENIE

Tax effect of: ATERIBZBMETE

— Income not taxable for tax purpose — HERELUL A

— Expenses not deductible for tax — RA IR 2
purpose

— Effect on other temporary — REREMEREEL
differences not recognised gl

— Utilisation of tax losses previously — — 2 &) 81F 3t BRERH
not recognised MIAEE

— Tax losses not recognised — RIERTIEEE

Statutory tax concession EERIEER

(Over-provision) under-provision BEFE (BREEE) BETR

in prior years

Income tax expenses S fifx

1 4 8 Legendary Education Group Limited
Annual Report 2025

rEBimz (@)
HRAANEEREE T _AF=-A=+—
B b4 30 48 5 R B EE A BT IR AR AR A
ZTEF - E) - BN A B TSR
KPP EPERSHELRE -

FAMGHAXTEGABEREMEZE
Yeas R M Z R B A SRR AT -

2025 2024
—E-hHEF

HK$'000 HK$'000
FiE T

48,031




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_ZT_AF=RA=+—HILFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERFETHAEMEREERR

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID aHMES

EMPLOYEES

(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive's (@) EBERFETHAEMS
emoluments
Directors’ and Chief Executive’s remuneration for BHEEAGMEm AR REER
the years ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025, AR RBECBE T _NF=H
disclosed pursuant to the applicable GEM Listing Rules =t+—-BAR-—ZE-_RE=A=+—H
and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, are as follows: HEFEEERETETHRAEMS W

™

Equity- Contributions

Salaries, settled  to defined

wages share  contribution

and other  Performance option retirement
benefits bonus expense plans Total

§¢ 1% NRELE EBUTER
g RAMER FREL  WERERX HE [ st

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn FEn FiEn TiEn THT THR

(note (ii)

below)

(FX

Bk i)

Year ended 31 March 2025 BEZ-E-%f

ZAST-ALEE

Executive directors Hi7ES

M. Yuen Yu Sum RWREE

Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin RUREE

Non-executive directors T8

Mr. Law Wing Chung BxBrk

Dr. Tang Sing Hing Kenny $BEEr

. Mak Louisa Ming Sz e f)

Independent non-executive ~ BukEE

directors
Mr. Chung Chin Kwan ERAEE
Mr. Chan Kim Fal Eddlie RelEis
Mr. Chung Kwok Pan BEGLE

BEERHEREERA A
2025 F 3 149



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z_AF=A=+—HLFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERFETHAEMERERR
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID SEFEMES &)
EMPLOYEES (Continued)
(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive's (a) EERFETHAEME &)

emoluments (Continued)

Equity-  Contributions

Salaries, settled 0 defined

Wages share  contribution

andother  Performance option retirement

Fees benefits bonus expense plans

Eiik | Jiak:
e REMEF RETA  HERERT HEEE fazt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
AL T BT Tin Thn B
(note (i)
below)
(FX
gk ()

Year ended 31 March 2024 B2 E-pE

ZAET-ALEE

Executive directors YTES

Mr. Yuen Yu Sum RARTE 30 750 - 390 18 1518

Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin BUELE 30 6,846 - 390 - 759%

Non-executive directors FHiEE

Mr. Law Wing Chung BAEEE 240 - - 49 - 29

Dr. Tang Sing Hing Kenny $BEET 20 64 - - - 304

Ms. Mak Louisa Ming Sze Vi a ) 207 - - - - 207

Independent non-executive ~ BikiEE

directors

Mr. Chung Chin Kwan ERAEE 120 - - - - 0

Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie FRalgLE 120 - - - - 10

Mr. Chung Kiwok Pan BELE 20 - - - - 20
1,887 7,660 - 829 18 10,394
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

EERIETRAEMEREER
EEHMES (@)

EMPLOYEES (Continued)
(@) Directors’ and Chief Executive's
emoluments (continued)

(@) EBERFETHAEMEE)

Notes:

0]

(if)

Appointed as non-executive director on 4 September
2023.

Mr. Yuen Yu Sum and Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin are tutors of
training courses of the Financial Quotient and Investment
Education Business and their related tutor fees have been
included in the salaries, wages and other benefits during
the years ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025.

The Chief Executive’'s and executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and its subsidiaries, if applicable.

The non-executive directors’ and independent non-
executive directors” emoluments shown above were for
their services as directors of the Company.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March
2025, certain directors were granted share options
in respect of their services to the Group under the
share option schemes of the Company. Details of the
Company'’s share options/award shares granted are set
out in notes 31(a), (b) and (c) to the consolidated financial
Statements.

izt

() R-B-=EhANAREEAFE
HITEE -

(i) RWEREERRIBEEBIER
WEHE £ RENGRM - &
E-ZE-_NMF=A=+—HEK=ZF
—HE=ZA=+t—BLEFEESEZ
HHEMERADT AT 18K
HAb@F o

EXAREBTBRARLMITES
ZBe IR IREERARNT REK
BAR(ER) 52 RE T AT -

EXPRIEITE S B IR AT
BEENME IR EEFRELARFE
SRR A R S AT o

BE-_Z-_ME=ZA=1+—8xK
TR RE=ZA=+—HIFE
BREANGEREANE ETES
RS mAEEIR A A RIS E
BEAE o AN A AR BV BB AR A B
BR1D 2 FE B BN ER A B R R M 5
31@) ~ (b) B (c) °

EERHEEERRAT 151
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z_AF=A=+—HLFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERFETHAEMEREERR

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID SHMES (&)

EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid employees (b) EEEEHFMES
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the TR AEEREERTMEERE
year included one (2024: one) director, details of whose —Z(ZT-WF: —R)ES - B
remuneration are set out in note 12(a) above. Details of SHBEN EXMTE120) - FAK
the remuneration for the year of the remaining four (2024: THE(ZEZNF : 0A) &= 5B
four) highest paid employees who are neither a director EE (WHARREZEFHEZITHA
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows: B)MEFH ST

2025 2024
—E_RF —EPOE

HK$'000
FAET

Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMER 54,995
Performance bonus FIRIEAT 4,933 6,241
Equity-settled share option expense  LARRIE4E & B AR IR 2 69 -
Retirement benefit scheme RIKEFIFT SR
contributions 18 18
50,513
The number of the highest paid employees who are not WIHARBEZSBFHFMNNTTATEE

HK$'000
TAT

the directors of the Company whose remuneration fell HEe o iES AZET

within the following bands is as follows:

2025
—E-RHE
Number of
individuals

AE

HK$4,000,000 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,0007% 7L % 4,500,000 7T
HK$5,000,000 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,000% 7T & 5,500,000 7T
HK$7,000,000 to HK$7,500,000 7,000,000% 70 % 7,500,000 % 7T
HK$12,000,000 to HK$12,500,000 12,000,000 7T & 12,500,000 7T
HK$12,500,000 to HK$13,000,000 12,500,000 7T & 13,000,000 77T
HK$13,000,000 to HK$13,500,000 13,000,000 7t & 13,500,000 77T
HK$26,500,000 to HK$27,000,000 26,500,000 7t & 27,000,000 77T
HK$28,000,000 to HK$28,500,000 28,000,000 7% 7T & 28,500,000 & 7T

1 52 Legendary Education Group Limited
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12.

13.

14.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERFETHAEMEREERR

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID aHMES &)

EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid employees (continued) (b) EEREFMES®)
During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March HE-_Z-_NF=A=1+—RAK=%
2025, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any “HFZAZ+—HIEFE  AEE
of the directors of the Company or the chief executive WA NFHHTFEAARRAREERA
of the Group or the five highest paid individuals as an EEFETBABLAE KRS F
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as ATERIMARE B INAR 2 5
compensation for loss of office. B SRVERBERASE -
There was no arrangement under which a director HE-T-NWF=A=1+—AK=%
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any “HFZA=1+—HILFE  #iEE
remuneration during the years ended 31 March 2024 and FHEBITHRABREXRENET
31 March 2025. OEA7 k-7 3

DIVIDENDS 13. RE

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment AAREBEETEERBEE_ZS-_MF=A

of a final dividend for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 31 =+ —RAEkRZZTE-_RF=A=+—HLHF

March 2025, nor has any dividend proposed since the end of EIRMARHRE - BMEBHRURINERE

the reporting period. HEREARKRE -

EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. ERER

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share RARHEBAEGERERREERFTY

attributable to owners of the Company is based on the BUATHETE

following data:

Earnings figures are calculated as follows: BN EBOTENT -

2025
—E-hE

HK$'000 HK$'000
FiB7 FHET

Profit for the year attributable tothe  s+E B ERZF

owners of the Company for the FrRZAREIHAE A

purpose of basic earnings per share  FE{RE R F| 37,078 45,598
Effect of dilutive potential BHETTRRNTE

ordinary shares:

— Gain on fair value changes of —ITEERMIARTE

derivative financial instruments gl -

— Interest on convertible bonds — AR ESHFE -
Profit for the year attributable to SEEREERNMMAEZ

owners of the Company for the A EHEE AL

purpose of calculating diluted FREF

earnings per share 45,598

BESEENARAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV BRRME

For th

e year ended 31 March 2025

BHE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIFE

14.

154

EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)
Number of shares are calculated as follows:

Number of shares BB

Weighted average number of ordinary stE&REARZBFFTAZ
BT MR N 2

shares in issue for the purpose of
basic earnings per share

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary BEB ARG S

shares:
— Share options — R
— Convertible bonds — AR ES

Weighted average number of ordinary &SR EERR] 2
shares for the purpose of diluted AR INAE S8R
earnings per share

February 2025 share option scheme are not included in the
calculation of diluted earnings per share because they are anti-
dilutive for the year ended 31 March 2025. The scheme could
potentially dilute earnings per share in the future.

Legendary Education Group Limited
Annual Report 2025

. BREBRN @)

R EBBENT

2025 2024
—EB_hHEF

—EF-HF
(in thousand)
(Fh%)

(in thousand)
(TR

439,032 407,769
14,309
459,663 422,078

BHE-_ZT-_RAF-A=+—HILFE =
ToRF - ABEREGEES RESEBUE -
WEAESREBEERNF T RAEER -
ZETEIRE A e 2B EERATF -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture and
equipment

B KR
HK$000
ThL

Cost HA

At 1 April 2023 RZZ-=FMA-A 580
Additions AE 109
Written-off ik -

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024

“Z-MEMA-A
Additions RE
Written-off s
At 31 March 2025 RZZ-RE=R=1-A
Accumulated depreciation ZitE
A1 April 2023 R-E-=FMA-H 177
Charge for the year ERFR 107
Elimination on written-off biEzie -

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R-B-MEZF=1-8k

Office
equipment
HARME
HK$'000
TAL

2952
200

2304
375

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BHE_Z_AF=-A=+—HLFE

15. Y% - BERREE
Leasehold Right-of-use
improvements  Motor vehicles assets Total
HENEEE - ffREgE fzt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$000
TAL TAL TAL ThT

14973 1845 45,586 65936
208 - 7,962 10329
- - (526) (526)

17,031
1,315
(1,100)

17,246

6,998 1529 19825 30433
4,951 148 15222 20,843
- - (526) (526)

—Z-MEMA-H 11,549
Charge for the year Emfx 3,865
Elimination on written-off MBS (1,100)
At 31 March 2025 R-E-R%=A=1-H 14,314
Carrying amounts REE
At 31 March 2025 RZE-RE=A=1-H
At 31 March 2024 RZE-mE=R=1-H 365 473 5482 168 18,501 24,989
BEERYBEBERAQR 155
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRKMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BHE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIFE

15.

156

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
Right-of-use assets — properties, motor
vehicles and yacht leased for own use

For both years, the Group leases certain properties, motor
vehicles and yacht for its operations. The leases typically run
for an initial period of 2 to 5 years. Leases terms are negotiated
on individual basis and contain different terms and conditions.

The analysis of right-of-use assets and the related expense
items and cash flows in relation to leases recognised in profit
or loss is as follows:

Right-of-use assets comprise: FREEERTE

— Leased properties —HEmE
— Leased motor vehicles —MHEAR

— Leased yacht — HEHE
Depreciation for the year: FRITE

— Leased properties —HEWE
— Leased motor vehicles —MERE
— Leased yacht — &R
Interest on lease liabilities HEARNE
Expense relating to short-term leases % HIfAER %
Total cash outflow for leases HERS ML B
Additions to new lease liabilities FHEaE

The Group's right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight

line basis at the following rates per annum:

Motor vehicles 20%-33% per annum or over the
term of the leases

Yacht 20%—-33% per annum or over the

term of the leases
Leasehold properties Over the term of the leases
leased for own use

Legendary Education Group Limited
Annual Report 2025

15. W% - BMERRE#®)

EREEE — HEFBANY
¥RERERE

RREFE  AEERELERESTY
RERERE - HO—RNFH/H2ES
FoMERRDRERNELERER  LEHE
ARG K e -

HIEENEANHERRNERREER
HEAMXER MRERENTAOT

2025 2024
—E-REF

—ZE-F
HK$'000
FETT

HK$'000
FERT

13,584 12,981
3,631 1,281
2,246 4,239
19,461 18,501
14,583 12,226
573 427
1,993 2,569
17,149 15,222
851 954
2,119 1,560
17,018 15,328

18,424 7,962

AR EREAE LSRR TS
I -

B BE20% = 33% iR
pizh=o]
iz B 20% % 33% k1%
TAHR
HEFEAN Bregizh-t:
HEmE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. BEREE

Customer
relationship
EFBEF

HK$'000
T

Cost 2%

At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 RZEBE-_=FWA—H - ZT_OF

and 31 March 2025 =A=+—8 - ZZEZ_WFWmYA—H
rMZE-RF=ZAR=+—H

Accumulated amortisation EHig £
At 1 April 2023 RZE-_=FMWA—H 270
Charge for the year FAMRX 195
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R-ZE-MFE=/A=+—HK

—E-FM™MA—H
Charge for the year FRAX
At 31 March 2025 R-EB-_RF=HA=+-—H
Carrying amounts IREE
At 31 March 2025 R-ZE-RF=A=+—H
At 31 March 2024 RZZTZMFE=A=+—H 510
The customer relationships, which have finite useful lives, BEERFERAFEHZEFBERIVREBREH
were acquired in business combinations and the amounts are UL Bz @B A EREREN E20%
amortised using the straight-line method at the rate of 20% B (ZZ 04 1 20%) °

(2024: 20%) per annum.

BESEENARAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z_AF=A=+—HLFE

17. GOODWILL 17. B8

Balance at beginning of the year FEE

Impairments recognised during FAERARE
the year
Balance at end of the year FRER

The Group's goodwill is attributable to the following CGUS:
. Bewisekid Holding Limited;

° Zone Galaxy Limited;

. Prestige Concord Limited;

. KC Training Company Limited;

o Brilliant Ever Global Limited,

o Best Take Global Limited; and

. Hong Kong Institute of Professional Studies Limited.

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated
to the cash-generating units in the financial quotient and
investment education business of the Group for impairment
testing purposes.

With reference to a valuation performed by an independent
professional valuer, the directors of the Company assessed the
impairment of the Group's goodwill. The recoverable amounts
of the financial quotient and investment education business
cash-generating units have been determined based on value in
use calculations using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior
management of the Group.

Legendary Education Group Limited
NG :

Annual Report 2025

2025 2024
—EB_HREF

—EFHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T

177,764 177,764

(16,420) -

161,344 177,764

AEENEEEBNATREESEL -

° Bewisekid Holding Limited :

. Zone Galaxy Limited :

. Prestige Concord Limited :

° KC Training Company Limited :

J FKRABR AT

. Best Take Global Limited : &

U EEBBREXRERARDA -
BB R ER S
FREBEHESNEESE TAEEY

BRKRBHEEBNRSEEFEML AR
BRI -

B2 BT HEEEMETOME A2
AEEFEAEEFEORE  HERE
EHRBEBI S E A B HARE ST
BEEAEESAEEBEIENEERE
Wy B EEERARS R NIRE A E
BHEMmES -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

The following sets out the key assumptions for the value-
in use calculation of the cash-generating units for goodwill
impairment assessments:

° The discount rates ranging from approximately 13% to
20% (2024: approximately: 18% to 29%) are used: The
discount rates applied to the cash flow projections and
the long-term growth rates used to extrapolate the cash
flows of the cash-generating units beyond the five-year
period are shown above.

. The average growth rates ranging from 2% to 15% (2024
2% t0 10%) are used: These growth rates were determined
and are based on the relevant industry growth forecasts
and do not exceed the average long-term growth rate for
the relevant industry.

There were other assumptions used in the value in use
calculations of the cash-generating units as at 31 March 2024
and 31 March 2025. The following describes each of these
others key assumptions on which management has based its
cash flow projections when undertaking impairment testing of
goodwill:

° Projected revenue and budgeted gross margins: The
basis used to determine the values assigned to the
projected revenue and budgeted gross margins is
based on the past performance of the cash-generating
units and management’s expectations for the market
development.

° The discount rates used are before tax and reflect
specific risks relating to the respective cash-generating
units.

As at 31 March 2024, based on the Group’s annual goodwill
impairment assessment conducted by the management of the
Company for the Group’s CGUSs, the recoverable amounts of
the Group’s CGUs were higher than their respective carrying
amounts and accordingly, no impairment was recognised for
the goodwill related to the Group's CGUSs for the year ended 31
March 2024.

17.

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

[GE 26

AERERR @)
TXHIIHBRENGAERSELSE
MEREENEEMK

o FIEMZBERENFHI13%E20%(=
T 18% FE29%) - AR
EREFRZ AR XM AREERB
TSEHRBESELARENCREREY
REE R R £ o

s MEANFHEEENF2%E15%
(ZTZmF  2%E10%) &%
REDRBBETRERBAERE -
BTEBBERTENFARMEER

HERZEZEF=-A=+—HAKRZ=ZFE
—HF=ZA=+—BZREELEMNE
FAEEHFATHEMERS - TXHLERE
RETHEREIR CHRETHEeREE
BIRFELE M FT B A M B R

o TEFHWARBEENX : BEBFK
ARFBEENEREBENEETTERSE
SELBEUNBERRRERESD
HRENTEH -

o FIEAMBMREBBRHAIZBELR
MR 22 3R B B A B A7 ARRE ) 1 E R

G
A

o

MN-EBE-NE=A=+—8 BELXQF
EREHASBRCEEEMBETHTFE
FEREN S AEBRSEL BN
KeEeEsXESEamkmnE - Bt &
E-T-_NEZA=+—HIFEE W&
MAEBERSEA BN ERRE -

BEERYEEHERATF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRKMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BHE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIFE

17.

160

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
According to the audited results of Best Take Global Limited for
the year ended 31 March 2025, the profit of Best take Global
Limited did not meet the profit guarantee of HK$2,600,000
for the year, in view of the keen competition of the financial
quotient and investment sharing courses market in Hong Kong
during the year, the overall performance of the company for
the project revenue and budgeted gross margins were lower
than the previous projected and budgeted amount and thus,
based on the Group’s annual goodwill impairment test for Best
take Global Limited, the recoverable amount of the Best take
Global Limited CGU was lower than its carrying amount and
accordingly, impairment loss of HK$683,000 was recognised
and charged to the profit or loss for the year.

The Group signed a sale and purchase agreement on
1 June 2025, subsequent to the year end, for the disposal of
Brilliant Ever Global Limited, with the consideration agreed
at approximately HK$10,000,000. The recoverable amount
of this cash-generating unit as at 31 March 2025 has been
determined to be approximately HK$10,000,000, based on a
fair value less costs of disposal calculation with reference to
the consideration stated in the sale and purchase agreement
for the entire issued share capital of Brilliant Ever Limited.
The calculation was based on the agreed consideration net
of direct selling costs. And accordingly, impairment loss of
HK$15,737,000 was recognised and charged to the profit or
loss for the year.

The disposal of Brilliant Ever Limited is expected to be
completed on 31 August 2025.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change
in any of the above mentioned assumptions would not cause
the aggregate carrying amounts of the cash-generating
units to exceed the respective recoverable amounts of the
cash-generating units.

Legendary Education Group Limited
Annual Report 2025

17. B8 @%@

EmERENAE @)

1R #% Best Take Global Limited &= —Z —H
FZA=1+—"HLETFEMNEEZREE
Best Take Global Limited #93% K| 7k g & B AR
22,600,000 T80 MR FE - ERFR
BECRBHEEREDZRIEMERTFL
R ZRAREBEWARBEEN MRS
KEHEREATTET REE S - FHt -
1R 5 7% 5= [ ¥} Best Take Global Limited &9 4
EREEREES - Best Take Global Limited
ReEFBMMATIRESBENERREE -
FEit - BRI A 18 683,000 8 7Tl 5H A
KREE B

FREAEBNR -_E-RGENA—BEL
— 1D E & %+ LA4910,000,0007% 7T K 5%
EREEEFEXKRIKRERAA - ZBEEE
EBEMR_E_AF=ZA=+—B2ZHAK
EE&RBEL2EERBRAFRZIDETR
Az EBEBERHAHENE  RATFERLE
B AN 5 & TE A& #910,000,0008 7T © %5t
ERBEZTEREBNREEHEERE - B
Ity 4 R E HE RRR (B 5 18 15,737,0007% T
Wat A82s ©

AHEHERARLHEFELN =T
—HENAZ+—BRM -

EREAE  ETERBROAR TS
BT REBREE LB NETRES
MR ELEGEANATRELE -



18.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z_AF=A=1+—HILFE

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 18. R—EBEQTNER

2025 2024
—E-RE —EFHF

HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THETT

Cost of investment in an associate A — A 2R BRI E AR 472,387 472,387

Share of post-acquisition losses, net oL UkEE 12 Ei8 %58 (44,836) (44,836)
427,551 427,551

Less: Impairments B RE (427,551) (427,551)

Details of the Group’s associate as at 31 March 2024 and 31 R-E—
March 2025 are as follows: =RA=+
=

Place of
establishment Attributable interest
and principal and proportion of
place of Fully paid-up share capital and voting power indirectly Principal
Name of associate operation number of shares held by the Group activities
RLBHR FEEBESEZEERER
i UNEEL FTREENE HERARRAEE REELH FTEER
2025 2024
—ECFRE —TomE

Red 5 Studios, Inc.  United States 65,567,709 Common stock of 47.63% 47.63% Inactive
("Red 5") 1S$0.01 each and 10,180,553
Preferred Stock (Series B) of
United States Dollar ("US$")

0.01each
Red 5 Studios, Inc. % 65,567,709 B A {5 0.01 LAY 47.63% 47.63% EEER
(TRed5)) LR 10,180,553 R SR EE
001ET([ER])BELR
(BZ31)
Red 5 and its subsidiaries were principally engaged in the RedSNEMEBE AR T ERNEFRLZ
development of innovative entertainment software and online BN P B B R Oh N 2 A AR
games in the United States of America, Europe, the PRC and B Ko 48 4% i B B B o 49 4% 5 B Firefall
Southeast Asia. The online game called Firefall (“Firefall”) was ([Firefall]) ZRed SR F EE G ©

the main product developed by Red 5.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025, HE-_Z-_WHF=ZA=+—BAK-_Z2_-F

Red 5 continued to be inactive. FZA=1+—HIEFE 'Red SEEE =&
% °

Red 5 is accounted for using the equity method in the Red 5 iR & BA TS SRR SR s A ABR ©

consolidated financial statements.

BEERYEEHERATF 161
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRKMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025

BHE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIFE

18.

19.

162

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 18. R—EHE ATNER (&)
Summary of financial information of the BEARNMBEERBE
associate

For Red 5, the company remained inactive during the years BRed5ME » ZAAIRBE_T_NF=
ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025. Though there is A=+—RAR-_ZFE-_RAE=A=+—H81t
no management accounts made available to the Group since FENAREHE - BT —+FRed 5EBK
the business of Red 5 ceased in 2017 and hence no financial It AEBEWEATESHERERE -
information of Red 5 was disclosed. It I #E 47 FE Red 5 2 BA IS & HY -
Impairment assessment WAE R

The Company has recognised full impairment on its interest RATIE BT FENR Red S ERERSD
in Red 5 in prior years. The directors of the Company consider HRE ARRESRAEBE-_T_NF
that there is no reversal of impairment required for the years ZA=+—RAk=ZZE-_AF=A=+—H
ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025. IFFERAETRERMD -

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. EZRHEHMEWRKIE

2025 2024
—E_RF —EPOE

HK$'000 HK$'000
FH 7T FHT

Trade receivables B e E 12,779 4,801
Less: Impairments S ORE (314) (194)
12,465 4,607
Other receivables H b e W 318 18,722 24,696
Deposits with brokers ez e 3,125 14,298
Temporary receipts U FRIE 15,907 13,038
Prepayments Bt IR (b) 26,525 15,196
Other deposits HEMize (c) 10,619 28,760
Deposits for decoration of HER LR BILS
education centers 1,980 2,480
Rental deposits HEZe 4,727 5,469
94,070 108,544
Analysed as: pax iy
— Current — W& 90,168 106,108
— Non-current — BB 3,902 2,436

94,070 108,544

Legendary Education Group Limited
Annual Report 2025



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

@

Trade receivables

At 1 April 2023, trade receivables from contracts with customers
amounted to approximately HK$5,974,000 after impairment loss
of approximately HK$190,000.

The Group allows credit period ranging from 30 days to 360 days
(2024: 30 days to 60 days) to customers.

As at the end of the reporting period, an ageing analysis of the
trade receivables, net of loss allowances presented based on
the invoice date is as follows:

Within 30 days 30HA

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_ZT_AF=RA=+—HILFE

19. EZRHEMEYRE &)
Hist -

(@ EBSEkEIE
MN-ZB-=FWA—B KABTFAHH
B 5 FE W IB 7 F1 Bk R 18 5 18 49 190,000
A ILIR  #9/55,974,00078 7T °

AEERBEFEENTFIOEEIOH(Z
ToPF - 30RE60R)MEEH -

NTARBEMRZEZEARZIINE S
YRR (FORR B IR B ) RO BRBR DA

Further details on the Group's credit policy and credit risk arising
from trade receivables are set out in note 35(0)(2)(iii).

Advances and prepayments to Mr. YY Lam

Included in the Group's prepayments, there were prepayments
paid to Mr. YY Lam, a director of a subsidiary of the Company,
and his related parties.

Pursuant to the service agreement and the supplementary
agreements entered into between Mr. YY Lam and the Group
(collectively, the "YY LAM Service Agreements”), the Company
has prepayments paid to Mr. YY Lam and his related parties
for his services rendered to the Group. Pursuant to the YY Lam
Service Agreements, Mr. YY Lam exercised the option and his
service term was extended to 31 August 2026.

As at 31 March 2025, the related prepayments balance
was approximately HK$6,822,000 (2024: approximately
HK$6,638,000). The directors of the Company consider that the
amount would be charged to profit or loss over the terms of the
YY Lam Service Agreements.

FEBEERREMELBREZREFIREZ
15 BB 003 — 25 S5 B M 22 35(0)(2)
(ii)

()  EAREREES N 2 BHREIAN KA

REBERNFIRBEL N GARFZHE
REEEMGITE R ERBA T EN
A

MR AR R 58 A B AR S @ 7T S 9 BR TS
Kzt e (558 [MOs IRRS HaEl) - &
ARBHEREEREBE R AEE
RENRERE T FEMNRIE - REME
fRERTS e - MR AR St 4 B AT I AR 1
HBRGFRERE - ENA=1—
E o

R-Z-_RAE=A=+—H0 E@BENK
T8 G B ) 75 6,822,000 7T (= T — PO 4 -
#76,638,000/%87C) c RATEERA * &
SEB PR RRE R FHRNEBEN
gﬁf} °

BESEENARAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VB HwRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BHE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIFE

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(c)  Deposits for the acquisition of a land

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company and Mr. Lui
Yu Kin, a substantial shareholder of the Company, entered into
a non-bhinding Memorandum of Understanding agreement and
pursuant to which the Group proposed to acquire a land with an
aggregate amount of HK$45,000,000 from Mr. Lui Yu Kin. As at
31 March 2024, refundable deposits amounted to approximately

HK$27,650,000 was paid to Mr. Lui Yu Kin.

Subsequent to 31 March 2024, the Company and Mr. Lui Yu Kin
agreed to terminate the proposed transaction and the entire

deposits were refund to the Company in June 2024.

Deposit for the acquisition of a target company

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company and Mr.
Ip Tsz King and Ms. Tsoi Yeung Ching (collectively referred to
as the "Vendor”) entered in to a non-binding Memorandum of
Understanding agreement and pursuant to which the Group
proposed to acquire 100% equity interest of the target Company.
As at 31 March 2025, a non-refundable deposit of HK$2,900,000

was paid to the Vendor.

20. LOAN RECEIVABLES

Loan receivables arising from money
lending and accrued interest &

KB WEZ Y E %

19. EZRHEMEYRE &)
Hiat - ()

© WBrmwRe

BE-_Z-_NE=A=1+—HIEFE K
AREANREERE S FRALRILT
— LR N 2 R E S R UL
AEEEE A & F @ 5 & bA4E EE 45,000,000
BB —EL  R-_ZT_MF=A
=+—H BERaFRrLENRER

& #)27,650,000 7T °

R-B-ME=A=+—H% A FH
BEFRLERBERILEERERS YR
ZHHFERNABETRCRETAQT -

W B RARZES

HE-_Z_RAF=-A=+—HULFE XK
A R)ER Ip Tsz King 5t 4 & Tsoi Yeung Ching
(BB IER DAL TELRN 23R
RESERE Bt AEEZZEKER
TRATZ100%KE - RZTE_RAF=A
=t+—B BERAEAXNTATRERD

2,900,000/ 7T ©

20. BWERK

100,763
(10,641)

2024
—EFHF

HK$'000

THETT

51,816
(10,820)

90,122

40,996

Less: Impairment R RE
Analysed as: DT
— Current — 8
— Non-current — JERED

89,479
643

39,891
1,105

90,122

40,996

All of the Group’s loan receivables are derived from
money lending business carried out in Hong Kong and are

denominated in HK$.

1 6 4 Legendary Education Group Limited
Annual Report 2025
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

At 31 March 2025, the Group’s loan receivables with gross
amounts of HK$95,207,000 (2024: HK$51,425,000) are secured
loans with collateral which are mainly properties and listed
securities. The Group is not permitted to sell or repledge the
collateral in the absence of default by the loan debtors. There
have not been any significant changes in the quality of the
collateral held for the loan receivables. In addition, the Group's
loan receivables with gross amounts of HK$6,891,000 (2024
HK$6,891,000) are secured loans with guarantee provided
by independent third parties, of which HK$6,500,000 (2024
HK$6,500,000) are secured loans with collateral).

At 31 March 2025, the Group's loan receivables bear interest
at fixed rates ranging from 5% to 12% (2024: 5% to 12%) per
annum.

A typical loan generally has a term of 4 months to 36 months
(2024: 4 months to 36 months).

As at the end of the reporting period, the maturity profile of
loan receivables, based on loan draw down date or loan last
rollover date, if applicable, is as follows:

20.

Maturity profile FIEAER

Within 30 days 308A

91 to 180 days 91THZE180H

More than 180 days but within HBEI180BE1FR
one year

Over one year i1

Less: Impairment B RE

At 31 March 2025, the directors of the Group considered
the credit risk relating to the credit-impaired unsecured loan
receivables with reference to the assets which are held by the
Group as collateral. Expected credit loss of HK$9,149,000 (2024:
HK$8,713,000) was recognised for these credit-impaired loan
receivables with gross carrying amount of HK$9,149,000 as at
31 March 2025 (2024: HK$8,713,000).

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

BWE R #)
RZE-_RF=A=1+—8 KEEREWK
B F 48 %895,207,0005 7T ( — T — PO 4F ¢
51,4250008 7C) BB ER - HiEH
MEEAEMERLETES - AEBETEER
EFATEELNNBLT  TEHEERE
B ER - rEREFTERER 2
BHEWEAMERE - I REBE
I B k42 %56,891,00078 7( —F — P04 ¢
6,891,000 70 ) BH B FE = HIRHEER
MAKMER - H46,5000008T(=F
ZPA4F : 6,500,000 7T) BEEAEK

R-EBE-_RE=A=+—08 KXEEZE
W& FAR N T 5% 5 12% 2 B E F R KB
(ZZ V945 : 5% E 12%) °

HWER—REFRAF/IEMEA(ZF
ZWF - 4E36MEA) ©

RBERR - EREFRERBHMAERF

BEEEER AR (HER) 2 BRERE
HiER#smT

2025
—E-hE

2024
—ZE-FE
HK$'000
FET

HK$'000
TR

9,149 9,149
26,809 2,420
64,155 39,118

650 1,129
100,763 51,816
(10,641) (10,820)

90,122 40,996

M-ZE-RE=ZA=1+—H0 &2E4AE
ERFERAMCEE  ~"EBEERAE
BERBEEEREEERERETER -
MN-_ZE-_HE=A=1+—B CEER
859,149,000 7T (—Z — P04 : 8,713,000
BIL)MZESEERAERKERERER
=B B 189,149,000 T( =T Z Y F :
8,713,000 7T ) °

BEERYEEHERATF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRKMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025

BHE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIFE

20. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued) 20. BWER#E)
The directors of the Company consider that, other than above- KRBEERE KLl EEREBEREKE
mentioned credit-impaired loan receivables, at the end of the FON RREHREESRREERERE
reporting period, there have no overdue and credit-impaired WEK -
loan receivables.
Details of the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from FHRALEEERXREBREREENE
loan receivables and the reconciliation of changes in gross BE bR A K 4R BR T (B B B I R U B SRR
carrying amount and allowances for loan receivables are set B3 BR SE 1B E PRI 52 35(0)(2)(0)
out in note 35(b)(2)().
Definitions of Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3 are detailed in FIEER  F2REREEIEER 2 ERNMH
35(0)(2). 1 35(b)(2) FFit
Expected credit loss of loan receivables EWERRBEERE
Expected credit loss in respect of loan receivables are EWERZIEREEREBIIERBERA
recorded using an allowance account unless the Group is R BRIEASEEHITEETRKERS
satisfied that there is no realistic prospect of recovery, in BIREBEANR Z @ B REZREWRER
which case the expected credit loss is written off against loan MIETEAE B I8 -
receivables directly in accordance with the accounting policy
of the Company.

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 21. A FEFABEZNERMEE

PROFIT OR LOSS

2025
—E-REF

HK$'000
FERT

Financial assets mandatorily BHIR A FE AR

measured at FVTPL FrECEREE
— Profit guarantees —BRRENTEIEY
in relation to the R IRAE
acquisition of:
— Brilliant Ever Global Limited — FOKIRIREBR A A
(see note 23(0)) (RBKFE23(b)
— Best Take Global Limited — Best Take Global
(see note 23(c)) Limited
(RB3E23(c)

Other financial assets measured A FESFABHIEY

at FVTPL HihemEE
— Equity securities listed in —REB LW ZRAR

Hong Kong EH 12,394
— Investment funds —REES 1,348

15,173

1 66 Legendary Education Group Limited
Annual Report 2025

HK$'000
TAT

6,887

3,160

10,047

1,990
1,346

13,383




21.

22.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH  21.

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Notes:
(@  Equity securities listed in Hong Kong

As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025, the fair value of the
equity securities listed in Hong Kong is based on the bid prices
quoted on the Stock Exchange at the end of the reporting
period.

(b)  Investment funds

As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025, the fair value of the
investment funds is based on the quoted prices obtained from
the investment fund manager as at the end of the reporting
period as the investments in these investment funds are
redeemable by the Group based on such quoted prices.

Details of the fair value measurement hierarchy of the financial
assets at fair value through profit or l0ss are set out in note
35(0)(1)().

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 22.

Cash at banks and on hand IRITNRFHERE

Cash and cash equivalents presented RERE& MBI RER
in the consolidated statement of HERERERZET
financial position and consolidated ZEENIBEEED

statement of cash flows

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates.

At 31 March 2025, there were bank balances denominated in
RMB amounting to approximately HK$24,000 (2024 HK$41,000).
Remittance of funds out of PRC is subject to the relevant rules
and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by
the PRC government.

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

BRAFEFTABRBNEREE (&)

HaE -

@)

REE LT Z BRAFES

RZZE-_WMF=A=+—HBR=ZZ_1F
ZA=+—H REBLWZREESZ
NEEDIRBERRE ARG MR E

ANEBEHE -
REED

R-E-WNE=ZA=+—HER_ZE_HF
ZA=+—8  KEESZATFETDIRE
RMEPRREESCEMEZRES
B RAANZEREESHREHAN
SEBREFERERER -

BAFEFABENEBEEN R FER
BERFBENHEEI50)N0)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VB HwRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BHE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIFE

23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Accrued staff salaries
Other accruals and payables
Accrued interest on convertible
bonds
Other financial liabilities comprise
— Payables for acquisition of KC
Training Company Limited

[EFTEIH®
HiofEst &R RENRR
AR S5 AT 8

HihepamEasE

— WREEKC Training
Company Limited &
IR

— W HAGRIRAR A A
e R

— U8 Best Take Global
Limited f&{< 58

— bERERREXSR
ERAEIEMAFRIE

— Payables for acquisition of
Brilliant Ever Global Limited

— Payables for acquisition of Best
Take Global Limited

— Payables for acquisition of
Hong Kong Institute of
Professional Studies Limited

23.

@

(b)

()

@

Analysed as:
— Current
— Non-current

ZDiv: R
— &
— FRE

Note: The amounts represent contingent consideration payables by
the Group regarding the acquisition of certain subsidiaries during
the years ended 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2023 which are
recognised as financial liabilities of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (Continued)

Notes:

@

Other financial liabilities — Payables for acquisition of KC
Training Company Limited

The amount represents the outstanding payables for the
acquisition of KC Training Company Limited” which was acquired
by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2022.

On 20 September 2021, the Company, Able Glorious Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
Mr. Chung Kar Ho, Carol (the “KC Training Vendor”) entered into
the sale and purchase agreement (the “KC Training Agreement”)
in relation to the acquisition of the entire equity interest in KC
Training Company Limited, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands with limited liability, which is wholly-owned by the
KC Training Vendor for a consideration of HK$9,000,000 (the “KC
Training Consideration”).

KC Training Company Limited, through its subsidiary, is
principally engaged in holding development and training
programs (the “Training Programs”) with an aim to enhance
selling technigues and communication skills of the customers.
The Training Programs are specifically designed for the
insurance brokers and agents, who wish to enhance their sales
performance and customer relationships. The directors of the
Company consider that the acquisition of KC Training Company
Limited will facilitate the Group to further expand the business
scope and revenue stream of the Financial Quotient and
Investment Education Business and is in line with the business
development strategy of the Group.

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
“THF=RA=+—RHILFE

BHE—

23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (Continued)

70

Notes: (Continued)

(@  Other financial liabilities — Payables for acquisition of KC
Training Company Limited (Continued)

On 11 November 2021, the Company, Able Glorious Limited
and KC Training Vendor entered into a supplemental agreement
(the "KC Training Supplemental Agreement”) and the principal
amendments contemplated under the KC Training Supplemental
Agreement are set out below:

1. The KC Training Consideration to the Vendor has been
amended and restated as follows:

The KC Training Consideration of HK$9,000,000 (subject
to the adjustments) shall be satisfied by Able Glorious
Limited by four instalments according to the following
schedule:

0]

First instalment in the sum of HK$2,000,000 will be
satisfied upon completion of the acquisition in the
following manner:

(@  asto HK$1,000,000 by cash; and

(b)  settlement of debts of HK$1,000,000 owed
by the KC Training Vendor to KC Training
Company Limited (the “KC Training Assumed
Liabilities”).

Second instalment in the sum of HK$3,000,000
(subject to the adjustments) will be satisfied within
14 business days upon issuance of the audited
financial statements of the company for the year
ending 31 March 2022 in the following manner:

(@ as to HK$1,000,000 (subject to the
adjustments) in cash; and

(b) as to HK$2,000,000 (subject to the
adjustments) by the issue of the promissory
note in the principal amount of HK$2,000,000
by the Company to the KC Training Vendor (or
its nominee(s)) (the "KC Training Promissory
Note A").
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(@  Other financial liabilities — Payables for acquisition of KC
Training Company Limited (Continued)

1. (Continued)

(iif)

Third instalment in the sum of HK$3,000,000
(subject to the adjustments) will be satisfied within
14 business days upon issuance of the audited
financial statements of the company for the year
ending 31 March 2023 in the following manner:

(@ as to HK$1,000,000 (subject to the
adjustments) in cash; and

(b) as to HK$2,000,000 (subject to the
adjustments) by the issue of the promissory
note in the principal amount of HK$2,000,000
by the Company to the KC Training Vendor (or
its nominee(s)) (the "KC Training Promissory
Note B”).

Fourth instalment in the sum of HK$1,000,000
(subject to the adjustments) will be satisfied by
the issue of the promissory note in the principal
amount of HK$1,000,000 by the Company to the
KC Training Vendor (or its nominee(s)) within
14 business days upon issuance of the audited
financial statements of the company for the year
ending 31 March 2024 (the "KC Training Promissory
Note C", together with the “KC Training Promissory
Note A" and “KC Training Promissory Note B”, the
“KC Training Promissory Notes").

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025

HE-_ZT-_AF=-A=+—HLFE

23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(@  Other financial liabilities — Payables for acquisition of KC
Training Company Limited (Continued)

2. The KC Training Vendor irrevocably and unconditionally
guarantees to Able Glorious Limited that the actual net
profits for each of the three years ended 31 March 2022,
31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024 shall be no less than
HK$2,000,000 (the “KC Training Guarantee Profits").

The principal terms of the KC Training Promissory Notes

are as following:

Principal amount:

Interest:

Maturity:

Early repayment:

HK$2,000,000 for KC Training
Promissory Note A, HK$2,000,000
f or KC Training Promissory
Note B and HK$1,000,000 for
KC Training Promissory Note C,
with an aggregate amount of
HK$5,000,000.

5% per annum from the date
of issue of the KC Training
Promissory Notes and payable
monthly in arrears

3 years from the date of issue of
the KC Training Promissory Notes

The Company may pay to the
Vendor prior to the maturity date
any outstanding principal amount
(together with the outstanding
accrued interests) of the KC
Training Promissory Notes

The completion date of the acquisition was 11 November

2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

@

Other financial liabilities — Payables for acquisition of KC
Training Company Limited (Continued)

2. (Continued)

At the date of acquisition, the Group recognised as other
financial liabilities of the Group the KC Training Promissory
Notes issuable by the Company upon meeting the KC
Training Guarantee Profits at the present values of the KC
Training Promissory Notes amounted to approximately
HK$7,203,000 that are expected to be issued. Based on
the assessment of the management of the Company, the
probability the full amount of the contingent consideration
would not eventually have to be issued was not significant
at the date of acquisition and as at 31 March 2022.

According to the audited results KC Training Company
Limited for the years ended 31 March 2024, the actual
profits have met the KC Training Guarantee Profits and
thus, there has no adjustment to the outstanding other
financial liabilities — payables for acquisition of KC
Training Company Limited for the year ended 31 March
2024.

Other financial liabilities — Payables for acquisition of Brilliant
Ever Global Limited/Profit guarantees in relation to the
acquisition of Brilliant Ever Global Limited

The amount represents the outstanding payables for the
acquisition of Brilliant Ever Global Limited which was acquired
by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2022.

On 31 March 2022, the Company, Able Glorious Limited and
Mr. Leung Yu Hang (the “Brilliant Ever Vendor”) entered into the
sale and purchase agreement (the “Brilliant Ever Agreement”)
in relation to the acquisition of the entire equity interest in
Brilliant Ever Global Limited, a company incorporated in BVI with
limited liability, which was wholly-owned by the Brilliant Ever
Vendor, for a consideration of HK$40,000,000 (the “Brilliant Ever
Consideration”).
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRKMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BHE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIFE

23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

174

()

Other financial liabilities — Payables for acquisition of Brilliant
Ever Global Limited/Profit guarantees in relation to acquisition of
Brilliant Ever Global Limited (Continued)

Brilliant Ever Global Limited, through its subsidiary, is principally
engaged in provision of financial quotient and investment
experience sharing courses in Hong Kong. The directors of the
Company expect that the acquisition of Brilliant Ever Global
Limited will create synergy effect to the existing business lines to
the extent that it would allow the Group to conduct cross selling
and cross-marking exercises for other investment courses
currently offered by the Group.

The Brilliant Ever Consideration of HK$40,000,000 shall be
satisfied by the Company in the following manner:

(i) First instalment in the sum of HK$7,000,000 has been
satisfied in the following manner upon signing of the
Brilliant Ever Agreement:

(@  asto HK$6,000,000 in cash; and

(b)  settlement of debts of HK$1,000,000 owed by the
Brilliant Ever Vendor to Brilliant Ever Global Limited
(the "Brilliant Ever Assumed Liabilities”).

(i) Second instalment in the sum of HK$6,000,000 (subject
to the adjustments) will be satisfied within 14 business
days upon issue of the audited financial statements of the
company for the year ending 31 March 2023 by issue of
the Promissory Note A to the Brilliant Ever Vendor (or its
nominee(s)) (the “Brilliant Ever Promissory Note A”).

(i) Third instalment in the sum of HK$9,000,000 (subject to
the adjustments) will be satisfied within 14 business days
upon issue of the audited financial statements of the
company for the year ending 31 March 2024 by issue of
the Promissory Note B to the Brilliant Ever Vendor (or its
nominee(s)) (the “Brilliant Ever Promissory Note B").
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

Other financial liabilities — Payables for acquisition of Brilliant
Ever Global Limited/Profit guarantees in relation to acquisition of
Brilliant Ever Global Limited (Continued)

(iv)  Fourth instalment in the sum of HK$18,000,000 (subject
to the adjustments) will be satisfied within 14 business
days upon issue of the audited financial statements of
the company for year ending 31 March 2025 by issue
of the Promissory Note C to the Brilliant Ever Vendor
(or its nominee(s)) (the “Brilliant Ever Promissory Note
C", together with the "Brilliant Ever Promissory Note A"
and “Brilliant Ever Promissory Note B”, the “Brilliant Ever
Promissory Notes”).

The Brilliant Ever Vendor irrevocably and unconditionally
guarantees to Able Glorious Limited that the actual
profits for each of three years ending 31 March 2023,
31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025 shall be no less
than HK$5,000,000, HK$8,000,000 and HK$11,000,000,
respectively (the "Brilliant Ever Guaranteed Profits”).

The principal terms of the Brilliant Ever Promissory Notes
are as follows:

Principal amount:  HK$6,000,000 for Brilliant Ever
Promissory Note A, HK$9,000,000
for Brilliant Ever Promissory Note B
and HK$18,000,000 for Brilliant Ever
Promissory Note C

Interest: 5% per annum from the date of issue
of the Brilliant Ever Promissory Notes
and payable monthly in arrears

Maturity: 3 years from the date of issue of the
Brilliant Ever Promissory Notes

Early repayment.  The Company may pay to the Brilliant
Ever Vendor prior to the maturity date
any outstanding principal amount
(together with the outstanding
accrued interests) of the Brilliant Ever
Promissory Notes

The completion date of the acquisition was 31 March
2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRKMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
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23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

W5

()

Other financial liabilities — Payables for acquisition of Brilliant
Ever Global Limited/Profit guarantees in relation to acquisition of
Brilliant Ever Global Limited (Continued)

(iv)

(Continued)

At the date of acquisition, the Group recognised as
other financial liabilities of the Group the Brilliant Ever
Promissory Notes issuable by the Company upon meeting
the Brilliant Ever Guarantee Profits at the present values
of the Brilliant Ever Promissory Notes amounted to
approximately HK$29,412,000 that are expected to be
issued. Based on the assessment of the management
of the Company, the probability the full amount of the
contingent consideration would not eventually have to be
issued was not significant at the date of acquisition and
as at 31 March 2022.

According to the audited results of Brilliant Ever Global
Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024, the profit did
not meet the Brilliant Ever Guaranteed Profits and thus,
there has an adjustment amounted to approximately
HK$5,363,000 made to the Brilliant Ever Promissory Notes.
Further, as at 31 March 2024, based on the assessment of
the management of the Company, there might have the
probability the full amount of the contingent consideration
relating the meeting of the Brilliant Ever Guaranteed
Profits for the year ending 31 March 2025 would not
eventually have to be paid and thus, the Company
recognised a financial asset amounted to approximately
HK$6,887,000 regarding the “profit guarantee in relation
to the acquisition of Brilliant Ever Global Limited” (see
note 21) and thus, there has a change in such financial
asset amounted to approximately HK$683,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2024. Thus, the net amount of the
adjustment to the Brilliant Ever Promissory Notes and the
change in the financial asset amounted to approximately
HK$4,680,000 was credited to the profit or loss as “other
gains and loss” for the year ended 31 March 2024.

According to the audited results of Brilliant Ever Global
Limited for the year ended 31 March 2025, the profit did
not meet the Brilliant Ever Guaranteed Profits thus, there
has adjusted amount to approximately HK$17,000,000.
During the year, the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with a third party to dispose of
Brilliant Ever Global Limited. Consequently, the Company
derecognised the related financial asset arising from profit
guarantees. A net gain of approximately HK$10,154,000
was recognised in profit or loss under “other gains
and losses” for the year ended 31 March 2025. This
amount reflects the reversal of obligations relating to the
promissory notes and the derecognition of the related
financial asset previously recognised as “profit guarantee
in relation to the acquisition of Brilliant Ever Global
Limited”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

©

Other financial liabilities — Payables for acquisition of Best Take
Global Limited/Profit guarantees in relation to acquisition of Best
Take Global Limited

The amount represent the outstanding payables for the
acquisition of Best Take Global Limited which was acquired by
the Group during the year ended 31 March 2023.

On 16 August 2022, the Company, Able Glorious Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Ms.
Man Chi Ling (the "Best Take Global Vendor A”) and Mr. Lee
Kwok Yui, (the “Best Take Global Vendor B") entered into the
sale and purchase agreement in relation to the acquisition of
the entire equity interest in Best Take Global Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability,
which is owned as to 85% by Vendor A and 15% of Vendor B
(“Vendors") respectively for a consideration of HK$15,000,000
(the “Best Take Global Consideration”).

Best Take Global Limited, through its subsidiary, is principally
engaged in pole dance studios in Hong Kong. It currently
operates three pole dance studios in Hong Kong, offering various
courses for members of varying experience level. Leveraging
on the extensive industry experience of its management and
lead instructors, it has established solid reputation and is widely
recognised for its high-quality and experienced training team,
which consists of top talents with regional championship title.
The directors of the Company consider that the acquisition of
Best Take Global Limited will allow the Group to broaden its
business spectrum and the operation of the Best Take Global
Limited will contribute positively to the Group.

The Best Take Global Consideration shall be satisfied by
the Company as to (i) HK$1,400,000 by the assumption of
the assumed liabilities by the purchaser upon Completion;
(i) HK$1,200,000 by cash within 60 calendar days from the
Completion Date; and (i) HK$12,400,000 in aggregate by issue
of the Promissory Notes to the Vendors in six instalments in the
following manner:

(i) First instalment in the sum of HK$2,400,000 has been
satisfied upon signing of the Agreement by issue of the
promissory notes (the “Best Take Global Promissory
Note A”) to the Vendors in proportion to their respective
shareholding interests immediately prior to Completion;

(i) Second instalment in the sum of HK$2,000,000 (subject
to the Adjustments) will be satisfied within 14 business
days upon issue of the audited financial statement of the
company for the year ending 31 March 2023 by issue of
the promissory notes (the “Best Take Global Promissory
Note B") to the Vendors (or their nominee(s)) in proportion
to their respective shareholding interests immediately
prior to completion;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
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23.

78

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)  Other financial liabilities — Payables for acquisition of Best Take
Global Limited/Profit guarantees in relation to acquisition of Best
Take Global Limited (Continued)

(i)~ Third instalment in the sum of HK$2,000,000 (subject
to the Adjustments) will be satisfied within 14 business
days upon issue of the audited financial statement of the
company for the year ending 31 March 2024 by issue of
the promissory notes (the “Best Take Global Promissory
Note C") to the Vendors (or their nominee(s)) in proportion
to their respective shareholding interests immediately
prior to completion;

(iv)  Fourth instalment in the sum of HK$2,000,000 (subject
to the Adjustments) will be satisfied within 14 business
days upon issue of the audited financial statement of the
company for the year ending 31 March 2025 by issue of
the promissory notes (the “Best Take Global Promissory
Note D") to the Vendors (or their nominee(s)) in proportion
to their respective shareholding interests immediately
prior to completion;

(v)  Fifth instalment in the sum of HK$2,000,000 (subject to
the Adjustments) will be satisfied within 14 business
days upon issue of the audited financial statement of the
company for the year ending 31 March 2026 by issue of
the promissory notes (the “Best Take Global Promissory
Note E") to the Vendors (or their nominee(s)) in proportion
to their respective shareholding interests immediately
prior to completion; and

(vi)  Sixth instalment in the sum of HK$2,000,000 (subject
to the Adjustments) will be satisfied within 14 business
days upon issue of the audited financial statement of the
company for the year ending 31 March 2027 by issue of
the promissory notes (the “Best Take Global Promissory
Note F") to the Vendors (or their nominee(s)) in proportion
to their respective shareholding interests immediately
prior to completion.

The Vendors irrevocably and unconditionally guarantees
to Able Glorious Limited that the actual net profits for
each of the five years ending 31 March 2023, 31 March
2024, 31 March 2025, 31 March 2026 and 31 March 2027
shall be no less than HK$2,600,000 (the “Best Take Global
Guarantee Profits").

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

©

Other financial liabilities — Payables for acquisition of Best Take
Global Limited/Profit guarantees in relation to acquisition of Best
Take Global Limited (Continued)

(vi)  (Continued)

The principal terms of the Best Take Global Promissory
Notes are as follows:

Principal amount:

Interest:

Maturity:

Early repayment:

HK$2,400,000 for Best Take Global
Promissory Note A, HK$2,000,000
for Best Take Global Promissory
Note B and HK$2,000,000 for Best
Take Global Promissory Note C,
HK$2,000,000 for Best Take Global
Promissory Note D, HK$2,000,000 for
Best Take Global Promissory Note E,
HK$2,000,000 for Best Take Global
Promissory Note F with an aggregate
amount of HK$12,400,000.

5% per annum from the date of issue
of the Best Take Global Promissory
Notes and payable monthly in arrears

3 years from the date of issue of the
Best Take Global Promissory Notes

The Company may pay to the
Vendor prior to the maturity date
any outstanding principal amount
(together with the outstanding
accrued interests) of the Best Take
Global Promissory Notes

The completion date of the acquisition was on 16 August

2022.
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23.
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“hHE=ZA=+t—HLEE

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)  Other financial liabilities — Payables for acquisition of Best Take
Global Limited/Profit guarantees in relation to acquisition of Best
Take Global Limited (Continued)

(vi)  (Continued)

According to the audited results of Best Take Global
Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024, the profit did
not meet the Best Take Global Guarantee Profits and thus,
there has an adjustment amounted to approximately
HK$1,128,000 made to the Best Take Global Promissory
Notes. Further, as at 31 March 2024, based on the
assessment of the management of the Company,
there might have the probability the full amount of the
contingent consideration relating to the meeting of the
Best Take Global Guaranteed Profits for each of the
three years ending 31 March 2025, 31 March 2026 and
31 March 2027 would not eventually have to be paid
and thus, the Company recognised a financial asset
amounted to approximately HK$3,160,000 regarding the
"profit guarantee in relation to the acquisition of Best
Take Global Limited” (see note 21) and thus, there has a
change in such financial asset amounted to approximately
HK$970,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024. The
net amount of the adjustment to the Best Take Global
Promissory Notes and the change in the financial asset
amounted to approximately HK$2,098,000 was credited
to the profit or loss as “other gains and loss” for the year
ended 31 March 2024.

According to the audited results of Best Take Global
Limited for the year ended 31 March 2025, the profit did
not meet the Best Take Global Guarantee Profits and thus,
there has an adjustment amounted to approximately
HK$1,384,000 made to the Best Take Global Promissory
Notes. Further, as at 31 March 2025, based on the
assessment of the management of the Company,
there might have the probability the full amount of the
contingent consideration relating to the meeting of the
Best Take Global Guaranteed Profits for each of the three
years ending 31 March 2026 and 31 March 2027 would
not eventually have to be paid and thus, the Company
recognised a financial asset amounted to approximately
HK$1,431,000 regarding the “profit guarantee in relation
to the acquisition of Best Take Global Limited” (see note
21) and thus, there has a change in such financial asset
amounted to approximately HK$1,729,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2024. The net amount of the adjustment
to the Best Take Global Promissory Notes and the
change in the financial asset amounted to approximately
HK$345,000 was debited to the profit or loss as “other
gains and loss” for the year ended 31 March 2025.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d

Other financial liabilities — Payables for acquisition of Hong
Kong Institute of Professional Studies Limited

The amount represent the outstanding payable for the
acquisition of Hong Kong Institute of Professional Studies Limited
which was acquired by the Group during the year ended 31
March 2023.

On 27 September 2022, the Company, Able Glorious Limited,
Hong Kong Institute of Financial Analysis Limited, China Vantage
International Holdings Limited and Ms. Chau Ching Fong, Elisa
(the "Hong Kong Institute of Professional Studies Vendor A, B
and C", collectively, the “Vendors”) entered into the sale and
purchase agreement (the "Hong Kong Institute of Professional
Studies Agreement”) in relation to the acquisition of the 75%
equity interest in Hong Kong Institute of Professional Studies
Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability, for a consideration of HK$2,000,000 (the “Hong Kong
Institute of Professional Studies Consideration”).

Hong Kong Institute of Professional Studies Limited is principally
engaged in provision of certificate courses in financial analysis,
with topics covering financial analysis, equity investment
analysis, financial derivatives analysis and bond value
assessment. The directors of the Company expect that the
acquisition of Hong Kong Institute of Professional Studies Limited
for further expanding the business scope and revenue stream of
the Investment Education Business segment and is in line with
the business development strategy of the Group.

The Hong Kong Institute of Professional Studies Consideration of
HK$2,000,000 shall be satisfied by the Company in the following
manner:

(i) First instalment in the sum of HK$1,000,000 has
been satisfied upon signing of the sale and purchase
agreement.

(i) Second instalment in the sum of HK$1,000,000 will be
satisfied within 14 business days upon successful renewal
of the registration of the Certificate Courses on or before
31 May 2023.

The completion date of the acquisition was completed on 27
September 2022.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025,
the Company is still in the process of renewing the registration
of the certificate courses. The directors of the Company are
of the view that the process of renewing the registration of
certificate course has not yet been completed and thus, there
has no adjustment to the outstanding other financial liabilities —
payables for acquisition of Hong Kong Institute of Professional
Studies Limited for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 31
March 2025.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z_AF=A=+—HLFE

24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 24. EREE

2025 2024
—E_RE —E-OF

HK$'000 HK$'000
T8 BT

Contract liabilities AHBEE

— Billings in advance of performance — FB4JRTARES 28,236
At 1 April 2023, contact liabilities arising from contracts with RZZE-_=ZFMNAE—B  BEFAYELEN
customers amounted to approximately HK$33,256,000. AW BEL A 33,256,000 7T °
At 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025, the Group’s contract R-_ZE_NE=A=+—HER_-_Z_HF
liabilities represents the advances received from customers —RA=+—H8 xEENEHAEGBERR
regarding the provision of financial quotient and investment HE MR ELRBEREANA R E
education services and private supplementary education RS E &R UELH B SR o
services.
The contract liabilities primarily related to below: AMBEIEETYRIESRN -

. advance consideration received from the customers IR IR BB H LA N

for the provision of financial quotient and investment WM EREaRPIWEFEMARE
education seminars and private supplementary education I IR AR A RS BN RE SR B B Uk 25

courses, for which revenue is recognised when the
services have been rendered,

. certain customers are required to pay deposits when o EIFEPAR T EEETT SRS iR
they place the sales order, which resulted in contract - WEB(EEAKERNERE
liabilities until the Group delivers the products and the EEEASYHE DR ALY
customers obtain control of the products. afE-

The amount of billing in advance of performance are expected FEEEARBREENSE BN —FRERE

to be recognised as income within one year. WA o

There was no revenue recognised in the current reporting KRG EET EEREANBEFETK

period that related to performance obligations that were AR FENKkE -

satisfied in prior year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Ccontinued) 24. EHNEE@)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised TRIATAENRRERVTAGHEELR
in the current reporting period that were included in the R BifATER 2 WA S 58

contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:

2025 2024
—E_RF —E PO

HK$°000 HK$'000
FiER T

Revenue recognised that was included R¥RrEHVF AN EES
in contract liabilities at the beginning 2 #&RIA :
of the reporting period:

— Provision of financial quotient — IR RIEEHRE
and investment education AL E B A R AR

and private supplementary

education courses 28,236

The movements of contract liabilities are as follows: AHaEZEEHHT

2024
—E-NF
HK$'000
T

Balance at beginning of the year FHEERR
Decrease in contract liabilities as a REDFTABHEERN
result of recognising revenue during  EEWRRERIHAE L

the year that was included in the aEmd

contract liabilities at the beginning of

the year (33,256)
Increase in contract liabilities as FRFEUWREREEHH

a result of billing in advance of AHBEEM

courses during the year 28,236
Balance at end of the year FRER 28,236

BESEENARAT
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z_AF=A=+—HIFE

25. BANK BORROWING 25. RITEE

2025 2024
—E-REF —EFHF

HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi85t BT

Amount repayable within 1 year or R—FRNRIEEREESE

on demand

— Bank loan, unsecured — iR1T AR 4,682
The Group's bank borrowing contains a repayment on demand REBHETEELSHERES KR
clause and thus, the amount was classified as current liabilities A ZZIERGAMERETDEAR
in the consolidated financial statements. HafE -
The bank borrowing is unsecured, interest bearing at 3% per HEe—_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—8" K178
annum (2024: 3.625%) as of 31 March 2025. BEREER  RFEME%(ZT_MF -

3.625%) 5T & o
26. LEASE LIABILITIES 26. HEA®E

The following table shows the remaining contractual Tﬁg@m$ﬁlm%ﬁf—ig@y\§; BB
maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the WK T A MBS

current and previous reporting period:

2025 2024
—E-FHE —EEF

HK$'000 HK$'000
FB T

Lease liabilities payable: ERHEEAE -

— Within one year —1FR 11,938
— Within a period of more than one  — #8381 4B~ #8:B
year but not exceeding two 2F M EIE A
years 3,482
— Within a period of more thantwo ~ — #8382 4B~ #2:B
years but not exceeding five 5F R EEA
years 210
15,630
Less: Amount due for settlement with 35t : RBBEE FARR
12 months shown under current 121E A R BEE R
liabilities IE (11,938)
Amount due for settlement after K12 B AR B E A
12 months B 3,692
At 31 March 2025, the lease liabilities amounting to RZEZRF=A=+—H @AEERE
approximately HK$2,547,000 (2024. HK$760,000) and Nil (2024 HEHREEEAEaED R AL2,547,000
HK$1,074,000) related to leases of motor vehicles and yacht BT (—Z P04 : 760,000 T) KT (=
which net carrying amounts of approximately HK$3,631,000 T P4 ¢ 1,074,000 70) © BREDFES R
(2024: HK$1,281,000) and HK$2,246,000 (2024: HK$4,239,000) A#493,631,00078 70 ( ZZE P4 : 1,281,000
respectively (note 15). All other lease liabilities related to leases 7 JC ) K&2,246,000 jt( = T = Y F -
of properties. 4,239,000 7)) (KisE15) - FTEHMAE

BEEYEEERH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27. PROVISION FOR LITIGATION

Litigation claim

The litigation claim brought against Sino Shine Retailing
Limited (“Sino Shine") arose from a repudiatory breach of a
tenancy agreement between Sino Shine as the tenant and an
independent third party landlord entered into on 27 October
2016.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group received
a writ of summons in relation to a repudiatory breach of a
tenancy agreement between the plaintiff, an independent
third party landlord, and Sino Shine Retailing Limited, then
a subsidiary of the Group, entered into on 27 October 2016,
which the plaintiff is claiming the Group for, inter alia, damages
in the sum of approximately HK$1,735,000 plus interest. The
directors of the Company consider that it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation, and the Group has recognised the provision of
HK$1,735,000, which is considered as a reliable estimate that
can be made.

Though Sino Shine was disposed by the Group during the year
ended 31 March 2020, according to the terms in the agreement
for sale and purchase of shares in Sino Shine with the buyer
of Sino Shine, the legal claim incurred for Sino Shine which
related to event before the date of disposal on 20 September
2019 shall be payable by the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, there has no further
development on the outstanding litigation and accordingly,
the directors consider that the provision for litigation claim of
HK$1,735,000 (2024: HK$1,735,000) remained a liability of the
Group as at 31 March 2025.

As at 31 March 2025, based on the consultations with the
Company’s legal counsel, the directors of the Company
consider that the claim is well covered by the provision made
and would not result in any further material adverse impact on
the financial position or results and operations of the Group.
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27. AR

2025 2024
—E"RHE —EFHF
HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT T T

1,735 1,735

HHABZERRAR ([THE]) REAFA
RIEDESBROMERTE(ERABEAN)
H—FBIUF=NERR_ZF—XRFtA
T ERFTZHE R

REE-_ET-NE=A=+—HLtEE"
AEEKIBEEALOUEERIRS (BI—%
BUBE=ZFRR)EAEEEZR BB
RAFABEEERAGIRZE— F+A
ZttHFIzHERENERSHK R
SR (H R B1E) 85 A4%91,735,000 8 TH)
BASNAERAEBRE - RRAEE
REBRFRAIEFTSELCEMNRLY B
b 7 5= (B FE TR B 4 1,735,000 78 T+ "2 BB
SRR BRENME O] SE5 -

BREARSERBE-_T-_EF=RA=4+—
AIEFEEHABLE AW RIEAE
HABHNER 2B NN EBEHBE
BER ARREERAEERE - —1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z_AF=A=+—HLFE

28. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 28. EEBIEAE
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for TRAEMRMBHBE N ZRTETIAERSD
financial reporting purposes: T

Deferred tax liabilities FREFIEEE

2024
—ET-FE

HK$'000
THETT

524

The components of deferred tax liabilities regarding
accelerated tax depreciation recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position and the movements during the
years ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025 are as follows:

HE-Z-_NE=-ZA=+—HEK-_ZT-F
FZA=ZT—HLEFE REAVBHRLR
KANERNEBEINRH BN ENELERE
BEMMEREEBIT

HK$'000
T

As at 1 April 2023 RZE-_=FWMA—H 663
Credited to profit or loss FFAEZE (139)
As at 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZE-WNF=ZA=+—HK

—E_MNFHA—H 524
Credited to profit or loss FFAEZE (139)
As at 31 March 2025 RZE—RAF=A=+—H 385

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has unused tax losses
of approximately HK$48,774,000 (2024: approximately
HK$55,149,000) available for offset against future profits that
may be carried forward indefinitely. No deferred tax asset was
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$ nil) since it is not probable that
future taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised
will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 11 June 2024, the Company issued Convertible Bonds
in the aggregate principal amount of HK$15,000,000. These
bonds carry an interest rate of 10% per annum and have a
denomination of HK$500,000 each. The Convertible Bonds
are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and constitute direct,
unsubordinated, unconditional, and unsecured obligations of
the Company, ranking pari passu among themselves and at
least pari passu with other similar obligations. Bondholders
are entitled to convert their bonds into Conversion Shares at
any time during the Conversion Period, which is the period
from the date of issue up to the date immediately preceding
the Maturity Date. The Maturity Date is 1 April 2025. The
initial Conversion Price was set at HK$1.48 per Conversion
Share. This price is subject to adjustment upon certain events,
including the issue of Shares at a price less than 95% of the
then market price.

Following a Share Placing completed on 19 March 2025 where
10,946,000 shares were placed at HK$1.42 per Share, the
Conversion Price was adjusted from HK$1.48 to HK$1.47 per
Conversion Share, effective from 19 March 2025.

Unless previously redeemed or converted, the Company shall
redeem the outstanding Convertible Bonds on the Maturity
Date at the redemption amount which shall equal to 100%
of the principal amount thereof outstanding, together with
interest accrued thereon. The Company does not have the
right to redeem the bonds prior to maturity, but Bondholders
have the right to require redemption upon specific events
stipulated in the terms and conditions, such as events of
default or a change of the single largest Shareholder. Interest
is payable upon the Maturity Date; however, no interest will
be payable on any Convertible Bonds in respect of which the
conversion right has been exercised and any interest accrued
on such Convertible Bonds shall be extinguished.

29.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z_AF=A=+—HLFE

29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 29.
The convertible loan contain two components, debt component
and derivative (including conversion and early redemption
options) component. The effective interest rate of the debt
component is 94%. The derivative component is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R-E-_WNE=ZA=+—HRK

AR ES &)

AHRRE RS MELRDS - BEBD
S RATET B (BiE8ER K IZ PR EIEIERE)
W5 o BB 2 BEFIE A% - £74
TESBHKRATENE HATFEEHR

B R ©

Derivative
convertible financial
bonds instruments

AR ES tTEEMTIA
HK’'000 HK$°000
FEx FHET

—E-UFIPA—H - -
Issued during the year FREETT 9,520 5,480
Interest on convertible bonds ATHRRESHFILE 5,480 -
Gain on fair value changes NHEZ B - (5,480)
At 31 March 2025 RZZEZRF=HA=+—H 15,000 -

Binomial option pricing model is used for valuation of the
derivative financial instruments performed by an independent
professional valuer.

The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

TESRMTAZHEHBIEEMGER
RA AR EERLETT -

TREFIFTAER N8 ABE

At inception At 31 March 2025

Stock price of ordinary share RNAREBIRAE
of the Company

Exercise price per ordinary share RARIEREBARITERE
of the Company

Risk-free rate a3 P 1) 22

Expected dividend yield TEEARR B e K

Expected volatility TEER 1R

Redemption amount at the REBE 2 EBR &%
Maturity Date

The Maturity Date 2E3HE

Time to the Maturity Date 5 B B HA B B

R-B-HF

R4 B =B=+—H

1.85 1.54

1.48 1.47

4.824% 3.882%

1.030% 1.030%

48.40% 14.71%
HK15,000,000 HK15,000,000
15,000,000 7 7T 15,000,000 7T
1 April 2025 1 April 2025
ZE-RFMNA—H ZE-RAFMA—AH
0.8 year 1 day

0.84F 1H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. ®A

Number of
shares Amount

RDEE =8
HK$'000

THETT

ordinary shares of HK$0.0005 each 8 0.0005 &t 2 Z & ¢

Authorised: EIE
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, RZZTE-_=FMA—H
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 —E-pFE=A=+—8"
“E-NFMA—B K
—E-RFE=A=+—H 1,000,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid ERTRHEE
At 1 April 2023 RZE-=FMA—H 394,301,664 197
March 2021 Share Options T —F= FERRE
(note (a)(i) below) (P BiaE@)i) 10,380,600 5
October 2022 Share Options —E-FTAERE
(note (a)(i) below) (MR @) 11,917,400 6
Issue of share under the October 2023 B4 == — =4+ A #EEAXD
Award Shares (note (a)(ii) below) BT D (T 3P EE (@)(i)) 2,679,600 2

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZZEZWF=A=+—H

kZZTZWFMA—A 419,279,264

Placing of new shares B & # AR (9 (T STRT EE (D))

(note (b)(i) below) 33,602,000
October 2022 Share Options R ZF - AMIRE

(note ()(ii) below) (N 3CH=E (D)) 1,500,000
At 31 March 2025 RZZEZRF=HA=+—H 454,381,264
The owners of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends LB T EB AN RS -
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per W BRI ERABBRERAE FZH—
share at general meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares EX R TS ABEEANT Z Rt
rank equally with regard to the Company's residual assets. BEZHRIZREF -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
“THF=RA=+—RHILFE

BHE—

30. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
Details of the movements of the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023 are as follows:

190

(@) Movements during the year ended 31
March 2024

(M

(i)

Exercise of March 2021 Share Options
and October 2022 Share Options

During the year ended 31 March 2024, certain
March 2021 Share Options holders and October
2022 Share Options holders exercised their rights
to subscribe for 10,380,600 and 11,917,400 ordinary
shares in the Company and details are set out in
notes 31(a) and (b), respectively.

Issue of shares under October 2023
Award Shares

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the
Company issued 2,679,600 ordinary shares of the
Company to an independent trustee based on the
closing price of approximately HK$2.04 per ordinary
shares on 9 October 2023, i.e. with a total value
of approximately HK$5,466,000 in respect of the
October 2023 Award Shares under the 2022 Share
Award Scheme of the Company and details of
which are set out in note 31(c).

All new shares rank pari passu in all aspects with
each other in accordance with the memorandum
and articles of association of the Company.
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IFEZEE
() TE-—ZE-_—F=PBERE
=B —_F+RAERE
HE-_ZT-_NWF=ZA=+—H
EFE BT =-—%=A
BERERBEARZ-ZZE=_Z
T ABRERE AT R SE
FI 7R B8 7N X 7] 10,380,600 B &
11,917,400 f% & ;@Hﬁ HIED
B KT EE31() R (D) °
(i) BBE-SB-_=F1+AEBK

31T R D
HE_Z-_WNFE=A=+—H
IEFE - ARAABULZFEA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
(b) Movements during the year ended 31
March 2025

)

Completion of placing of new shares

The completion of the placing took place on 23 April
2024, where a total of 22,656,000 placing shares
have been actually placed by the placing agent to
not less than six placees at the adjusted placing
Price of HK$1.32 per placing share pursuant to
the terms and condition of the Placing Agreement
under the General Mandate.

The 22,656,000 Placing Shares under the placing
represents (i) approximately 5.4% of the issued
share capital of the Company immediately before
Completion; and (ii) approximately 5.1% of the
issued share capital of the Company as enlarged
by the allotment and issue of the Placing Shares
immediately upon Completion.

The actual gross proceeds from the placing
amounted to approximately HK$30,000,000. For
details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 19 March 2024, 8 April 2024 and 23
April 2024.

The completion of the placing took place on 19
March 2025, where a total of 10,946,000 Placing
Shares has been successfully placed by the placing
agent to not less than six Placees at the Placing
Price of HK$1.42 per Placing Share pursuant to
the terms and condition of the placing agreement
under the general mandate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
“THF=RA=+—RHILFE

BHE—

30. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
(b) Movements during the year ended 31
March 2025 (continued)

(&2

)

(ii)

Completion of placing of new shares
(Continued)

The 10,946,000 Placing Shares represent
approximately (i) 2.5% of the issued share capital
of the Company immediately before Completion;
and (i) 2.4% of the issued share capital of the
Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of
the Placing Shares immediately upon Completion.
The aggregate nominal value of the placing shares
under the placing is HK$5,473. The gross proceeds
from the placing are approximately HK$15,500,000.
For details, please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 21 February 2025 and 19
March 2025.

The Placing Shares will rank, upon issue, pari passu
in all respects with the Shares in issue at the time
of issue of the Placing Shares.

Exercise of October 2022 Share Options
During the year ended 31 March 2025, certain
October 2022 Share Options holders exercised their
rights to subscribe for 1,500,000 ordinary shares in
the Company and details are set out in notes 31(a)
and (b).

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, there were no other
movements in the share capital of the Company for
the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

The new issued shares rank pari passu in all
respects with each other in the share capital of the
company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(@) 2014 Share Option Scheme

The Company’s 2014 share option scheme (the “2014
Share Option Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a
resolution of the shareholders of the Company passed on
25 September 2014 for the primary purpose of providing
incentives or rewards to eligible participants, and would
be expired on 10 October 2024, after which no further
options would be granted.

Under the 2014 Share Option Scheme, the Board of
Directors of the Company might grant options to:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

any employee or proposed employee (whether
full-time or part-time and including any executive
director), consultants or advisers of or to the
Company, any of the subsidiaries or any entity (the
“Invested Entity”) in which the Company holds an
equity interest;

any non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of the Company, any of
the subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to the Company
or any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to the
Group or any Invested Entity; and

any shareholders or any shareholder of any of its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity or any holder of
any securities issued by any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRKMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BHE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIFE

31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

194

(Continued)
(@) 2014 Share Option Scheme (continued)

On 14 July 2020, a total of 10,000,000 share options (the
2020 July Share Options”) were granted to Mr. Yuen Yu
Sum, an executive director of the Company, to subscribe
for shares of HK$0.04 each of the Company under the
2014 Share Option Scheme, subject to acceptance of the
grantee and the payment of HK$1 by the grantee upon
acceptance of the options.

On 26 March 2021, a total of 127,992,000 share options
(the "March 2021 Share Options”) were granted to certain
grantees to subscribe for an aggregate of 127,992,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.0001 each in the share capital of
the Company under the 2014 Share Option Scheme,
subject to acceptance of the grantees and the payment
of HK$1 by each of the grantees upon acceptance of the
options.

No share options were granted during the year ended 31
March 2022.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the option
holders of 2020 July Share Options exercised
the options and subscribed for 10,000,000 ordinary
shares of the Company. Further, the number of the
outstanding 127,992,000 March 2021 Share Options was
adjusted to 25,598,400 upon the September 2021 Share
Consolidation during the year ended 31 March 2022.

On 14 October 2022, a total of 35,844,000 share options
(the "October 2022 Share Options”) were granted to
certain grantees, including the executive directors of the
company, to subscribe for an aggregate of 35,844,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.0005 each in the share capital of
the Company under the 2014 Share Option Scheme,
subject to acceptance of the grantees and the payment
of HK$1 by each of the grantees upon acceptance of the
options.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(@) 2014 Share Option Scheme (continued) (a)

31. UROABERNIRRS (&)

—E-NERBRESS @)

In addition, the number of the outstanding 25,598,400
March 2021 Share Options was adjusted to 28,158,440
upon the September 2022 Bonus Issue during the year
ended 31 March 2023.

The total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the 2014 Share Option Scheme
is not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any point in time without prior
approval from the Company'’s shareholders. The number
of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which
options granted and may be granted to any individual in
any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any point in time without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders.

The options granted must be taken up within 28 days
of the date of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per option.
Options may be exercised at any time from the date
of grant of the share option. The exercise price is
determined by the directors of the Company, and will not
be less than the higher of (i) the average closing price
of the ordinary shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the option
(which must be a business day); and (i) the closing price
of the ordinary shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the option
(which must be a business day).

Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for
one ordinary share in the Company and is settled gross
in shares.

o - BE—E-_=E=H=+—
BIEFEE R-E-_—Fh A%T
A% MATEZ_ZE=Z—F=
A BER ST B R 25,598,400 1) AR =
28,158,440 15 ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z_AF=A=+—HLFE

31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 31.
(Continued)
(@) 2014 Share Option Scheme (continued)
Details of the specific categories of options under 2014
Share Option Scheme granted are as follows:

Number of
Option type Date of grant share options  Exercise period

BREER BREZE

2020 July Share Options 14 July 2020 10,000,000 From 14 July 2020 to
31 July 2030
ETECABRE it 213 10000000 BZE-FFLATNAZ
+A+mEA ZETELACT-H
March 2021 Share Options 26 March 2021 28,158,240 From 26 March 2021 to
25 March 2031
IR AERE ok 28158200 BE-E--FZF-t+/HE
ZR-tRH “EZ-5ZA-f1AH
October 2022 Share Options 14 October 2022 35,844,000 From 14 October 2022 t0
13 October 2023
ZEICETRERE “BoCE 36844000 BZEZZFE+ATEEZE
TA+mA ZEZ=FTA+=H

The October 2022 Share Options granted to certain
grantees will only be vested if each of the net profit of
the Group for the financial year of the Company ending
31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024 is equal to or exceeds
the net profit of the Group for the financial year ended 31
March 2022.

Pursuant to the Consultation Conclusions, Chapter 23 of
the GEM Listing Rules have been amended with effect
from 1 January 2023. In light of the above, the Company
terminated the 2014 Share Option Scheme and adopt the
2023 Share Option Scheme to replace the 2014 Share
Option Scheme, which was approved by the Company’s
shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting held
on 9 September 2023. The 2023 Share Option Scheme
will be valid for 10 years from the adoption date.
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“E-NFERERESE®)
— TR BIE TR SR
R BRI EMT

Exercise price Exercise price
Initial per share after ~ per share after

exercise September September
price per 2021 Bonus 2022 Share

share Issue Consolidation
R-ZE--% R-E-ZF

BRAS  MARGARE  AARGAGEZ

%@ ZBRITEE ZBRITEE
HKS HKS

":'P'? T

0227 N/A N/A
0227 TER Gyl
0330 1.650 1.500
0330 1.650 1.500
1.104 N/A 1.004
1.104 TER 1.004
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(@) 2014 Share Option Scheme (continued)

31.

The following table discloses the movements of the 2014
Share Option Scheme during the years ended 31 March

2024 and 31 March 2025:

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z_RAF=A=+—BLFE

URHHBERNNRRS (@)

(@) —Z—NFERETE(®)
TRFEFE T —IFERET S A
E-FT-_NF=ZA=Z+—HEK=ZE
“hE=ZA=1t-RLFEZEH:

Outstanding at Exercised
beginning of  Lapsed during during  Outstanding at
the year the year the year end of the year
RE S RITHRE FREK ERTE RERERTE
Number of share options
BB
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE-E-_ME
ZA=t-ALEE
Directors EZ
October 2022 Share Options —E-FTRERE 8,685,600 - - 8,685,600
Employees and others ESREMAL
March 2021 Share Options T —E=AERE 28,158,240 - (10,380,600) 17,777,640
October 2022 Share Options T CF T ABRE 30,742,800 - (11,917,400) 18,825,400
67,586,640 - (22,298,000) 45,288,640
Exercisable at the end of the year RERAFITHE 45,283,640
Weighted average exercise price (HKS)  IEF51TEE (B T) 132 - 1.23 1.20
Year ended 31 March 2025 BE2_B-5f
ZA=t+-HLEE
Directors Bz
October 2022 Share Options T FTARERE 8,685,660 8,685,600
Employees and others ESREAMAL
March 2021 Share Options —T-—FZ ARRE 17,777,640 - - 17,777,640

October 2022 Share Options

TR F+ ABRE

Exercisable at the end of the year

Weighted average exercise price (HKS)

RERAF17E

IEFHEEEGET)

18,825,400

45,288,640

(5,042,400) (1,500,000) 12,283,000

(5,042,400)

(1,500,000) 38,746,240
38,746,240

1.23
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2025 3 197



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025

BE—

“hHE=ZA=+t—HLEE

31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

198

(Continued)
(@) 2014 Share Option Scheme (continued)

The estimated fair value of the share options granted
during the year ended 31 March 2023 was approximately
HK$7,400,000.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group
recognised a share option expense of approximately
HK$584,000 (2024: HK$1,169,000) for the year.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted
during the year ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2021
was estimated as at the dates of grant using a binomial
model, taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the share options were granted.

The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

Dividend vield (%) % B3 (%)
Expected volatility (%) TEHRR 18 (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%) 428 Lz ) 2 (%)
Forfeiture rate (%) Y2 UK (%)

The expected life of the share options is based on the
historical data over the past three years and is not
necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns that may
occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption
that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends,
which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the share options granted was
incorporated into measurement of fair value.
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—F-NEERESS (8
HE-T-=F=A=+—ALF
EREOBRENGSRTEY
7,400,000 7T °

BE-_T-_RF=A=+—BL*F
B AEBRFARRBRIERTY
584,000 70 (ZZF = /94 : 1,169,000

FBIL) e

HE-_Z-_=F=-A=+—HRE=ZE
Z—FZA=Z+—HLFE R
AR S E M E Z R FERE
tHHH(E A A TR - W
ST B AR R I RS SRR R M

TRINEAERAEANEABUER :

Share options granted
during the years ended 31 March

A=t-HLEERHZBERE

2023 2021
—s=-= —E-—F
1.7% 0-2%
33.29% 34.93%—-35.24%
4.16% 0.492%-1.381%
10%—-38% 58%

BRENTEF FHIDERBE=FK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(b) 2023 Share Option Scheme

The Company'’s 2023 share option scheme (the “2023
Share Option Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a
resolution of the shareholders of the Company passed
on 1 September 2023, with the adoption date of 1
September 2023 (the “Adoption Date") for the primary
purpose of providing incentives or rewards to eligible
participants, and the 2023 share option scheme option
period is ten (10) years commencing on the Adoption
Date, after which no further options will be granted (the
2023 Share Option Scheme Option Period”).

The key terms of the 2023 Share Option Scheme are set
out in the circular of the Company’s dated 16 August
2023 and the details are extracted below:

(i) Purpose

The purpose of the 2023 Share Option Scheme
is to enable the Company to grant options to
2023 share Option Scheme Eligible Persons (as
described below) as incentives or rewards for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group
and/or to recruit and retain high calibre 2023 Share
Option Scheme Eligible Persons and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group.

(ii) Duration

Subject to the provisions thereof, the 2023 Share
Option Scheme shall be valid and effective until the
date of expiry of the 2023 Share Option Scheme
Period, after which period no further options shall
be offered or granted but the provisions of the
2023 Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force
and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to
any options granted or exercised prior thereto or
otherwise as may be required in accordance with
the 2023 Share Option Scheme. Options complying
with the provisions of the GEM Listing Rules which
are granted during the life of the 2023 Share Option
Scheme shall continue to be valid and exercisable
in accordance with their terms of grant and
provisions of the 2023 Share Option Scheme after
the expiry of the Scheme Period.

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

31. UROABERNIRRS (&)

(b)

—EC=FRRETE
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(Continued)

(b) 2023 Share Option Scheme (continued)

(i)

2023 Share Option Scheme Eligible
Persons

The participants of the 2023 Share Option Scheme
shall be the 2023 Share Option Scheme Eligible
Persons.

The basis of eligibility of any 2023 Share Option
Scheme Eligible Person(s) to the grant of any option
shall be determined by the Board of Directors of the
Company (or where necessary, the independent
non-executive directors and/or the Remuneration
Committee of the Company) from time to time at
its absolute discretion on the basis of the 2023
Share Option Scheme Eligible Person'’s contribution
or potential contribution to the Group, or such
other factors as the Board may deem appropriate.
In determining whether a person has contributed
or will contribute to the Group, the Board of
Directors of the Company will take into account,
among other things, whether contribution has been
made to or will be made to the Group in terms
of operation, financial performance, prospects,
growth, development, reputation and image of
the Group. In assessing the eligibility of any 2023
Share Option Scheme Eligible Person, the Board of
Directors of the Company will consider all relevant
factors as appropriate, including, among others,
(a) his/her responsibilities and contributions made
or to be made to the Group; (b) his/her ability to
further promote the development of the Group; (¢)
his/her years of service; and (d) his/her professional
qualifications and knowledge in the industry.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 31. URGOHBERNNRRS (2)

(Continued)
(b) 2023 Share Option Scheme (continued) (b) —E-=FERETE(#H)
(iv) Grant of Options (iv) REiBERE

The directors shall, in accordance with the
provisions of the 2023 Share Option Scheme,
be entitled but shall not be bound, at any time
within a period of ten (10) years commencing on
the Adoption Date to make an offer to any 2023
Share Option Scheme Eligible Person(s) as the
directors may in their absolute discretion select,
to take up an option pursuant to which such 2023
Share Option Scheme Eligible Person may, during
the 2023 Share Option Scheme Option Period (as
described above), subscribe for such number of
shares at the subscription price as the directors
shall determine.

An offer shall be deemed to have been accepted
and to have taken effect when the duplicate letter
comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed by
the selected participant (the “2023 Share Option
Scheme Selected Participant”), together with a
payment of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for
the grant thereof, is received by the Company
within twenty-eight (28) days from the offer date (the
"2023 Share Option Scheme Offer Date”). If such
payment is not enclosed, the acceptance shall not
be prejudiced thereby, but the acceptance shall
create a promise by the 2023 Share Option Scheme
Selected Participant to pay to the Company
HK$1.00 on demand. Such payment shall in no
circumstances be refundable.

BE-_ZT - =FEREFEN
B EFEE(EIEKE)R
B ERE 0 FEHEA
EAEE MEEE2ERNIEE
BWEM - = E Rt
BIEEMATIERZHUER
BRE B AE-ZT==
FREERETEEEBALIR
T - FRERE B RE
HAR (0 EAralt) - IR EEERT
VR ERE A AEE MR -

ERARREHBEH( ==
ZEFERETEZHNBAED
EF =+ /\(28) B AUk Bl 482
FoEE (S - =FHEKRE
Al raEE ) EXE
ENEMBLHERGEAR - ER
ERERBERERERN1.007%5
T REE  BHEWEADE
B R E R o w7 B B A
BEM - Bl MTB AL M ZE
BE  EERNABK_-_ZT==
FRERR AT BT F 2 A A
FEIZERKAAR R L 1.00%8
TL e BN RELMABRTY
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31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

202

(Continued)

(b) 2023 Share Option Scheme (continued)

(v)

2023 Share Option Scheme Vesting

Period

The vesting period (the “2023 Share Option Scheme
Vesting Period”) for any option granted to any
grantee under the 2023 Share Option Scheme shall
not be less than twelve (12) months from the date
of grant of such option. The Board of Directors of
the Company or the Remuneration Committee of
the Company shall have the authority to determine
a shorter 2023 Share Option Scheme Vesting Period
on options in its sole discretion under each of the
following circumstances:

()

grants of “make-whole” options to a 2023
Share Option Scheme Selected Participant
who newly joined the Group to replace the
share options he/she forfeited when leaving
the previous employers;

grants to a 2023 Share Option Scheme
Selected Participant whose employment is
terminated due to disability or occurrence of
any out of control event;

grants that are made in batches during a year
for administrative and compliance reasons,
which may include options that should have
been granted earlier but had to wait for a
subsequent batch, in such cases, the vesting
date may be adjusted to take account of the
time from which the options would have
been granted if not for such administrative or
compliance requirements;
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31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(b) 2023 Share Option Scheme (continued)
2023 Share Option Scheme Vesting
Period (Continued)

(v)

4

grants of options with a mixed or accelerated
vesting schedule such that the options may
vest evenly over a period of twelve (12)
months;

grants of options with a total vesting and
holding period of more than twelve (12)
months;

Such discretion gives the Company more
flexibility to (i) adapt to exceptional and
justified circumstances; or (i) attract talents
or reward exceptional performers with
accelerated vesting. These circumstances
are also considered by the Stock Exchange
to be justifiable reasons for having a shorter
vesting period as set out in the consultation
conclusions; and

Accordingly, the directors (including the
independent non-executive directors)
are of the view that the discretion in
allowing a shorter vesting period in each
of the circumstances as detailed above is
appropriate and in line with the purpose of
the 2023 Share Option Scheme (and other
share scheme(s), where applicable). There
is no performance target which must be
achieved by the grantee before an option can
be exercised under the terms of the 2023
Share Option Scheme save as otherwise
imposed by the Board of the Directors of the
Company as it thinks fit in the relevant offer.
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31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

204

(Continued)

(b) 2023 Share Option Scheme (continued)

(vi)

2023 Share Option Scheme Option
Period

The 2023 Share Option Scheme Option Period of
an option shall not exceed ten (10) years from the
2023 Share Option Scheme Offer Date.

As described in the Company’s announcement
dated 13 December 2023, on 13 December 2023,
33,166,000 share options were granted (the
“December 2023 Share Options”). Among the
33,166,000 December 2023 Share Options granted,
a total of 7,618,000 December 2023 Share Options
were granted to the following directors and a total
of 25,548,000 December 2023 Share Options were
granted to other 11 employees of the Group.

As described in the Company’s announcement
dated 14 February 2025, on 14 February 2025,
44,292,000 share options were granted (the
“February 2025 Share Options”). Among the
44,292,000 February 2025 Share Options granted,
a total of 9,372,000 February 2025 Share Options
were granted to the following directors and a total
of 34,920,000 February 2025 Share Options were
granted to other 16 employees of the Group, details
of which are set out as follows:
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31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 31. URGBEBNNERRXS (&)
(Continued)
(b) 2023 Share Option Scheme (continued) (b) —EBE==FEREFE (&)

(vi) 2023 Share Option Scheme Option
Period (Continued)

(i) —E-=FEREFEBR
R (E)

Number of Number of
February 2025 December 2023
Share Options  Share Options
granted during  granted during
Name/Category the year the year
of the Grantees Position in the Group 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
BE-Z-1F BE-E-MAF
=A=+—-HIEt =A=t+—-Hi
FEREZ FEREZ
“E-RE-R “B-=F+ZA
BEBRAKREH RAEKE 2B BRERE BREYE
Directors
BEx
Mr. Yuen Yu Sum Executive director and Chairman 4,425,000 3,584,000
RIRESE WITESERER
Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin Executive director 4,428,000 3,584,000
BRREE WTES
Mr. Law Wing Chung Non-executive director 516,000 450,000
oKL E ENTES
Others
Hit
Other employees of the Group N/A 34,920,000 25,548,000
AEEHEMESR ks
Total: 44,289,000 33,166,000
mEt

BHOBRER TRHEAREL
RE—REWIRAER - 0 2A
BfA BB -

Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe
for one ordinary share in the Company and is
settled gross in shares.
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31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(b) 2023 Share Option Scheme (continued)
(vi) 2023 Share Option Scheme Option

Period (Continued)

Details of the specific categories of options under
2023 Share Option Scheme granted are as follows:

Option type

BRERR

December 2023
Share Options

—E-=F
+Z REBRE

February 2025
Share Options
ZECRE
Z Rk

Number
of share
options
BREZE

Date of grant
R AH

13 December 2023 33,166,000

—TC=F
+=A+=H
14 February 2025 44,292,000

—E-RF
—A+mA

Upon fulfillment of the vesting conditions, the
December 2023 Share Options granted will be
vested on the grantees upon the expiry of eighteen
(18) months from the date of grant and exercisable
from 13 June 2025 to 12 December 2033 (both days

inclusive).

Upon fulfillment of the vesting conditions, the
February 2025 Share Options granted will be vested
on the grantees upon the expiry of eighteen (18)
months from the date of grant and exercisable
from 14 August 2026 to 13 February 2035 (both

days inclusive).

Legendary Education Group Limited
206 Annual Report 2025

31. UROABERNIRRS (&)

“EC-FERETE )
(vii —ZE-=FEBRETEER
FEHAME (&)
BiE =T = = EREARE B
B B M e L BE KE B B 10
T :

(b)

Initial exercise

Exercise period price per share

1T BRASTEE
HK$
BT
From 13 December 2023 to 1.55
12 December 2033
E-E-=F#+-A+=H%
—E==F+-A+=H
14 August 2026 t0 1.67
13 February 2035
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31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(b) 2023 Share Option Scheme (continued)
(vi) 2023 Share Option Scheme Option

Period (Continued)
The following table discloses the movements of the
2023 Share Option Scheme during the year ended
31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025:

Year ended 31 March 2024 Bz-_Z-mE

ZA=t+-HLEE
Directors EZ
December 2023 Share Options “E-CF+ - ABRE
Employees and others EEREMAL

December 2023 Share Options T+ AERE

REDERT

Exercisable atthe end of the year ~ AERT 1T
Weighted average exercise price  ETHTEE
(HKS) (&)

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_ZT_AF=RA=+—HILFE

31. UROABERNIRRS (&)

(b) —E-=FERETE(#H)
(i) —E-=FERETEER
FEHAME (&)
TEREE T - =FBHBRE
HEARBEE T _ME=A
=+—HEZZE-HEF=A
—t+—BHULEFEZEH:

Outstanding
at beginning of
the year

Granted during  Outstanding at
the year end of the year
ERRE  REREKTE

Number of share options

BREHE

7,618,000 7,618,000

25,548,000 25,548,000

33,166,000 33,166,000

BEERHEREERA A
2025 3 207



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z_AF=A=+—HIFE

31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(b) 2023 Share Option Scheme (Continued) (by —E-_=FEREFTE @)
(vi) 2023 Share Option Scheme Option (Vi) —E-=FERETEER
Period (Continued) FEHARE ()

31. UROGBERNIRRS (&)

Outstanding
at beginning of  Granted during  Outstanding at
the year the year end of the year

RENERTE ERRE RERERTHE
Number of share options

208

Year ended 31 March 2025 BE-E-RE
ZA=+-HLEE

Directors Ez

December 2023 Share Options :%: =ZF+ = AERE

February 2025 Share Options “T-RF - ABRE

Employees and others EEREMAL

December 2023 Share Options “E-=ZF+_R
ﬁ%ﬂ&%

February 2025 Share Options “ZonE-REkE

Exercisable at end of the year RERA T

Weighted average exercise price N7 E
(HK9) (&)

The estimated fair value of the share options
granted during the year ended 31 March 2025
was approximately HK$22,100,000. During the
year ended 31 March 2025, the Group recognised
a share option expense of approximately
HK$11,550,000 (2024: HK$3,235,000) for the year.

The fair value of equity-settled share options
granted during the year ended 31 March 2024 and
31 March 2025 were estimated as at the dates of
grant using a binomial model, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the share
options were granted.

Legendary Education Group Limited
Annual Report 2025

BRERE

= 7,618,000
9,372,000 9,372,000
= 25,548,000
34,920,000 34,920,000

44,292,000 77,458,000

HE-_Z-_R&E=A=+—H
IEFEREMBRENGER
F1{E 49 422,100,000 7T © &

2 -_RAF=ZA=+—HIE
FE - AEERFRERBR
#EFTSZ 4711,550,000 ¢ (— &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_ZT_AF=RA=+—HILFE

31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 31. URGBEBNEIRRS (&)
(Continued)
(b) 2023 Share Option Scheme (continued) (b) —EBE==FEREFE (&)
(vi) 2023 Share Option Scheme Option (i) —E-=FERETEER
Period (Continued) AR (&)
The following table lists the inputs to the model TRIIEMERAER @A
used: 7%

Share options granted during
the year ended 31 March
HEZ=A=1+—-H1L
FERHZERE

2025
—E-HE

Dividend yield (%) 1% 5.5 (%) 1%

Expected volatility (%) BRI IR (%) 42.1% 44.5%
Risk-free interest rate (%) 2 [\ 1) 2 (%) 3.77% 3.78%
Forfeiture rate (%) R IR (%) 0% 0%
The expected life of the share options is based on B ENTERTF B ERB X
the historical data over the past three years and is ZFEMELEIE - RURERA
not necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns BEEEHEMTTR RS - TRADK IR
that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the f B 1552 5% 520X B RE SR R R
assumption that the historical volatility is indicative KBS - MERRIGRA NI

of future trends, which may also not necessarily be
the actual outcome.

No other feature of the share options granted was FrEAFEEREIADRD
incorporated into measurement of fair value. BN REA LMD 4 2 -

BEERYEEHERATF
2025 F 3R 209



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRKMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BHE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIFE

31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

210

(Continued)

(c) Share Award Scheme
The Company’s 2022 share aware scheme (the “2022
Share Award Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a

resol

ution passed on 25 November 2022 with the

adoption date of 26 September 2022, the key terms of
the 2022 Share Award Scheme are set out in the circular
of the Company’s dated 7 November 2022 and the details
are extracted below:

M

(ii)

Purpose

The purposes of the 2022 Share Award Scheme
are to align the interests of the eligible persons
(the "2022 Share Award Scheme Eligible Persons”)
with those of the Group through ownership of
shares, dividends and other distributions paid on
shares and/or the increase in value of the shares
and to encourage and enable 2022 Share Award
Scheme Eligible Persons, upon whose judgment,
initiative and efforts the Group largely depends for
the successful conduct of its business, to make
contributions to the long-term growth and profits of
the Group and share in the success of the Group.

Duration

Subject to any early termination as may be
determined by the Board of Directors of the
Company, the 2022 Share Award Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a period of ten (10) years
commencing on the adoption date of the 2022
Share Award Scheme, and thereafter for so long as
there are any non-vested award shares relating to
awards granted prior to the expiration of the 2022
Share Award Scheme.

Legendary Education Group Limited
Annual Report 2025

31. UROABERNIRRS (&)

(c)

B% 15 2R B 5t &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(c) Share award scheme (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

Administration

The 2022 Share Award Scheme shall be subject
to the administration of the Board of Directors
of the Company in accordance with the rules of
the 2022 Share Award Scheme (the “2022 Share
Award Scheme Rules”) and all applicable laws and
regulations. Any decision made by the Board of
Directors of the Company as to all matters arising
in relation to the 2022 Share Award Scheme or its
interpretation or effect (save as otherwise provided
herein) shall be final, conclusive and binding on all
parties.

The trustee of the 2022 Share Award Scheme will
hold the shares and the income derived therefrom
in accordance with the terms of the trust deed(s) to
the 2022 Share Award Scheme.

Operation

Subject to the 2022 Share Award Scheme Rules,
the Board of Directors of the Company may,
from time to time, in its absolute discretion and
subject to such terms and conditions as it may
think fit (including the basis of eligibility of each
selected participant determined by the Board of
Directors of the Company from time to time) (the
“2022 Share Award Scheme Selected Participant”),
select any 2022 Share Award Scheme Eligible
Person (excluding any excluded participant) for
participation in the 2022 Share Award Scheme as
a 2022 Share Award Scheme Selected Participant,
grant an award to such 2022 Share Award Scheme
Selected Participant and determine the number
of award shares. However, until so selected, no
2022 Share Award Scheme Eligible Person shall
be entitled to participate in the 2022 Share Award
Scheme.

Consideration

The award shares will be granted to the 2022
Share Award Scheme Selected Participant(s) at nil
consideration, if any.

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025

HE-_ZT-_AF=-A=+t—HIFE

31. URHABERNNER

AR5 (#)

() Mt EEFE(a)

(iii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VB HwRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BHE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIFE

31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(c) Share award scheme (continued)
(vi) 2022 Share Award Scheme Limit

The Board of Directors of the Company shall not
make any further award which will result in the
aggregate number of the shares which may be
issued in respect of all options and awards granted
under all of the schemes of the Company (including
under the 2022 Share Award Scheme and the share
option schemes) exceeding 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the adoption sate or
35,845,605 Shares (“2022 Share Award Scheme
Limit").

The 2022 Share Award Scheme Limit may be
refreshed after three years from the adoption
date or the date of the Company’s shareholders’
approval for the last refreshment (as the case may
be) in accordance with the relevant GEM Listing
Rules.

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement
dated 9 October 2023, the Board of Directors of
the Company resolved to grant an aggregate of
2,679,600 ordinary shares of HK$0.0005 each in the
capital of the Company to 13 eligible persons of the
Group (the October 2023 Award Shares”), who are
employees of the Company pursuant to the 2022
Share Award Scheme, details of which are set out
as follows:

Number
of award
Award type Date of grant shares

RBER KBS RBROBE

October 2023 Award 9 October 2023 2,679,600
Shares

ZEZ=%1H —EZ=%+HANA
BRI

Upon fulfillment of the vesting conditions, the award
shares granted will be vested on the grantees upon
the expiry of three years from the date of grant.
Each award gives the holder one ordinary share in
the Company at zero consideration.

21 2 Legendary Education Group Limited
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31. UROABERNIRRS (&)
() WtEEFE ()

(vi)

—ECFRORBIEAR
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— S RE BERBEARREM
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R A HE EITIRA M 10%
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7K Fp 75 % T {8 0.0005 78 JTHY
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Award period shares granted

RiLRBRA

REH M EER

HK$

BT
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8 October 2026
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_ZT_AF=RA=+—HILFE

31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 31. URGOABEBNNARRS (@)
(Continued)
(c) Share award scheme (continued) (c) BpEBTE(®)
(vi) 2022 Share Award Scheme Limit (Vi) —E-_FRHEBMTEIR

(Continued) B(#E)
Details of the specific categories of award shares B =T = ZF 1D EE)ET &
under the 2022 Share Award Scheme granted are TR DR BB RIS
as follows: PUNNE

Granted Exercised Outstanding
during the during the at end of
year year the year

FARE FR1TE  REREKTE
Number of award shares
RBRHEE

Year ended 31 March 2024 Bz-_Z-mE

ZA=t-ALEE
Employees and others EEREMAL
October 2023 Award Shares T =FTRAEERM 2,679,600 - 2,679,600

2,679,600 - 2,679,600

Exercisable at the end of the year ~ AAERAI T1718

Outstanding at
beginning Exercised  Outstanding at
of the year during the year end of the year
RED i RITHE ERTE  RERERTE
Number of award shares
REROHUE

Year ended 31 March 2025 BZ-B-RE

ZA=1+-HLEE
Employees and others EEREMAL
October 2023 Award Shares T =FTAEEBRH 2,679,600 - 2,679,600

2,679,600 - 2,679,600

Exercisable atthe end of the year  RAER A F1T{8

The estimated fair value of the award shares HE-_Z-_WMFE=A=+—H
granted during the year ended 31 March 2024 IFEER W ERIIED B HET
was approximately HK$5,466,000, of which the NTAEL A 5,466,00078 7T - H
Group recognised a share award expense of RN B RERRR (0 BN S 4
approximately HK$1,822,000 (2024: HK$910,000). 1,822,000 L (=T = F :

910,000/ 7C) °

BESEENARAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VB HwRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BHE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIFE

31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(c) Share award scheme (continued)
(vi) 2022 Share Award Scheme Limit

(Continued)
The fair value of equity-settled share awards
granted during the year ended 31 March 2024 was
estimated as at the dates of grant with reference
to the fair value of the share of the Company at
the date of grant, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the share awards were
granted.

The following table lists the inputs to the model
used:

Fair value of shares HK$

Forfeiture rate A

Bt 2 AFEBT

31. UROABERNIRRS (&)

(c) MirieBsTEl (%)

(i) —E=—FRHEETEIR
BE)
HEZZT-_WEF=A=+—H
IHFE - IEREOAREESE
MR EEE . AP EREH A
Hi2Z R QAR5 R T B
WAFEETE - Wat AR
17 S T R 10 R R B I

TR A AR e A
%

Award shares granted
during the year end

31 March 2024
BHE-_Z_-_MF=A=1+—H
IEFERE 2 ZEIRR (%

5,466,000
0%

32. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Defined contribution retirement plans

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the
MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to
the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to
the plan vest immediately.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of approximately
HK$1,281,000 (2024: approximately HK$1,126,000) represents
contributions paid to the MPF scheme by the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2025. As at 31 March 2025, there were
no material forfeitures available to offset the Group's future
contributions (2024 Nil).

21 4 Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

33. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. EXBBAERS

(a) Transaction and balances with related (a) EEEB AR Z K&
parties
Saved as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated MREZEGR AU RREMI DT E
financial statements, the Group had the following BN AEBRFAEBE BT
transactions and balances with related parties during the R RiEes
year:

2025 2024
—E-RF —Z U4

HK$'000 HK$'000
FB T

Company directly wholly-owned Bz L+ HIEEE
by Ms. Mak Louisa Ming Sze BENAT

— Consultant fee —EREA 574
(b) Compensation of key management (b) EEEEABHM
personnel
The remuneration of executive directors of the Company FR - ARRMITESNESFMOT -

during the year was as follows:

2025 2024
—E_RF —EPOE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH&TT

Salaries, wages and other benefits  #FH& « T&E K HMEF 8,245
Equity-settled share option expense  LARS He 4 £ i B AR 1 B <2 2,914 829
Contributions to defined contribution £ %84 ZUR R EH 21 3

retirement plans 18 18

10,394

BESEENARAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M
For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z_AF=A=+—HLFE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

34. ADBWMBIRT KRR B

10,037
290,063
62,686

362,786

80,579
2,039
15,000

97,618

Non-current assets kREBEE

Plant and equipment R = K 2845
Investments in subsidiaries WERWB AR
Current assets REEE
Prepayments and deposits FERRBERIES
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFEYLFfY B8~ B FRIE
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEFEEY
current liabilities REBAE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEATHY B~ &) 3k I8
Other payables and accrued expenses b fE {308 & E5TF
Convertible bonds AT (E 5

Net current assets REBEEFE

265,168

Total assets less current liabilities EEAERAB AR

265,177

265,177

228
264,949

Net assets EEFE
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital &N
Reserves ]

Total equity R

265,177

21 6 Legendary Education Group Limited
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2024

—EF-HF

HK$'000
T

12

34,711
208,688
5,832

249,231

59,383
988

60,371

188,860

188,872

188,872

210
188,662

188,872




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z_RAF=A=+—BLFE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 34. RATMEBMBARR KRR FE 2
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Movements in the Company’s reserves are as follows: KRBl #EEEET
Share
option/
share
Share Share Special award Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve profits
BRE/
B %R
RA BipifE BRI 1 ZEHRA fit
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT THT THL THT T
At 1 April 2023 WZE-=FWA—-H 197 87,331 56,102 11,084 6,403 161,167
Profit and total comprehensive £ /a7 & 2 E iz
income for the year k| - - - - (5,146) (5,146)

Issue of shares underthe  BE-ZT-=F+F£H

October 2023 Award Shares B3 %478R 1

(note 31(b)i) (HzF310)) 2 5464 - (5,466) - -
Exercise of March 2021 Share 17/ == — 5= FE ki

Optionand October 2022 R-ZF- &+ EBRIE

Share Options (notes 31b)) — (ATE£3100)) i 31,799 - (4.273) - 21537
Recognition of equity-settled  HERERRR I & SRBDAR 17 2k

under share option and BT REEZ (Hi0)

award share arrangements

(note 30) - - - 5314 - 5,314

At 31 March 2024 and RZEZMF=A=1+-8
1 April 2024 k=Z-WEmA-A 124,644 188,872

Profit and total comprehensive £ A&l 2 2 T Uik 458
income for the year

Exercise of October 2022 TF-F-—F1 AEhkE
Share Options (notes 300 (Hfz300)i)

Placing of new shares REHRN

Recognition of equity-settled  HEzREE IHE R HRBI R (7 o
under share option and BT ZREEE (H231)
award share arrangements
(note 31) 13,952 - 13,952

Share option lapsed BRREL (1,001) 1,001 -

At 31 March 2025 RZEZR¥=A=1—H 171,870 56,102 19,321 17,656 265,177

BEERHEREERA A
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e VB HwRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z_AF=A=+—HLFE

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes borrowing and lease liabilities disclosed in respective
notes, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital
and reserves.

(a) Categories of financial instruments

35.

EXEBRER

FEEERHER  UHRRAEENER
REAREEY  RNEBELERETEAR
MR A TR A B4R - A o 0 2 BE R ARG B
HEHR -

AEBENEARBREERFE(BENE
B RENERREEAE)  Be kR
SEHEEWFHRARRRRHE ARG
(BREEETRARER) -

(@) E@MITAEHR

=

HK$'000
T

Financial assets:
at amortised costs

— Trade receivables
— Loan receivables

— Other receivables and deposits

— Cash and cash equivalents

TRBE

at fair values
— Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial liabilities
at amortised costs
— Other payables and accruals

— Bank borrowing
— Convertible bonds
— Lease liabilities

T SRR AN
— B G RWFIA 12,465 4,607
— ERER 90,122 40,996
— B IR R E 50,200 86,260
—REeRBEEEEY 129,177 68,222
281,964 200,085
WAFE
— BAFEFABRN
SREE 15,173 13,383
297,137 213,468
EA =N
7 S AR AN
— HE R RIER
Bt E 23,746 42,188
—RITEE 4,118 4,682
— AR ES 15,000 -
—HEAE 16,941 15,630
59,805 62,500
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency
risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and other price risk. The
Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(1) Fair values

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured
at fair value on recurring bass

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of
the Group's financial instruments measured
at the end of the reporting period on a
recurring basis, categorised into the three-
level fair value hierarchy as defined in
HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. The
level into which a fair value measurement is
classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs
used in the valuation technique as follows:

o Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured
using only Level 1 inputs, that is,
unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
at the measurement date

o Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured
using Level 2 inputs, that is, observable
inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and
not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs
for which market data are not available

o Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured
using significant unobservable inputs

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

35. EXEMERE#)
(b) SREREEERERIE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VB HwRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BHE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIFE

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)
(1) Fair values (Continued)

(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured
at fair value on recurring bass (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The Group has a team headed by the finance
manager with the assistance of independent
professionally qualified valuers to perform
valuations for the financial instruments,
including profit guarantees in relation
to acquisition of subsidiaries which are
categorised into Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy. The team reports directly to the
executive directors and the audit committee.
A valuation report with analysis of changes
in fair value measurement is prepared by the
team at each interim and annual reporting
date, and is reviewed and approved by
the executive directors. Discussion of the
valuation process and results with the
executive directors and the audit committee
is held every three to six months to coincide

with the reporting dates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)
(1) Fair values (Continued)

(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured
at fair value on recurring bass (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z_RAF=A=+—BLFE

35. EXEERE(8)
(b) LREAREEEERBEX @)
(1) DFE#)
() BEEHBEENLTFE
HENEMEERAM
(#%)
AFESR(E)

Fair value measurement
AVEHE
Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
ATE £ ot £z4
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHER TER THER TER
At 31 March 2024 R-E-ME=A=+-H
Recurring fair value RN E
measurements:
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVTPL BATES )\ ERRNEREE
— Equity securities listed in —REELTZRAES
Hong Kong 1,990 1990 NATER  NATER
— Investment funds —REES 1306 NATEP 1306 NATER
— Profit guarantees in relation — BENERBARNER
to acquisition of subsidliaries R 10047 NATER  NATER 10,047
13,383 1,990 1,346 10,047
At 31 March 2025 R-B-HEF=A=1-A
Recurring fair value BEMELATESE
measurements:
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEH \ERRSREE
— Equity securities listed in — BB LTz RAE S
Hong Kong 12,394 12,394 NATER NATER
— Investment funds —REES 1348  N/ATER 1,348  N/ATER
— Profit guarantees in relation —EBWENBARNET
to acquisition of subsiciaries FE 1431  NATER NATER 1,431

15,173

12,394 1,348 1,431

EERYBEEEERIE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z_AF=A=+—HLFE

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 35. EXEBERE &)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) SRAMREEBERBER (&)
and policies (continued)
(1) Fair values (Continued) (1 ~FE#E)
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured () BEEEFMEELLFHE
at fair value on recurring bass (Continued) FTENEREERAEE
(&)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) NFEFR(E)
During the years ended 31 March 2024 and HE_Z_IWFE=A
31 March 2025, there were no transfers =+—BR-Z-_FEF
between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers ZA=+—BLtFE"
into or out of Level 3. The Group's policy is FREME —HEWE
to recognise transfers between levels of fair B N A
value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting FEoe REBEBEKTD
period in which they occur. EE A R TR B R TR

RRHESRENES -

The directors are of the view that the fair EZRR AEERA
values of the Group’s financial assets at THAABZZEZ/ME
FVTPL approximates their carrying values. EZ2ATFEEAEEKREE
& -
Information about Level 3 fair value BEHE=RLFEFE
measurements H)EH
Valuation Significant
Assets techniques unobservable input
BE fh B H i BEATAEENASE
Profit guarantees in Probability weighted Revenue growth  Discount rate
relation to acquisition expected return rate 5% 15.8%
of subsidiaries method (2024: 5-15%) (2024: 19-29%)
ERNENB A RM B NETR AR B 3% W AIE & 2 5% BLIR 2 15.8%
i PR FE ZZT O (ZZT -4 -
5-15%) 19-29%)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

35. EXEMBERE (&)
(b) ©REREREBFERBER#)

(1) Fair values (Continued) (1) 2FE@E)
(i)  Fair value of financial assets and (i) WHZERFEIERYE
liabilities carried other than fair value BEEREMENAFE
For the Group's financial assets and liabilities REBRGE T B
not measured at fair value in the consolidated FRNWIEARFERFE

statement of financial position but for which
the fair value is disclosed, the carrying
amounts of bank borrowing, promissory note
payables and convertible bonds approximate
to their fair values and were determined as
Level 3.

The fair values of bank borrowing, promissory
note payables and convertible bonds have
been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.
The Group's own non-performance risk
for interest-bearing bank borrowing was
assessed to be insignificant and the fair
values of the non-current portion of interest-

BREERTFEND R
BENAE  RITEE -
e A R iR R AT
EFNEEERELAT
BERE LEEEAS
=

RITIEE  BNALE
BERABRREZRNAF
1B 755838 B B AUUESK
= &R KT B
B /) T B3z 3 B R & b
BIAHARRE REFT
g-AEEBHAB
BRITBEZENAR
WA ERTEKXR - BEf
BRTTEERIFRE A

bearing bank borrowing approximate to their DZATFEEARETE
carrying amounts. & -
BERYEEBERATR 203
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRKMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BHE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIFE

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(2)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in
financial loss to the Group.

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable
to trade receivables, other receivables, loan
receivables, deposits and cash and cash
equivalents. The Group’s exposure to credit risk
arising from cash and cash equivalents is limited
because the counterparties are banks with sound
credit ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies, for which the Group considers to
have low credit risk, and cash on hand which is not
subject to credit risk.

The Group has taken measures to identify credit
risks arising from loan business. The Group
manages credit risk at every stage of the risk
management system, including pre-approval,
review and credit approval and post-transaction
monitoring processes. The Group conducts
customer acceptance and due diligence during the
pre-approval process. A transaction is subject to
the review and approval by the executive directors.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(2) Credit risk (Continued)

35. EXEMBERE (&)
(b) ©REREREBFERBER#)

(2) FERR#E)

During the post-transaction monitoring process,
the Group performs credit evaluations on each
and every major customer periodically. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates.

Certain loans granted are backed by collateral
(e.g. property and listed securities) as security. The
Group also focuses on ascertaining legal ownership
and the valuation of the collateral. The Group
closely monitors the ownership and the value of
the collateral throughout the loan period. The loan
receivables are due by the date as specified in the
corresponding loan agreements.

In accordance with accounting policies, if there is
objective evidence that indicates the cash flows
for a particular loan is expected to decrease, and
the amount can be estimated, the loan is recorded
as an impaired loan and the impairment 10ss is
recognised in profit or l0ss.

The Group's policy requires regular review of the
quality of individually significant financial assets.
For assets for which an allowance for impairment
loss is provided individually, the amount is
determined by an evaluation of the incurred loss
at the reporting date on a case-by-case basis. In
making such assessments, the Group considers the
value of collateral held and expected future cash
flows from the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VB HwRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BHE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIFE

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)
(2) Credit risk (Continued)

226

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country
in which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers. At the end of the reporting
period, 25% (2024: 28%) and 66% (2024: 72%) of
the loan receivables were due from the Group's
largest loan debtor and the five largest loan debtors
respectively.

The Group adopts a loan risk classification
approach to manage its loan receivables portfolio
risk. Loan receivables are categorised into the
following stages by the Group:

Stage 1:  Loan receivables have not experienced
a significant increase in credit risk since
origination and impairment recognised
on the basis of 12 months expected
credit losses (12-month ECLS).

Stage 2. Loan receivables have experienced
a significant increase in credit risk
since origination and impairment is
recognised on the basis of lifetime
expected credit losses (Lifetime ECLs
non-credit impaired).

Stage 3. Loan receivables that are in default and
considered credit impaired (Lifetime
ECLs credit-impaired).

The Group applies the ECL model to measure the
impairment loss of the loan receivables.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

35. EXEMBERE (&)
(b) ©REREREBFERBER#)

(2) cCredit risk (Continued) (2) FERR#E)
Parameters of ECL measurement FEHEEEBEENSE
According to whether there is a significant increase BEEERREREEEEE

in credit risk and whether there is an impairment
of assets, the Group measures the impairment
loss for different assets with ECL of 12 months or
the entire lifetime respectively. The key measuring
parameters of ECL include probability of default
(PD), loss given default (LGD) and exposure at
default (EAD). Based on the requirements of HKFRS
9, the Group takes into account the quantitative
analysis of historical statistics (such as ratings
of counterparties, manners of guarantees and
types of collaterals, repayments, etc.) and forward
looking information in order to establish the model
of PD, LGD and EAD.

Relative definitions are listed as follows:

. PD refers to the possibility that the debtor
will not be able to fulfil its obligations of
repayment over the next 12 months or
throughout the entire remaining lifetime. The
Group's PD is adjusted based on the results
of the internal rating-based approach, taking
into account the forward-looking information
and deducting the prudential adjustment
to reflect the debtor’s point-in-time (PIT)
PD under the current macroeconomic
environment,

. LGD refers to the Group's expectation of
the extent of the loss resulting from the
default exposure. Depending on the type of
counterparty, the method and priority of the
recourse, and the type of collaterals, the LGD
varies,

o EAD is the amount that the Group should
be reimbursed at the time of the default in
the next 12 months or throughout the entire
remaining lifetime.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRKMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BHE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIFE

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

228

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(2) Credit risk (Continued)

Forward-looking information

The assessment of a significant increase in credit
risk and the calculation of ECL both involve
forward-looking information. Through the analysis
of historical data, the Group identifies the key
economic indicators that affect the credit risk and
ECL of various business types.

The impact of these economic indicators on the
PD and the LGD varies according to different types
of business. The Group applied experts’ judgment
in this process, according to the result of experts’
judgment, the Group predicts these economic
indicators on a quarterly basis and determines the
impact of these economic indicators on the PD and
the LGD by conducting regression analysis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

35. EXEMBERE (&)
(b) ©REREREBFERBER#)

(2) credit risk (Continued) (2) =ERRE)
Modification of contractual cash flows BB REIEHR

A modification or re-negotiation of a contract
between the Group and a counterparty may result
in a change to the contractual cash flows without
resulting in the derecognition of the financial
assets.

Such restructuring activities include extended
payment term arrangements, repayment schedule
modifications and changes to the interest
settlement method. The risk of default of such
assets after modification is assessed at the
reporting date and compared with the risk under
the original terms at initial recognition, when the
modification is not substantial and so does not
result in derecognition of the original asset and the
book value of the financial asset is recalculated
and the related gain or loss is included in current
profit and loss. The recalculated book value of the
financial asset is determined based on the present
value of the contractual cash flows following the
renegotiation or modification, as calculated using
the original effective interest rate of the financial
asset.

The Group monitors the subsequent performance
of modified assets. The Group may determine
that the credit risk has significantly improved after
restructuring, so that the assets are moved from
Stage 3 or Stage 2 to Stage 1. At 31 March 2025, the
Group did not have any financial assets with such
modified contractual cash flows (2024 Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VB HwRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025

BE_Z_AF=A=+—HIFE

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 35. EXEBERE#)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) €REBEEBBERBERE)
and policies (continued)
(2) Credit risk (Continued) (2) =88Rk
Concentrations of risk for loan receivables FEREFE TR
(i) Analysis of loan receivables by collateral type () A HGETE S E
with maturity profile WE K ERIE 2 IT

Loans secured by
EXHATREFER

Guarantee

Properties provided

Unsecured  and other by third

loans assets parties Total
NER HE=A

BERER HitEE RAEER i

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR THR TR TR

At 31 March 2024 RZBE-WE=A=1-H
Due within 3months or on demand 3@ AR BB IR EXBR 2213 6,545 391 9,149
Due after 3 months but within 3EAEB6EANEH
6 months - 2420 - 2420
Due after 6 months but within 6fEA%EB12ERRIIE
12 months 1973 37,145 - 39,118
Due after 12 months 128 RBEH - 1129 - 1,129
4,186 47,239 391 51,816
Less: Impairments o RE (2.262) (8,547) (1 (10,820)
1,924 38,692 380 40,99
At 31 March 2025 R-B-RF=A=t+-H
Due within 3 months or on demand  31E A ME| HsRE k&R . 6,545 9,149
Due after 3 months but within 3EAEB6EANEH
6 months . 25,269 26,809
Due after 6 months but within 6fEA%EB12ERRIIE
12 months ’ 62,743 64,155
Due after 12 months 1218 A& %5 650 650
5,165 95,207 100,763
Less: Impairments B RE (2,249) (8,001) (10,641)

2,916 87,206 90,122
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

35. EXEMERE#)
(b) REREEEERIE®)

(2) cCredit risk (continued) (2) =Rk E)
Concentrations of risk for loan receivables FEREEFRERE (&)
(Continued)

(i) Analysis of loan receivables by collateral type (i) RGBT E 5 E
with credit quality WEFEEEEZST

Loans secured by
ERAUTREFER
Guarantee
provided
by third
parties Total
ME=H
BEREH HthgE REER )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT

Properties
and other
loans assets

NER

Unsecured

At 31 March 2025 =
Loan receivables that are credit EERERRER

impaired
— Over 3months past due —REEA3EA 2,213

Less: Impairments HRE (2,213)

Loan receivables that are not credit K EEREZ EWE

impaired
— Not past due — REH 88,662 91,614
Less: Impairments o RE (1,456) (1.492)
87,206 90,122
* HK$6,500,000 included in this amount was * H 6,500,000 7T J1

also guaranteed by an independent third
party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z_AF=A=+—HLFE

35.

232

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(2) Credit risk (Continued)
Concentrations of risk for loan receivables
(Continued)
(i) Analysis of loan receivables by collateral type
with credit quality (Continued)

35. EXEARER#)
(b) 2REAMEEEERKE#®)

(2) FERR#E
W ES R EF R ()

() HHEHFRELE D HE
WEKEEEEZ M (E)
Loans secured by
ERANTRBEER
Guarantee
Properties provided
Unsecured  and other by third

loans assets parties

BEAMER  EME ER
HK$'000 K$'000 HK$'000
BT T AL

At 31 March 2024 RZE-mE=A=1-H
Loan receivables that are credit  EERERKER

impaired

— Over 3months past due — @A AR 2213 6,500 - 8713
Less: Impairments B RE (2213 (6,500) - (8713
Loan receivables that are not credit  KEEREZ ENER

impaired

— Not past due — KR8 1973 40,739 391 43,103
Less: Impairments o ORE 49) (2,047) (1 (2,107)

1,924 38,692 380 40,99

** The balance was also guaranteed by an
independent third party

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(2) Credit risk (Continued)
Concentrations of risk for loan receivables
(Continued)

(i)

Analysis of loan receivables by collateral type
with credit quality (Continued)

Reconciliation of changes in gross carrying
amount and allowances for loan receivables

The table below provides a reconciliation
of the Group’s gross carrying amount and
allowances for loan receivables for the
years ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March
2025. The transfers of financial instruments
represent the impact of stage transfers upon
the gross carrying amount and associated
allowance for ECL. The net remeasurement
of ECL arising from stage transfers represents
the increase in ECL due to these transfers.

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

35. EXEMBERE (&)
(b) ©REREREBFERBER#)

(2) FERR#E)

W B EFERE ()
(i) HEHDEEE D E

BEERYEEHERATF

WRAEHEEH B (48)
A g B 7B T 0
BRI

TREIEBEE_ZT N
FZA=Z+—A8AEK=F
—HE=A=+—HI1t
FEAEEEREZKE
HREREBEHENHIE-
SR TAEMESBRREE
HEENEBESREES
BIEREEEEENY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRKMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025

BHE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIFE

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 35. EXRBEE®)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) €REBEEBBERBERE)
and policies (continued)

(2) credit risk (Continued) (2) =88Rk
Concentrations of risk for loan receivables FEREF &P R (E)
(Continued)

(i) Analysis of loan receivables by collateral type (i) G E 5 6 FE
with credit quality (Continued) WEFIEEEES (&)
Reconciliation of changes in gross carrying JE U B 3XAR T 48 {E B
amount and allowances for loan receivables LR (&)
(Continued)

Non-credit impaired Credit impaired
FEERE EEHE
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
£1ER FIRE FIER it
Gross  Allowance Gross  Allowance Gross  Allowance Gross  Allowance

exposure  forECL exposure  forECL exposure  forECL exposure  forECL
B8 FERG a8  FERR a5 FERG aE  FERG
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
T TER TR TR T T T T

1 April 203 W-Z-=EmA-H 4230 (1013 - - 8713 8713 52943 (9.726)
New loans/financing originated - RE#ES /BE 15,406 - - - - - 15,406 -
Loans/financing derecognised or M LHASE EE

repaid during the year (other ~ KIEE/BE

than write-0ffs) (Bt son) (1653 - - - - - 1653 -

Transfer between stages EBERED - - - - - - - - |
Movements dug to changesin - EEEREE 2 HE

credit risk g
At31 March 2024 and R-Z-mE
1 April 2024 =A=t-EBR
“E-NERA-H 43,103 (2,107) 8,713) 51,816
Newloans/financing originated - KB &31/RE 64,295 5 . 60295

Loans/financing derecognised  ERE IHERE EE
0r repaid during the year HED/RE

(other than write-offs) (Braesan) (15,348) - - - (15,348)
| Transfer between stages ERBERED (5904) 1478 5468 (1,466) =
Movementsdueto changes  EERREE 3 HHE
In credit risk 344 259
At 31 March 2025 R-Z-RE
=f=t+-H (285) (1,207) (9,149) 100,763 (10,641)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_ZT_AF=RA=+—HILFE

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 35. EXEBERE#)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) €REEEEBBERBERE)
and policies (continued)

(2) Credit risk (Continued) (2) =Rk E)
Concentrations of risk for loan receivables FEREF &P R ()
(Continued)

(i) Analysis of loan receivables by collateral type (i) RGBT E 5 E
with credit quality (Continued) WEFIEEEES (&)
Movements of Expected credit loss of loan EWERBHREERRE
receivables #a

Non-credit Credit
impaired impaired Total
KEERE EERE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT FHET
Movements of ECL JEWE TR E BEHR
allowance for loan BERE
receivables
At 1 April 2023 RZZE-_=FMA—H 1,013 8,713 9,726
Impairment loss RNEANER
recognised for the year RERE 1,094 - 1,094
At 31 March 2024 and NZE-MF
1 April 2024 =A=+-BRk
—ZWFEMA—A
Transfer between stages KRB NER
Impairment loss (reversed) RER (B ) #ER
recognised for the year RIEEE
At 31 March 2025 RZZE-RF
—A=t—8
Definitions of Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3 are FIRE - B2BBRE
described above. SMEERME EE N L3 -

BEERHEREERA A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z_AF=A=+—HLFE

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(2) Credit risk (Continued)

236

(iii)

Other credit risk

Trade receivables

The Group's exposure to credit risk
is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer rather
than the industry or country in which the
customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise
when the Group has significant exposure
to individual customers. At the end of the
reporting period, no significant concentration
of credit risk to individual debtor or top five
debtors (2024: 21% and 100% of the total
trade receivables were due from the Group's
largest trade debtor and the five largest trade
debtors respectively within the OEM Business
and Wholesaling Business segment).

Individual credit evaluations are performed
on all customers requiring credit over a
certain amount. These evaluations focus
on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability
to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining
to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Trade receivables are
usually due within 30 days to 360 days (2024:
30 days to 60 days) from the date of billing.
Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral
from trade customers.

Legendary Education Group Limited

Annual Report 2025

35. EXEMBERE &)
(b) ©REREEBERBER#)

(2)

EEER ()
(iii) R EEAR

B SN E

REBERZ ZEERR
FTEXRRPMIERFR
BEMBITELIERZ
BRIEREE - Bt
BEREEERERBRTE
BN AEE AT E AR
FEFER - RikEH
Ko W EEEBEBEA
KAREHABKEKR
FEESEFRKR(ZE=H
F . BBRRFEEE
2. 21% F2.100% 2 Bl 36 &8
REBRBEREED
BB EB S HRNZ &
AEBEHEBARAKRE
SEHN) °

FMEERBBETEH
ZEEZEPHEETT
EREERE - ZEF
HEIRNEPBENED
HERZCHRERZ
BN AZEZE
FZBEEBMURER
EEPTRE 2 BRI ©
BHRERERER#
ZAHAL0A E360H
(ZZZMF : 308E60
B)AEIE - —f&iMm= -
AEBEYREESHEFR
ESEMmS -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_ZT_AF=RA=+—HILFE

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 35. EXEBERE#)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) SRIEAMREEBERBER (&)
and policies (continued)
(2) Credit risk (Continued) (2) =ERRE)
(iii) Other credit risk (Continued) (iii) Hft=EmEpE(E)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for
trade receivables at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLSs, which is calculated using a
provision matrix. As the Group’s historical
credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss
allowance based on past due status is not
further distinguished between the Group’s
different customer bases.

The following table provides information
about the Group’s exposure to credit risk and
ECLs for trade receivables as at 31 March
2024 and 31 March 2025:

Expected
credit loss
rate
BHEE

At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-MNFE=A=1+-H
Current (not past due) T (K@) 2.67%-4.06%
At 31 March 2025 R-ZE-R¥=HA=1+-H
Current (not past due) e (CRa ) 2.48%-3.82%

E W (E)
AEEZBENZHTE
HEEBENSE(ER
BREREAE)GEES
FEW R EB B EE - A
RAKEESRFEEER
BRI TBERTRARERP
DEHHNERRAEEX
Z82 - AERBHE
MHBEBRERIE A E
B ARIEPREEITE —
FER o

TERBIR =T =_WF
—A=+—RHARKRZ=ZFE
—RAF=ZA=Z+—HXRK
SEEZEERBHA R
ZHRWRIBELHEE
BRER

Gross
carrying Loss
amounts allowance

SREAE BRRE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAX

4,801 194

12,779

BERYEEBERATR 237
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VB HwRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BHE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIFE

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(2) Credit risk (Continued)
(iii) Other credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)
Expected loss rates are based on actual
loss experience and adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions
during the period over which the historic data
has been collected, current conditions and
the Group’s view of economic conditions over
the expected lives of the receivables.

Movements of ECL allowance for trade
receivables during the years ended 31 March
2024 and 31 March 2025 are as follows:

Balance at beginning of the year  F #4564

Impairment losses recognised FNFERHREREE

during the year

35. EXEMBERE &)
(b) ©REREEBERBER#)

(2)

Balance at end of the year FRES

Legendary Education Group Limited
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EERR ()

(iii)

HittfzEmpER ()

E W (B)
EHERXDERER
BEEERYEHEUR
BR U &2 52 BB A 19
BEAR - EAR R
7R 5 B 0 B W ROR TR
HEFEROLBEMRNDE
RHER -

REE-_Z_-_WNWF=A
=t+—BRZZEZRF
“A=+—HLFE"
2 5 EWRIENTESE
EEEREZEHMT

2024
—EF-NF

HK$'000
FBE




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(2)

(3)

Credit risk (Continued)

(iii) Other credit risk (Continued)
Other receivables and deposits
For other receivables and deposits, the
directors of the Company make periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability
of other receivables and deposits based
on historical settlement records, past
experience, and also quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable forward-looking information.
Based on the impairment assessment
conducted by the directors of the Company,
no impairment loss on other receivables and
deposits was recognised (2024: approximately
HK$546,000 was charged to the profit or 10ss)
in the profit or loss.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. The Group’s interest rate risk arises
primarily from loan receivables, cash at banks,
bank borrowing, promissory note payables, lease
liabilities and convertible bonds. Loan receivables,
bank borrowing, promissory note payables, lease
liabilities and convertible bonds at fixed rates
expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

Bank deposits are carried at low interest rates and
the interest income thereon is not significant.

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025

HE-_ZT-_AF=-A=+t—HIFE

35. EXEMBERE (&)
(b) ©REREREBFERBER#)

(2

@3)

FERR (&)

(iii) RftizEmEpE ()
HE M ERHARIZ T
FhE A U IB R RS
mE ARABEFRE
BEENMNLRE BEL
BARABAAREX
FEATEMTTE S RE S
B YR MR OR
Kz & ) A Y Bl 11T
TEHE B REAE - IREBEAR
RAEEFETHRIER
il BERNERERE
i & R IR I 32 & WO OB
BEEE(ZZZMF L
546,000/ 7L E R B a5 30
B -

=@
MEEBRATEHTARFER
ARBREREHGET S F
KBEHMKBOER - AEE
MEREBREEREREER
RITRE  WITEE - BAA
ARE HEARBERATRERE
7 o BIEMEREUER - RTT
e EBANEAARE HESR
B R AR E S A R E R
DR E g o

RITHERRBEFNEFE - B
HFSWALTEK -

BEERYEEHERATF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VB HwRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BHE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIFE

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

35. EXEMERE#)
(b) REREEEERIE#)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)

(3) Interest rate risk (Continued)

Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate
profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial
instruments at the end of the reporting period:

Fixed interest rate
Financial assets
— Loan receivables

Financial liabilities
— Bank horrowing
— Lease liabilities
— Convertible bonds
Variable interest rate

Financial assets
— Cash at bank

Ehakilks
TREE
— RWER

4TAM

—~ iR
~REAf
—RBES
R

TREAE
—RiTRe

Fixed rate instruments as a
percentage of net
interest-bearing
financial instruments

EEHETARE
FEEBTIE
FEAAL

Legendary Education Group Limited
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2025
“ECEHE
Effective
interest rate

BERAZ
%

5% to 12%
5%Z12%

3%

3%

2% 10 6.1%
2%%6.1%
10%

0.13% t0 0.25%
0.13% £ 0.25%

(3)

Amount
£
HK$'000
TR

90,122

(4,118)

(16,941)

(15,000)

129,177

183,240

=@ (2

FIEER
TERALAEEFEERMTA
RIRE HIREF EHER

2024
e el 12
Effective
interest rate Amount
HK$'000

BT

5% t0 12%

5% % 12% 4099

3.625% (4,682)
3.625%

2%10 6,5% (15,630
2%%6,5%

NATRER -
0.75% t 3.4%

0.75% % 3.4% 63222

88906

23%




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(3)

(4)

(5)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

Loan receivables, bank borrowing, promissory note
payables, lease liabilities and convertible bonds are
fixed rate instruments and are insensitive to any
change in interest rates. A change in interest rates
at the end of the reporting period would not affect
profit or loss.

The Group does not have significant exposure
to interest rates arising from variable rate cash
at bank, accordingly no sensitivity analysis is
presented.

Currency risk

The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the executive
directors monitor its foreign exchange exposures
and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposures should the need arises. At
the end of the reporting period, there is minimal
exposure to currency risk by the Group as
substantially all financial assets and all financial
liabilities recognised are denominated in the
functional currency of the respective Group
entities.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management,
including the short term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans to cover
expected cash demands, subject to the parent
company'’s board approval. The Group's policy is to
regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its
compliance with lending covenants to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025

HE-_ZT-_AF=-A=+t—HIFE

35. EXEMBERE (&)
(b) ©REREREBFERBER#)

@3)

(4)

(5)

M@ (2

HBEESH

REFBRWEN  RITEE
ENALEE HEAGRA
BRESREEMNETARY
MENEFEHHFREEK -
RBEMRZANEZEH TG

285 -

AEBEWEES QT BRITR
EMBEANXER  FHitR2
PIGURIEDHT

B ERE

& B E B AR SN R IR
o RN MITEREREIN
ERKR THEEREEREE
HPERINERR - RIS H]
R AEEEEREKRKOER
N RRREERNETAE
CREEMMEZRABTIMN
BEBEERZDEEREE -

RBETRR
AEBEARENELEREAS
BERSZHEERTIE
RES BN EHRENERE
ERAENERRESFR - X
ARBRARESTEZHAERT
AEE - AEBEZBRZES
ERERPETHE  IET
MERE  BRAKEHRRT
HR SR EAENEERR
BERERBESHK -

e pe

BEERYEEHERATF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z_AF=A=+—HLFE

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 35. EXEBERE#)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) €REBEEBBERBERE)

and policies (continued)

(5) Liquidity risk (continued) (5) R"EBELERE)
The maturity profile of the Group’s non-derivative REMEIR - AEBZIEITE
financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting LB EREBEAHRIBANK
period, based on the contractual undiscounted (BRERE LR RS (NEFE
payments including interest payments computed FE)ERBEBRRZRITH
using contractual rates or, if floating, based on RHEZFERIE) BB
rates current at the end of the reporting period and NEAREEEL N HE A
the earliest date the Group can be required to pay, T
is as follows:

Contractual undiscounted cash flow
ERAERRENE
More than More than
Within 1year  2yearshut
1year or on but less less than More than Carrying

demand  than 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount
-ERg -F# [E:
BEX EmER BEER Fipchibid @it HEfE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T AL Tin AL AL

At 31 March 2024 R-E-mE

Zhzt-8
Non-cerivative fnancial #7448 EE
liabilities

Other payables EtbERFER
and accruals FEHER 14,45% 912 2770 4167 19,3% 12189
Bank borrowing RORE 4,724 - - - 47 4,682
Lease liabilties HERR 12,387 350 20 - 16,141 15,630
31,567 4,486 29980 4167 70,200 62,501

At 31 March 2025 R-BZRE

ZB=1-H
Non-Gerivative financial — #/744 88
liabilities
Other payables EtoERFER
and accruals EirER 27,199 34,032 30,768
Bark borrowing e 4149 4,149 4118
Convertiole bonds ke 15,725 15,725 15,000
Lease liabiliies fERE 12,087 17,731 16,941

59,160 71,637 66,827

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_ZT_AF=RA=+—HILFE

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(5) Liquidity risk (continued)

35. EXEMBERE (&)
(b) ©REREREBFERBER#)

(5) RBESEMEE)

Bank borrowing with a repayment on demand
clause are included in the “within 1 year or on
demand” time band in the above maturity analysis.
At 31 March 2025, the aggregate carrying amounts
of this bank borrowing amounted to approximately
HK$4,118,000 (2024: HK$4,682,000). Taking
into account the Group’s financial position, the
management does not believe that it is probable
that the banks will exercise their discretionary
rights to demand immediate repayment. The
management believes that such bank borrowing
will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements,
details of which are set out in the table below:

B 75 12 2 K (B B IR SR1T 18
Bt AL EIEAE ST [ —
FANZEXR | BEGEA -
RZE-_RAF=ZA=+—8"
ZRITEEMEMEBEY R
4,118,000 L( = £ Z /Y £ -
4,682,000 70 ) - E B R A&
ERFBHKRR  ERERAR
TR RAIBEATE BB HEE K
EEER - ERERAE  %ZF
IRITIEERBEBEER BT
FIEIERAEEE  FHER
T :

Maturity Analysis — Bank and other borrowings with
a repayment on demand clause based on scheduled

repayments

BB — HERRRERRTNRTREMEE (BN HER)

Within

More than
1year but less
than 2 years
—F#
BmER
HK$'000

T

1 yearoron
demand
—ERE

BEX
HK$'000
T

At 31 March 2024 RZEZmE
ZB=1-H
Bank borrowing BiE 1 121
At 31 March 2025 RZZZEE
ZR=t-H
Bank borrowing BOEE

More than
2 years but
less than

5 years
mER
BRER
HK$'000
TAL

Carrying

Over 5 years Total amount
BENE
HK$'000

Thr

)
HK$'000
TEL

REE
HKS'000

TEL

2163 1742 5347 4,682

BEERYEEHERATF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRKMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BHE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIFE

36.

37.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows
as cash flows from financing activities.

Promissory
note
payables
S
HKS'000
AT
At 1 April 2023 RZZZZFMA-H 201
Changes from financing cash flows HERERERY (251)
New leases entered SUMETAE -
Interest expenses flER® i)
At31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R-Z-REZF=1-R
R=E-WERA-H
Changes from financing cash flows BERL 2R
Issliance of promissory note BTRARE
Issuance of convertible bonds EAuakES
New leases entered STuAETHE
Elimination upon early termination of RS IREANRES
lease contracts
Interest expenses B ER
At 31 March 2025 RZEZRE=A=T-H

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 31
March 2025, the Group had the following significant non-cash
transactions:

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2024

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
acquired certain property, plant and equipment with
the carrying amount of approximately HK$7,962,000
through entering into leasing arrangements with the
counterparties.

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2025

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group
acquired certain property, plant and equipment with
the carrying amount of approximately HK$19,009,000
through entering into leasing arrangements with the
counterparties.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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36. EXEHBMEFHNEEHK

TRAJAREREEDHELNABEES
BREASIFRSEY BRETHELW
BEAREREXARKRERENAEE
FARERERTHEAREIZDELN
REne -

Bank Lease Convertible
borrowing liabilities bonds
fi7fRE HERR AaRES
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T BT

5,000 2,042 - 29533

(466) (15,328) - (18,305)

- 7962 - 7,962

148 954 - 112

4,682 15,630 20,312
(681) (17,018) (17,699)
= = 2,313

= = 9,520

= 18,424 18,424

(946) =
851 5,480 6,521

(946)

16,941 15,000 36,059

37. EXFBRERS
BRZ iR e SRR M I P EE I -
HE-_Z_NMFE=A=+—Bk-_Z2_-H
FZA=1T—HIEFE FTEEBUTE
RIERER S :

(a) BE-—E-NFE=A=+—H
IEFE
BHEZZ-_WNWF=-A=+—HBLF
B AEEFBEZSEFHAIME
B 2 ¥ WU IR TE(E 49 /57,962,000 %
TEVE TR - BB KR -

(b) BZE=2=-HEF=A=+—AH
IEEE
HE-_Z-_AF=ZA=+—HItHF
B AEEBBEISHFHIMNA
B 22 B U BE BR B 49 /2 19,009,000 7
THETYE - BB REE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

38. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR SUBSIDIARIES OF 38. ARREEMBRATIZFHE
THE COMPANY
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the
Company at the end of the reporting period are set out below:

RB|EHR - ARREEREEFHON
BRRIFBEHINT

Place of Attributable equity interest
incorporation/ Issued and
operation fully paid-up capital
SRR/ BEY

and voting power
held by the Company Principal activities
ARRMERIERER AR IBEH
2025 2025 2024
ZECRE CBCRE CEOE
%
At

BRTRAZER

Directly owned subsidiary
ERZRHEAR

Multi Vision Development Limited
Multi Vision Development Limited
Able Glorious Limited

Able Glorious Limited

Peaceful Slccess Enterprises Limited

L &A Management Limited
L &A Management Limited

Indirectly owned subsidiary
BRERMELE

Hong Kong Investor Education
Limited

EEREEHEARAA

Able Rich Management Limited

L & A Group of Companies Limited

AERBARLT

BVIHK
ARRLNE/ R
BVIHK
ARRLNE/ R
BVIHK
ARRLNE/ R
BVIHK

RBRANR/BE

HK/HK

FE/B%

BVIHK
ARRLNE/ R
HKIHK

E/ER

T ordinary share of
US$1 each
1RERIETHEBR

T ordinary share of
US$1 each
1RERIETHEBR
T ordinary share of
US$1 each
1RERIETHEBR
T ordinary share of

USS1 each
TRERI ZTHMLBR

T ordinary share

RERR

T ordinary share of

US$1 each
1RERIETHEBR
38,400,000 orcinary shares

38,400,000 & &R

Investment holding
REER
Investment holding
REER
Investment holding
REER
Investment holding

RARK

Provision of financial quotient
and investment education
COUrses

RUGERREHERE

Investment holding
REER

Manufacturing, sales and
retailing of garment products
REEntE HER
26

BERYEEBERATR 245
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRKMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025

BHE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIFE

38. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)
Place of
incorporation/
operation
RLEAYES 3L

38. AQBRTEMBARZFE @)

Attributable equity interest
and voting power
held by the Company
AARMREERERRT

2025
—ECRE

Issued and
fully paid-up capital
ERTRARER

Principal activities

246

L &A Management Limited BVI/HK T ordinary share of 100 100 Investment holding
US$1each
L & A Management Limited RBRGES/EF  IRERIERMLER 100 10 RERR
Sun Dynamic Group Limited BVI/HK 3,000 ordinary shares of 100 100 Investment holding
US$1each
Sun Dynarmic Group Limited AERLBE/FR  JRERIZETMERR 100 0 §Esk
Maxi Chain Enterprises Limited HK/HK 1,000 orclinary shares 80 80 Provision of private
supplementary
education courses
FEAEERA Eh/BR 1,000 & B 80 80 RELUBHIERE
L & AFood Trading Limited HK/HK 1 ordinary share 100 100 Dormant
L£TRREHERAA Bh/BR 1Rk 100 10 &gk
L&A Solutions Limited HK/HK Tordinary share 100 100 MoneyLending
L& A Solutions Limited Eh/BR 1RERR 100 M e
Freemaker Intitute Limited HK/HK 1,000 orclinary shares 100 100 Provision of financial
Quotient and investment
education courses
ERLEREARAR Bh/BR 1000k E R 100 100 RESEREEAERR
Bewisekid Holding Limited BVIHK 1 ordinary share 100 100 Investment holding
Bewisekid Holding Limited AERANE/ T 1RERR 100 0 RE%K
Be Wise Kid Education Limited HK/HK 10,000 orclinary shares 100 100 Provision of financial
Quotient and investment
education courses
—A-HEERAT Bh/BR 10000 Lk 100 10 RESEREEAERR
Initial Aim Limited BVI/HK T ordinary share of 100 100 Investment holding
US$1each
Iital Aim Limited AERSBE/BE  \RERIETHTER 100 10 #E%E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

38. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR SUBSIDIARIES OF 38. AAREEMBLARZFHE @)
THE COMPANY (Continued)
Place of Attributable equity interest
incorporation/
operation
HRRL/ Y

Issued and
fully paid-up capital
ERTRARER

and voting power
held by the Company Principal activities
AAAFREERERRS IEEH

Prestige Concord Limited

Prestige Concord Limited

YH Group Limited

L7 AEREARAT

YH Education Limited

TTHERRAT
98 SHH Limited
98 SHH Limited

31 Edutech Limited

31 Edutech Limited

KargoStudio Limited

KargoStudio Limited

Bingo Solution Limited

BTREERAA
MPS Dance Limited

MPS Dance Limited

BVI/HK

ERIRE/ B

HK/HK

E/ER

HK/HK

Bh/EA
BVI/HK
ABRAEE/FR

HK/HK

Et/BR

HK/HK

Ek/BR

HK/HK

BE/B%
HKJH

Et/BR

1,000 orcinary shares of
US$1 each
1000REK 1%

150,000 orcinary shares

150,000 £k

Tordinary share

1RERR

1 ordinary share of
US$1 each
RERIETNERR

1,000 orcinary shares

1000 R LR

1,000 ordlinary shares

1000REBR

1,000 orcinary shares

1000 E &R
1,000 ordinary shares

1000 & @k

2025
—ECTE
%

Bak

100

100

Investment holding

Provision of financial
Quotient and investment
education courses

REEREEAERE

Provision of financial
quotient and investment
education courses

REHERREAERE

Investment holding

Provision of financial
quotient and investment
education courses

REHERREAERE

Provision of financial
quotient and investment
education courses

RESHRAEHERE

Provision of financial
Quotient and investment
education courses

REEREEAERE

Operating pole dance
studios
BEWERIEE

BERYEEBERATR 247
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VB HwRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BHE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIFE

38. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)
Place of
incorporation/
operation
RLIEAVES it

Issued and
fully paid-up capital
ERTRARER

Hong Kong Institute of Professional ~ HK/HK 10,000 ordinary shares

Studies Limited
BRARERSRERAA Bh/BA 100005 &R
Brightest Intellects Limited HK/HK Tordinary share
Brightest Intellects Limited BE/EE 1REER
Brightest Brilliance Limited HK/HK 10,000 ordlinary shares
Brightest Brillance Limited BA/E% 10000 A%
Brightest Prospects Limited HK/HK 10,000 orclinary shares
Brightest Prospects Limited BA/E% 10,000 RERR
MIEHHEEAERAT PRC/PRC 400,000 registered capital
MIEFAE#ERAR hEARE/REAR 4400000

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive
length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during
both years and at the end of both years.

Non-controlling interests (“NCI")

As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025, there has no
subsidiaries of the Group which has material non-controlling
interests.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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38. AQBRTEMBARZFE @)

Attributable equity interest
and voting power
held by the Company
EAAFERERERRRE
2025 2024 2024
“ECRE CToME CECQE
% % “

B2t  EA EAM

Principal activities

75 75 75 Provision of financial
quotient and investment
education courses

75 B RENERREHERR
80 80 Provision of private
sUpplementary
education courses
%0 0 RELUEHHEDE
80 80 Provision of private
SUpplementary
education courses
%0 0 RELUEHHEDE
80 80 Provision of private
supplementary
education courses
%0 0 RELUEHHEDE
100 100 Provision of private
supplementary
education courses
10 10 RELUEDHEDE

ERIHEARREERRIBEZELAEHE
EEREBENABEZARBMBRR - &K
RAEFRR RHEMHB AR ZHIB
HEMEFHER TR °

RAEFEANRRREFER - BENE
RABITERERES -

et ([ FEERER )
R-_ZE-_WNFE=A=+—HE-_ZT_HF
ZRA=+—8 AEEBEBEREEENIEE
IR A B AR o



39.

40.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

During the year ended 31 March 2025, for enhancing the
“relevance” on the presentation of the consolidated financial
statements, certain reclassifications have been made to the
comparative figures presented in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of the prior year to achieve comparability
with the current year’s presentation. As a result, the line
item “Impairment losses under expected credit losses, net of
reversal” regarding comparative figures have been combined
with the line item “Other gains and losses, net”.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
reclassification made to the comparative figures has
insignificant impact on the Group’s consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year
ended 31 March 2024.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

On 9 April 2025, subsequent to the end of the reporting
period, the Company allotted and issued a total of 4,081,632
new ordinary shares pursuant to the exercise of conversion
rights attached to convertible bonds previously issued by the
Company. The new shares were issued in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the relevant subscription and
conversion agreements.

On 1 June 2025, subsequent to the end of the reporting period,
the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement with
a third party for the disposal of the entire issued share capital
of Brilliant Ever Global Limited at a total consideration of
approximately HK$10,000,000. The transaction is expected to
be completed 31 August 2025.

39.

40.

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+—RH1LFE

LB EF
REE-Z-_RAF=A=+—HLFERN"
BRASAVHBHRERZ7M [ARBEE] - B
HE —FHRENBEHREAZI L RET
EHETETHE WEREAFEE
BRI Lt o Bt - BRALLEE T [FEEA{E
EEEBTHRERE  MERELR]TEER
o[ H e RESEFE] 1TEE AN -

ARREERE  HEBETHIENER
DEUHE-_T_NMF=A=+—HI1tF
EAEBIRE B R E AR ISR I E
BATE-

HwERHENEER
MNZZ-REMANA - BREHERE
RABMRIBITEARRLEAE T2 A
IREFHFTMA 2 AR - R s RBITA
4,081,632 B8 ¥7 & A% o ¥R TR 5 AR 7
R MBI R R R AR o

RZEBEZRFENA—B - BREHERE -
AEERE=HFIVEERS  AHER
KIRRBR AR Z2HEBITRA - B8R
&%) /410,000,000 7T ° %2 X S BHBERN
—E-RFENAZF—BEK -

BEERYEEHERATF
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
TFEMBHRE

2025 2024 2023 2022
“ECRE —_T_WNF —ZE_=F —T__— ——fF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T THIT FHT T
Continuing and BERCAL
discontinued R
operations
Revenue Ik & 343,162 284,595 237,253 115,088 96,468
Operating profit P wl 55,277 60,466 45,757 34,186 42,866
Profit for the year F g A 39,805 47,111 34,590 26,007 40,425
Financial position B SRR
Assets and liabilities EERAE
Total assets BERE 513,898 434,408 379,598 329,389 353,178
Total liabilities B ERE (82,807) (102,028) (127,180) (117,272) (179,159)
431,091 332,380 252,418 212,117 174,019
Capital and reserves BARfEE
Total equity attributable  AQA&EHEA A
to owners of JE(G 7 %5 42
the Company 427,518 331,339 252,890 213,338 176,758
Non-controlling interests — JE1ZERR 42 3,573 1,041 (472) (1,221) (2,739)
431,091 332,380 252,418 212,117 174,019
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